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Global needs  – Those who wish to take advantage of developments on the international markets must 
recognize demographic change, global trends and local customer wishes early on and always be there to  
offer innovative products where new markets are emerging. No matter where they are in the world, anticipa-
ting our customers‘ needs is both our daily challenge and our goal. You can find out more on this topic star-
ting on page 4.
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b u s i n e s s  D i v i s i o n sK e y  fig   u r e s  o f  t h e  gr  o u p high    l igh   t s  o f  t h e  y e ar   2011 fi  v e -y e ar   fi  n a n cia   l  o v e r v i e w

B u s i n e s s  D i v i s i o n s F i v e - y e a r  f i n a n c i a l  o v e r v i e w

Among the customer industries of our fragrances and flavors are the perfume, cosmetics and food indus-
tries, as well as household products’ suppliers. We are continually growing our activities in the nutrition and 
body-care sectors on the basis of biofunctional and bioactive ingredients.

  Beverages

  Savory

  Sweet

  Consumer Health

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or 
paste form to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct 
tastes. We provide individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from 
the actual aroma, can contain additional functional raw materials, colorants or 
microencapsulated components. With functional natural ingredients, the new 
Consumer Health application area caters to the functional food supplement and 
pharmaceutical preparation markets.

  Fine Fragrances

  Personal Care

  Household

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) 
by combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s 
perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products 
(hair care products, washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household 
products (washing and cleaning products).

Oral Care Symrise offers the entire range of mint flavors and intermediate 
products for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

  Cosmetic Ingredients

  Active Ingredients

  Functionals

  Botanicals

  UV-Filter

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in 
skin care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, 
shower gels, washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. The 
unique feature of Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional 
body care products and plant-based bioactive ingredients.

  Sensates (Menthols)

  �Special Fragrance &

Flavor Ingredients

  Fine Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, 
are used in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care 
products, chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemi-
cals (intermediate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils 
and sells them to customers who use them in their perfume oils.
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Group Sales 2011 according to regions ( in %)

48.7 % 	 Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

Asia/Pacific	 22.1 %

Latin America	 12.1 %

North America	 17.1 %

K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u p

€ million 2010 2011
change in % 

 
change in % 

at local currency

Sales� 1,571.9 1,583.6 0.7 2.0

EBITDA� 331.2 315.9 -5 -4

EBITDA margin� in % 21.1 20.0   

EBIT� 244.4 234.4 -4 -3 

EBIT margin� in % 15.5 14.8   

Net income�  133.5 146.5  10  

Earnings per share� in € 1.13 1.24 10  

Dividend per share� in € 0.60 0.622 3  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31)� 2,059.0 2,098.2 2  

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 40.9 43.5   

Investments� 70.5 67.3   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/  
EBITDA (as of December 31)� ratio 2.2 2.2   

Operating cash flow� 235.1 200.9 -15  

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1 5,288 5,434 3  

     

Scent & Care�     

Sales� 804.5 801.4 -0.4 1.0

EBITDA � 160.8 157.6 -2 -1 

EBITDA margin� in % 20.0 19.7   

     

Flavor & Nutrition�     

Sales�  767.4  782.2  1.9 3.1

EBITDA�  170.4  158.3  -7  -6

EBITDA margin� in %  22.2  20.2   
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

€ million 2007 2008  2009 2010 2011  

Group – Results of operations      

Sales� 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9 1,583.6

Share of sales in emerging markets� in % 39 40 41 46 46

EBITDA� 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2 315.9 

EBITDA margin� in % 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1 20.0

Net income� 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5 146.5

Earnings per share� in € 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13 1.24

Dividends paid� 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.9 73.32

Dividend per share� in € 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.622

      

Group – Financial position/net assets�      

Operating cash flow� 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1 200.9

Investments�  40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5 67.3 

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0 2,098.2 

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9 43.5

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 
(as of December 31)� 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7 703.2

       

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1) 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288 5,434

      

Scent & Care�      

Sales�  671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5 801.4

EBITDA�  134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8 157.6

EBITDA margin� in %  20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0 19.7

      

Flavor & Nutrition�      

Sales� 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4 782.2

EBITDA�  137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4 158.3

EBITDA margin� in %  22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2 20.2
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal
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Fl avor & Nutrit ion

scent & care

09/10

September 1 Symrise fully converts to 
nature-identical bisabolol in its production of 
the skin-soothing substance. This reduces 
exploitative deforestation in the Brazilian rain 
forest, where the natural substance is har-
vested from the rare candeia tree.

September 14 Symrise founds a Scientific 
Advisory Board for the Fragrances and Oral 
Care application areas. The Scientific Advisory 
Board consists of an internationally renowned 
team of scientists and supports Symrise in 
applying cutting edge advancements towards 
innovative fragrances and oral care products.

October 20 Symrise expands its online portal 
SymSelect® to include a platform for its Life 
Essentials products. With the new database, 
customers can research the cosmetic ingre-
dients offered by Symrise via the internet.

12
December 2 Topping-out ceremony for the 
new research center in Holzminden. Symrise 
brings its research activities at the site toge-
ther under one roof, expands its research 
capabilities and creates new synergies in 
research and development.  

December 6 At the ESOMAR Qualitative 
2011 Conference in Vienna, Symrise receives 
the prize for the best presentation on consu-
mer research.  

02

 
February 23 With the opening of a new plant 
for producing flavors and the market launch  
of the EVODRY™ encapsulation technology, 
Symrise completes the third stage of expansi-
on at its Singapore site. This investment under- 
scores Symrise’s long-term commitment to 
Singapore and Asia.

04

 
April 5 Symrise celebrates the 100-year 
anniversary of its Braunschweig site, where 
basic materials for the beverage industry are 
manufactured, and plans further investments 
to expand the site.

April 13 With Actiplants®, the newly created 
umbrella brand for functional botanical 
extracts, Symrise further expands its experti-
se in the area of Health & Nutrition. Bioactive 
ingredients help strengthen the cardiovascu-
lar and immune systems, for instance. 

05

May 11 The American Society of Perfumers 
recognizes Symrise with five Perfumers’ Choice 
Awards, including Best Women’s Classic Fine 
Fragrance and Best Bath & Body Fragrance.

06
June 14 Symrise receives two of the highly 
coveted BSB Awards, which are bestowed by 
an international panel of judges selected from 
among the cosmetics industry. SymFinity®

1298 received first prize for its impressive 
anti-aging properties. A second prize went to 
SymPeptide®226EL for its lengthening effect 
on eyelashes.

June 29 In Rogovo, Russia near Moscow, 
Symrise opens a new production site and 
therefore becomes the first global fragrance 
and flavor manufacturer that produces locally 
for this expanding market. 
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Among the customer industries of our fragrances and flavors are the perfume, cosmetics and food indus-
tries, as well as household products’ suppliers. We are continually growing our activities in the nutrition and 
body-care sectors on the basis of biofunctional and bioactive ingredients.

  Beverages

  Savory

  Sweet

  Consumer Health

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or 
paste form to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct 
tastes. We provide individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from 
the actual aroma, can contain additional functional raw materials, colorants or 
microencapsulated components. With functional natural ingredients, the new 
Consumer Health application area caters to the functional food supplement and 
pharmaceutical preparation markets.

  Fine Fragrances

  Personal Care

  Household

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) 
by combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s 
perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products 
(hair care products, washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household 
products (washing and cleaning products).

Oral Care Symrise offers the entire range of mint flavors and intermediate 
products for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

  Cosmetic Ingredients

  Active Ingredients

  Functionals

  Botanicals

  UV-Filter

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in 
skin care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, 
shower gels, washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. The 
unique feature of Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional 
body care products and plant-based bioactive ingredients.

  Sensates (Menthols)

  �Special Fragrance &

Flavor Ingredients

  Fine Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, 
are used in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care 
products, chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemi-
cals (intermediate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils 
and sells them to customers who use them in their perfume oils.
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EBITDA� 331.2 315.9 -5 -4
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EBIT� 244.4 234.4 -4 -3 

EBIT margin� in % 15.5 14.8   

Net income�  133.5 146.5  10  

Earnings per share� in € 1.13 1.24 10  

Dividend per share� in € 0.60 0.622 3  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31)� 2,059.0 2,098.2 2  
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Operating cash flow� 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1 200.9
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(as of December 31)� 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7 703.2

       

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1) 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288 5,434
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Sales�  671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5 801.4

EBITDA�  134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8 157.6

EBITDA margin� in %  20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0 19.7
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Sales� 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4 782.2
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nature-identical bisabolol in its production of 
the skin-soothing substance. This reduces 
exploitative deforestation in the Brazilian rain 
forest, where the natural substance is har-
vested from the rare candeia tree.

September 14 Symrise founds a Scientific 
Advisory Board for the Fragrances and Oral 
Care application areas. The Scientific Advisory 
Board consists of an internationally renowned 
team of scientists and supports Symrise in 
applying cutting edge advancements towards 
innovative fragrances and oral care products.

October 20 Symrise expands its online portal 
SymSelect® to include a platform for its Life 
Essentials products. With the new database, 
customers can research the cosmetic ingre-
dients offered by Symrise via the internet.

12
December 2 Topping-out ceremony for the 
new research center in Holzminden. Symrise 
brings its research activities at the site toge-
ther under one roof, expands its research 
capabilities and creates new synergies in 
research and development.  
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the prize for the best presentation on consu-
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for producing flavors and the market launch  
of the EVODRY™ encapsulation technology, 
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Singapore and Asia.

04

 
April 5 Symrise celebrates the 100-year 
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basic materials for the beverage industry are 
manufactured, and plans further investments 
to expand the site.
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1298 received first prize for its impressive 
anti-aging properties. A second prize went to 
SymPeptide®226EL for its lengthening effect 
on eyelashes.

June 29 In Rogovo, Russia near Moscow, 
Symrise opens a new production site and 
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Global needs  – Those who wish to take advantage of developments on the international markets must 
recognize demographic change, global trends and local customer wishes early on and always be there to  
offer innovative products where new markets are emerging. No matter where they are in the world, anticipa-
ting our customers‘ needs is both our daily challenge and our goal. You can find out more on this topic star-
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Symrise is one of the world’s leading providers of  
fragrances and flavors and of basic ingredients and  
active agents for the perfume, cosmetics, pharma-
ceutical, food, and beverages industries. We are al-
ready thinking today about the consumer trends of  
tomorrow and the day after – in order to strengthen 
the position of our customers’ brands by supplying  
innovative ideas and product concepts. The needs of 
consumers are changing, in both established and 
emerging markets. Symrise knows the consumers’ 
wishes in the respective product categories and mar-
kets around the world. This is our recipe for consis-
tently being among the most profitable companies in 
the industry. 

global needs
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4

Changing Markets
The growth centers of the world economy are shifting to the 

developing and emerging market countries where a new middle 

class with increasing buying power is being created. Our world 

map shows the significant changes in the share of global eco -

nomic output. The worldwide popul ation continues to grow, 

and the average age is increasing as well. These changing mar-

kets translate into growth potential for Symrise. You can read 

about this potential on the pages that follow.

3.01 %2.42 %

20302010

Brazil

20302010

North America

24.69 %28.77 %

7.61 %6.53 %

20302010

Latin America
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Share of world economic output in %  
(calculated on the basis of prices from 2005)

20302010

Europe

22.73 %30.07 % 20302010

Asia

34.16 %24.71 %

20302010

china

16.64 %7.47 %

4.90 %2.27 %

20302010

india

2.93 %2.40 %

20302010

Africa

20302010

Russia

1.87 % 1.88 %
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6

The world is changing 

– economically, socially and politically. In just a few decades, 

the lion’s share of global economic output will be generated 

in today’s developing and emerging markets. By 2030, the 

global population’s middle-class will increase by nearly 2 bil-

lion, especially in these emerging markets. By 2050, two-

thirds of the 30 largest economies will no longer come from 

the established industrialized nations of today. China, India, 

Brazil, Mexico, Turkey, South Korea and Russia will be am-

ong the top 15 global economies by then. People from emerg-

ing market countries will in large part dictate global con-

sumer trends and product innovations in the future. Sucess- 

fully operating companies in the perfume, cosmetics and 

food industry, providers of household products as well as the 

leading suppliers and partners of these global actors, such as 

Symrise, are adjusting their corporate strategies accordingly. 

The annual real growth of the global economy, which 

amounted to about 2 % in the first decade of the new millen-

nium, will accelerate towards 3 % over the coming decades 

leading up to 2050. The emerging economies will contribute 

twice as much to this expansion as the established industri-

alized nations. One cause for this can be found in the fact 

that the largest and most dynamic economies are only find-

ing themselves at the start of their race to catch up now. In 

2010, the per capita income in China amounted to only 6.6 % 

of the average US citizen’s income. Despite a multiplication 

of the income, Mr Chang will earn only 31.5 % of the income 

of Mr Smith by 2050. In India, per capita income will rise 

from 2.2 % to 9.2 % of the American level in the same period. 

Such growth is likely to continue beyond 2050. The areas of 

food and nutrition as well as cosmetics and personal care 

will be the first to benefit from living standards rising above 

the existential minimum. Growth in these areas will be dis-

proportionate if the past is any indication. A further positive  

effect for these industries will arise from the increasing ur-

banization of the global population. The number of city 

dwellers will double from 3 billion today to 6 billion by 2050. 

In addition, the number of women in employment will in-

crease thanks to broader educational opportunities. The 

number of middle class families with two incomes will in-

crease substantially in the emerging markets. This will  

drive demand for products that allow quick and convenient 

meal preparation for example or which make day-to-day 

household chores easier.

Growth and increasing prosperity are just one side of the coin 

however. Will our planet still have the natural resources 

needed for the global economic output to triple by 2050? The 

largest challenges will be posed by the availability of water, 

the limitation of arable land and climate change. By 2030, 

3.9 billion people will live in regions with water shortages. 

By 2050, we will need to produce 70 % more food to feed the 

world’s population of nearly 9 billion people. Further compli-

cating things is the fact that harvest increases have tapered 

off over the past few decades and the prices for agricultural 

products on the world markets rose considerably in 2010 and 

2011. This is also a reason why the number of undernour-

ished and starving people on our planet continues to hover 

around the 1 billion mark despite numerous efforts to lower 

this figure. The goal of the World Food Summit in 1996 was 

to halve the number of people suffering from hunger to 400 

million by 2015. Consumers in rich industrialized nations 

are increasingly prepared to buy products manufactured in  

a sustainable manner; they are even demanding them. This 

trend will only grow stronger in the coming years accompa-

nied by corresponding laws and regulatory measures. 
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20105,854 US$

2020

Per capita income in China ( in US$, at constant prices)

11,458 US$

2030

These ideas have yet to take hold in the emerging markets 

how–ever. But with increasing income and education levels, 

this is bound to change. Many companies are stepping up 

to these demands and are implementing them across the 

various links in the value creation chain, motivated by eco-

nomic self-interest and a desire to protect their reputation as 

well as live up to their social responsibilities. Proactive and 

future-oriented companies recognize the opportunities that 

sustainable business offers. 

The markets of the future will also be characterized by an-

other megatrend: health and well-being. Across every age 

group, awareness and a desire for healthy living is steadily 

increasing. People want to be physically and mentally fit – 

and they want to stay that way. Global demographic develop-

ments are also playing a large role here. In the past 50 years, 

average life expectancy has risen by about 20 years to a 70 

year lifespan. At the same time, the birth rate in many coun-

tries is at an all-time low. The global population is growing 

older – and not just in industrialized nations, but in the ma-

jor emerging markets as well. In China, for example, the per-

centage of under-20s in the entire population will drop from 

46 % in 1980 to 20 % in 2020, while by 2050 30 % of the Chi-

nese population will be 60 or older. But older people have 

never been as young as they are today, and have never want-

ed to stay so young more than they do today. That is why the 

market for products that help maintain health and a youthful 

appearance is booming. The global market for anti-aging 

products will reach an estimated volume of about US$ 275 

billion in 2013 after amounting to just US$ 160 billion in 

2010. The trend towards more healthy eating habits however 

is not solely being supported by an aging population. There 

are more than 1 billion people worldwide who are overweight 

and at least 300 million of them are obese. By 2015, these 

groups will grow to reach 2.3 billion and 700 million respec-

tively. This development is also driven by the changing eat-

ing habits of the new middle class in the emerging markets. 

With rising incomes, the amount of meat, fish and milk prod-

ucts consumed increases along with fat and sugar. In China, 

100 to 120 million people are already significantly over-

weight with children accounting for half of this figure. For 

this reason, there is a large and quickly growing demand for 

tasty products – with reduced fat and sugar content.

The global markets are in a period of change – and not just 

in view of the size and growth of individual country markets 

but also the consumption habits and preferences of end cus-

tomers. Companies with an ear to the market, who recognize 

these changes early on, or even anticipate them, will gain a 

competitive advantage and additional growth potential.

2,807 US$
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Interne t + E thnogr aphy = Ne tnogr aphy  

Insights ® 

As one of the world’s leading fragrance and flavor providers, 

Symrise is a partner and preferred supplier of many well-

known consumer goods brands – from pudding to household 

cleaners. Our success is rooted in the exact recognition of 

consumer desires and needs in the respective product cate-

gories and markets around the world. From current trends, 

we develop innovative flavoring solutions and aroma con-

cepts that strengthen the position of our customers’ brands. 

The pressure to innovate is high and lead times for new pro-

duct ideas can take several months, sometimes even years, 

meaning that failures must be recognized at an early stage 

in the innovative process. But how do you generate signifi-

cant consumer insights for a variety of brands in very di-

verse markets? The qualitative analysis of consumer commu-

nication in online communities has proven an especially 

expedient and efficient method: observing and listening in-

stead of measuring, counting and weighing. By collecting 

and systematically analyzing the opinions shared on the in-

ternet, we gain a deep and unfiltered insight into explicitly 

formulated and even unspoken desires, needs, experiences, 

motivations, attitudes and perceptions of consumers in re-

gards to products and brands – that’s Netnography Insights®.

In innumerable forums, involved customers, opinion shapers 

and innovators discuss new product ideas that send signals 

for new trends and needs that will drive end consumers in a 

few years’ time.

One example: Healthy eating. With the marketing platform 

Taste for Life®, Symrise has increasingly aligned its flavor-

ing solutions to the brand strategies and customer needs re-

garding healthy eating over the past few years. It’s true that 

the media is covering such topics as sugar, salt, obesity and 

questions on healthy eating practices in depth. But are these 

really the main interests of consumers when it comes to hav-

ing a healthy diet? By observing and analyzing 16 communi-

ties and blogs in German and English over a period of many 

weeks, for example in the areas of eating & cooking, health & 

fitness and parents & children, clear trends of both positive 

and negative topic clusters could be traced where consumers 

were actively engaged in discussions. This led to the identifi-

cation of six significant consumer insight platforms that are 

being conceptually applied to various customer brands. They 

are anchored around naturalness and credibility, authentic 

flavor, flavor enhancement and calorie reduction. For us, sys-

tematic listening to consumers is a source of unlimited inno-

vative ideas. 
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Interne t + E thnogr aphy = Ne tnogr aphy Insights ®

Urban subcultures 
trendscouting

foreign cultures 
Ethnography

modern consumer tribes 
netnography
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Questions for 
3 E xperts in International  

Consumer Rese arch

Dan Foreman, CEO – Insight International ,  UK

For many years now, Dan Foreman has worked for market  

research and advertising agencies in both marketing con-

sulting as well as on the corporate side. His business radius 

covers Europe, Asia and North America. The psychology and 

mathematics graduate has been a member of ESOMAR, the 

European Society for Opinion and Market Research, since 

2005. As a recognized expert in the field, Dan Foreman has 

written numerous specialist publications over the years.

What developments do you expect on the global markets 
in the coming years?
“Consumers expect even greater diversity, with fragrances 

and flavors that correspond to their exact preferences. Indi-

vidual personality is increasingly moving into the spotlight. 

At the same time, consolidation on the part of brand manu-

facturers continues: Providers are becoming larger and in-

creasingly international. The Chinese market remains the 

main driver of growth while countries in Southeast Asia  

and Latin America are also making more of an impact. Eco-

nomies of scale in production will bring greater cost reduc-

tions. The real trick will be in giving the consumer the im-

pression of an individualized, personal product. This further 

underscores the importance of the brand as a point of refer-

ence for consumers.”

3
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Joseph Staton, Director – GfK Roper Consul-

t ing ,  London and Ne w York

Roper Consulting, the leading unit for consumer research in 

the GfK Group, has been active in 25 national markets around 

the world for 15 years. Joseph Staton, who has worked at Rop-

er since 2010, previously worked for a series of companies in 

the fields of strategic planning, innovation and brand manage-

ment. His passion lies not just in researching the consumer 

trends of today, but what they will be in the future.

What challenges or opportunities do you see coming for 
consumers around the world?r

“All consumers have to make purchasing decisions on a daily 

basis. We see two different developments depending on what 

economic environment the consumer lives in. The majority  

of consumers in the developed markets of industrialized na-

tions are very price-conscious in all product categories and 

at every level of quality. This is a reaction to protect their 

standard of living in light of the current economic tensions. 

The challenge, as well as the opportunity, for individual 

brands exists in expressing their economical benefits and 

value while also conveying enjoyment, happiness and new 

flavor or scent impressions. In the dynamically growing em-

erging markets on the other hand, the middle-class that is 

currently forming there places a high value on new brands 

and expressions that highlight their status and success. 

Bringing the quickly changing demands and desires into 

harmony with traditional values and cultural norms is key 

here. A new phenomenon is also spreading across these re-

gions: a lack of time. Consumers that are constantly racing 

from one task to the next require efficient and highly effec-

tive convenience products, from drinks and snacks-to-go to 

time-saving washing and cleaning products.”

Massimo Ce alti ,  V ice President Consumer and 

Marke t Insights – Symrise ,  Paris

Massimo Cealti has over 20 years of experience in market  

research, both as research director and a user of research re-

sults at globally active companies in the consumer goods  

industry. At Symrise, he incorporates his market knowledge 

into cooperations with customer companies by highlighting 

consumer needs and desires during product development.

How does Symrise use the knowledge it gains from  
consumer research?r

“For years, Symrise has been using various consumer re-

search techniques – often based on complex quantitative 

methods. They provide good insights into which scents or  

flavors consumers from a particular country will favor in  

the future. We use this information to support product in- 

novations with our customers. The trend towards individu-

al, personalized products opens additional opportunities for 

Symrise, with its ability to engage end customers through 

unique elements, establish brand relationships and captivate 

users’ senses.”

SYM_Image_Englisch_120307.indd   11 07.03.12   17:06



12

2011 trend pl atforms and their e xpressions

me & my health
Taking the best from nature and technology
Optimize life and longevity

me & the others
Social distinction
New games of seduction & connection

me & my senses
Re-Genderisation
Explore ones inner self

Vitality

gorgeous life

selfsorial

Predicting Future Trends

Under the name NEXT (+), Symrise has developed an analy-

sis model with which future global and local trends in four 

regions can be simultaneously ascertained. NEXT (+) was in-

troduced three years ago and determines changes in con-

sumer habits and preferences by surveying 4,000 consumers 

in ten countries annually. With these surveys, we can quan-

tify trends and develop estimates on market growth as well 

as the inter-relation between various regions in addition to 

country-specific trends.

What are the most important social trends? And how are 

they impacting lifestyle? How are they influencing the gen-

eral ideals of beauty and the perception of fragrances and 

perfumes? The knowledge gained drives our creativity, in-

spires our perfumers and builds a foundation for research 

and development that is tailored to the needs of our cus-

tomers.

Symrise has developed three different trend platforms under 

the names of “VITALITY”, “GORGEOUS LIFE” and “SELFSO-

RIAL” in the Scent & Care division based on the analyses 

from NEXT (+). The VITALITY platform describes people that 

see the topic of “me & my health” as especially important. 

Here, the main idea surrounds taking the best from nature, 

science and technology to create the best possible life and at-

tain an optimal quality of life. VITALITY combines attributes 

such as naturalness, energy, beauty and youthfulness with 

characteristics such as expertise, self-confidence, self-con-

trol and self-perception. The category GORGEOUS LIFE has 

the slogan “me & the others” and describes people that  

like to stand out in their social environment and have unique 

paths that they want to take in their social relationships. A 

characteristic description of this group centers on the need 

for recognition and a willingness to push one’s self above 

and beyond the average. Based on the principle of less is 

more, the individual personality is highlighted through aes-

thetic and selective luxury. The self-perception in this group 

is: Select luxury makes me gorgeous and attractive. Finally, 

SELFSORIAL describes the open-minded type that on the 

one hand want to experience the world with all of their sens-

es and yet want to discover themselves on the other. Here  

the embodiment of this personality type into a correspond-

ing product and brand environment serves to underscore 

their own attributes and enhances their personal awareness.
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Who e ats how much? 

( the l argest marke ts for foodstuffs ,  in € b ill ion)

Worldwide Consumer Figures

in the ye ar 2010

in the ye ar 2014

761

529

China

in the ye ar 2014

745

638
in the ye ar 2010

USA

spent on anti - aging facial care 

products per woman in Germany

Annual grow th in demand from 2010 to 2015

Worldwide incre ase in consumers in  

middle income br acke t 2010 – 2020 p. a .

180 €

Per capita income in de veloping countries in 2010/2030 

( in US$ at constant pr ices)

/8,3053,096

Make - up in Br a zil

+ 12.5 %
Hair care products in India

+ 9.8 %

Re ady- me als in China

+ 6.0 %

Where do the most people l ive?

562,579,779China 1950

The world's l argest national economies

USA
China USA India

Japan Germany1970

2050

1,347,563,4982010

369,880,000India 1950 1,184,090,4902010 mill ion+ 70
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Those looking to recognize future needs, desires and expectations early on need to  

listen and observe closely. Those seeking to create unique products need to be ready  

to try new strategies.

Symrise’s success is rooted in the exact recognition of consumer desires and needs 

in the most diverse product categories around the world. But we aren’t taking this 

as an excuse to rest on our laurels. We are always exploring new territory in the 

world of fragrances and flavors to be able to offer our customers new concepts and 

creations. The most recent scent expedition led us to Tasmania – literally to the 

ends of the earth. Our idea: a search for the purest air on earth.

An Ear to the Market and  
a Nose for the Wind
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Cape Grim at the northwest corner of Tasmania is home to the clean-
est air in the world according to scientific research. The strong 

winds that hit this coast have traveled 16,000 kilometers across the 
Indian Ocean without traversing over any large land areas.
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Scent expeditions are an important part of the training and edu-
cation offered at Symrise’s Perfumers’ Academy. The team brought  
a wealth of previously unknown scent impressions and profiles 
back from their trip to Tasmania, which will be used to create new 
fragrance concepts for Fine Fragrances and Home Care and in - 
troduced to our customers.
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One of the oldest and most undisturbed plant ecosystems on  
the planet is found in the Tarkine rainforest. Fragrances from  

indigenous plants such as Pink Leatherwood or the wood of  
the extremely rare Huon pine are among the newly expanded  

repertoire of Symrise’s perfumers.
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The American Flavor & Nutrition Marketing team employs modern 
trend and consumer research methods. We work with our own tools, 
which have helped us become one of the leading companies in the 
area of consumer insights in the flavors & fragrances industry.
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One of these tools is the “Flavor Designers Club” founded by  
the American Marketing team. Here, 800 consumers from across the 

US discuss new flavors and concepts in an online community. We 
then implement this knowledge in select customer projects in posi -

tioning brands and new flavors.
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The Symrise Scent & Care creative center is located in Shanghai’s  
“Red Town”. Housed in a former steel factory, the space offers  
Symrise employees and customers room for creative inspiration. 
This is where we combine market and consumer trends and create 
new fragrance compositions in an interactive atmosphere and 
where our marketing and market research teams develop new ideas.
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Inspiring fragrance compositions are developed in an inspiring  
work environment ― in constant exchange with colleagues, 

customers and consumers. The “Red Town” has comprehensive  
market research capacities such as test booths for sensory  

perception, a hair salon and exhibition space for trend and pro - 
duct presentations. In our example, perfumer Smile Gao tests  

the scent of a shampoo on a strand of hair.
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In the fiscal year 2011, Symrise once again performed at a high level. We headed into 
the year with the expectation that the market would normalize after an extraordinarily 
strong 2010 and that we would return to moderate growth rates. We set ourselves the 
goals of remaining among the most profitable companies in the industry, achieving an 
increase in sales of 3 to 5 percent and maintaining the ratio of net debt to EBITDA 
between 2 and 2.5. I am certain you would like to know how we did. We met two of the 
goals we set at the start of 2011. We kept our profitability at an industry-leading level 
and generated an EBITDA margin of 20 percent. This makes Symrise one of the leading 
global suppliers in our industry. Debt, measured as the ratio of net debt including pen-
sion provisions to EBITDA, wound up with a value of 2.2 – well within our targeted cor-
ridor. Unfortunately, our original expectations regarding sales growth proved to be a bit 
too optimistic as the global economy experienced a slowdown. In addition, we made a 
conscious decision to forgo less profitable orders in view of market uncertainties and vo-
latile raw materials costs. As a result, we adjusted our sales forecast over the course of 
the year, predicting growth of between 2 and 3 percent at local currency.  
 
After a good first quarter, the following months were characterized by high economic 
uncertainty and a steady slowing of the global economy. This was due in part to regio-
nal developments, such as the earthquake and natural catastrophe in Japan as well as 
political unrest in the Arab world. On the other hand, the high sovereign debt of indivi-
dual European countries and the US resulted in increasing anxiety on the capital mar-
kets, further dampening the global economy. 
 
Symrise’s mission is to create value – both for the company itself as well as for all of its 
stakeholders. Growth is an important factor for our success, but it isn’t the be-all and 
end-all. Instead, our focus is much more on securing a sustainable and successful corpo-
rate development by expanding our global presence, strengthening our competitive po-
sition and increasing our profitability. Another important factor is the further optimiza-
tion of our procurement of raw materials. Raw materials comprise an important com- 
ponent of our business and it is imperative that we have access to a sufficient amount at 
best quality. One long-standing measure in this regard is our successful backwards in-
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tegration with which we secure our access to strategic raw materials such as menthol, 
vanilla, onions and citrus. With these initiatives, we ensure a sustainable and respon-
sible procurement of these goods while reducing our dependency on the raw materials 
markets. 
 
For 2011, we generated sales of € 1.58 billion, which amounts to a 2 percent increase at 
local currency. We were also able to maintain our excellent profitability and increase net 
income by 10 percent. With these positive developments in view, the Executive and Su-
pervisory Boards will propose a dividend of € 0.62 per share for the 2011 fiscal year at 
the Annual General Meeting. This corresponds to a dividend increase of 3 percent com-
pared to the previous year.  
 
Our activities with major customers and in the Emerging Markets also showed positive 
development in 2011. We once again secured new core list positions with large, interna-
tionally active consumer goods and food manufacturers. We also managed to achieve 
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“�We have an effective strategy, are globally positioned, have a high level of innovative ability 
and therefore have an excellent basis for successfully continuing our growth course over the 
long term.” Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, Chief Executive Officer of Symrise AG

above-average growth in our business with these strategically important customers in 
both divisions. Scent & Care increased sales from activities with key accounts by 6 per-
cent and our Flavor & Nutrition division did even better, generating growth of 8 percent. 
Across the Group, we increased sales in business with global customers by 7 percent 
and this customer group accounted for nearly a third of total sales. We also expanded 
our business in the Emerging Markets. For example, our site in Singapore has been  
operating the new EVODRY system for encapsulation technology since February. It is 
part of a comprehensive 40 million Singapore dollar investment program with which  
we are expanding our Singapore site to better serve the dynamic Asian markets. Our 
site that opened in Moscow last year is now also fully operational and is acting as a  
central site for development, sales and supply in the Russian market as well as in the 
CIS countries. 
 
The title of our annual report for 2011 is GLOBAL NEEDS. The global markets find them-
selves in a season of change. The centers of growth are shifting to new locations. The 
world’s population is constantly increasing and growing ever older. These megatrends 
offer Symrise enormous growth potential over the long-term, and we aim to leverage 
this with our innovative abilities. We are constantly on the lookout for products that sa-
tisfy new trends, improve existing offers or provide new benefits to consumers. The  
basis for our innovative abilities is rooted in creativity and knowledge. We promote both 
through a variety of measures. One of these measures was a scent expedition with our 
perfumers to Tasmania, which allowed them to research climatic conditions and region-
ally specific plants and herbs. This and a number of other exciting initiatives are cov-
ered throughout this report. 
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Dear shareholders and friends of the company, Symrise had an eventful 2011. We man-
aged to successfully navigate the year’s economic challenges with sound results. I would 
therefore like to thank our employees for the commitment and vigor they showed this 
past year.  
 
In this current fiscal year, we move forward with optimism in addition to a good dose of 
caution. We continue to see great potential in both the Emerging Markets and industria-
lized nations. At the same time, the international debt crisis remains unsolved, economic 
uncertainty continues to persist and the volatility of raw materials prices has yet to sub- 
side. These factors put a damper on our outlook and make reliable forecasts for the com-
ing year difficult. However, we remain steadfast in our desire to be among the most pro-
fitable companies in our industry. Assuming that raw materials prices and exchange rates 
follow a similar course to last year’s developments, we are aiming for an EBITDA mar-
gin of about 20 percent for the year. We have an effective strategy, are globally positioned, 
have a high level of innovative ability and therefore have an excellent basis for success-
fully continuing our growth course over the long term.  
 
I would like to thank you in the name of all of my Executive Board colleagues for your 
trust and support through the past year and look forward to sharing a successful 2012 
with you. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 
Chief Executive Officer
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Hans Holger Glie we
Head of Flavor & Nutrition 

• Member of the Executive Board since November 2009 

• Appointed until 2015 

• Born 1959

Bernd Hirsch
Chief Financial Officer

 

• Member of the Executive Board since December 2009 

• Appointed until 2015 

• Born 1970
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Achim Daub
Head of Scent & Care

 

• Member of the Executive Board since November 2006 

• Appointed until 2013 

• Born 1962

The Executive Board

Dr . Heinz- Jürgen Bertr am

Chairman of the Executive Board and  

Labor Director since July 2009

• Member of the Executive Board since November 2006

• Appointed until 2017

• Born 1958
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40 % 
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The market for personal care products for men, which grew  
by nearly 40 % in 2010, is the fastest growing segment of the 

personal care market in China. An increasing number of Chinese  
men place high value on a groomed appearance and appreciate  

a broad range of products.

China 
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china

9.5 %
The amount of growth the Chinese market for  
fragrances will see per year between 2011 and 2015

167 million
Chinese people who will be 65 or older in 2030

4.1
The per capita income of the Chinese population will  
grow by a factor of 4.1 between 2010 and 2030

More than 1.3 billion consumers live in China with various needs and desires as well as  

varying levels of purchasing power. The middle class is rapidly growing and is developing  

special product preferences: from powder to liquid detergent, from soap to showergel 

and the list goes on.

24,617
US$ billion – Chinas national product by 
2050 as the worlds largest national economy

SYM_Image_Englisch_120307.indd   30 07.03.12   17:07



31

“�Consumer research in China comprises a large spec-
trum of activities ranging from long running programs 
that analyze the development of consumer behavior 
to customized studies for individual customer compa-
nies. The knowledge gained from consumer research 
is extremely important for developing the best fra-
grance compositions and comprehensive marketing 
concepts for each project.”
David Silverman, Beaut y Care Marketing Director Asia/Pacific, Shanghai
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St a b i l i t y  a n d  G r o wt  h

Our Mission

Symrise is recognized worldwide as a leading provider of fra-

grances and flavors and of basic ingredients and active agents for 

the perfume, cosmetics, pharmaceutical, food and beverages in-

dustries. We combine our knowledge of consumers’ ever-changing 

needs with creativity and ground-breaking technologies. In doing 

so, we concentrate on the development of solutions that provide our 

customers with added value. We strive to ensure sustained value 

creation and allow our employees and shareholders to participate 

in the Company’s success.

Our Long -term Goals

Symrise has set itself the goal of consistently being among the in-

dustry’s most profitable companies. We aim to achieve a sustain-

able EBITDA margin of around 20 %. We look to accomplish this 

goal by increasing sales, optimizing the product mix and constant-

ly improving our processes. Over the long-term, our sales are in-

tended to grow at a stronger pace than average market volumes. 

This means that Symrise will be increasing its market share and 

expanding its lead over competitors. But we do not subscribe to the 

idea of growth for growth’s sake. From time to time, we will pass 

on a business opportunity if it does not meet our profitability re-

quirements. Symrise is the market leader in numerous areas and 

possesses a unique portfolio of innovative solutions for the specific 

needs of its customers. We want to further secure and expand this 

position. In other areas, we use our strengths and new products to 

tap into new market segments and take advantage of growth poten-

tials that result from consumers’ changing needs and preferences. 

We optimize our product mix to maximize capacities for products 

with strong margins. A solid financial position acts as the founda-

tion for our operating activities. The ratio of net debt (including 

pension provisions) to EBITDA is targeted at between 2.0 and 2.5. 

Occasionally we may exceed this range for a short time following  

a strategic acquisition. A consistently high cash flow from operat-

ing activities underscores the financial stability of the Company.

A Str ategy Based on Three Pill ars

Our strategy is based on the three pillars of growth, efficiency and 

portfolio.

Growth: We achieve our growth goals

	� with global and fast growing customers

	� in new markets

	� through innovations

We want to continue to increase our portion of sales generated with 

rapidly expanding, and therefore strategically important, interna-

tional customers. Our core competencies, such as Citrus, Vanilla or 

Mint, are specifically targeted at our customers’ main markets. 

There are few providers that are equipped as Symrise is with the 

ability to meet major customers’ demand for the highest quality re-

liably produced in high volumes around the world. We expect our 

top ten international customers to continue to grow considerably in 

the future, and we want to participate in this expansion. As one  

of the major suppliers in the industry, Symrise also maintains close 

and multi-faceted business relationships with regional and local 

customers. Such relationships, which have often developed over 

decades, are just as important to us as our work with major corpo-

rations.

Drive profitable growth

 
  �Well positioned on core lists. Focus on further 
leverage these positions

  �Expand unique position in Emerging Markets

  �Focus in innovation and technology in defined
growth segments

global Reach

Best in class profitability

 
  �Continued cost discipline throughout the Group

 
  �Optimize processes to ensure operational 
excellence 

  �Exploit synergies between the divisions

efficiency

Sharpen unique profile

 
  �Accelerate push into faster growing market 
segments 

  �Focus on Life Essentials and Consumer Health

portfolio
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We made the decision to target our activities towards highly popu-

lated and rapidly expanding regions of the world at an early stage. 

An increasing portion of the world’s population is experiencing a 

rise in its standard of living, and consumer spending is increasing 

accordingly in Latin America, Asia, the Middle East, Eastern Eu-

rope and Africa. In the medium to long term, their spending will 

likely grow considerably quicker than the international average. 

“All business is local” – a good understanding of the local condi-

tions, markets and consumers is a major key to the successful fur-

ther expansion of our business.

We focus our activities on new fields of business and application 

areas that show a higher growth potential than the general market 

for fragrances and flavors. The product innovation divisions pro-

vide Symrise with an excellent profile on the market and offer it 

additional growth opportunities.

Organic growth will be supplemented when the right opportunities 

arise by selective acquisitions and strategic partnerships that 

strengthen our business model. 

Efficiency: Symrise has developed from its medium-sized roots 

into a corporation with global reach. Though much has changed, 

cost-consciousness remains a firm part of our corporate DNA. We 

are constantly seeking to find even better methods for supplying 

our products in a cost-effective and environmentally friendly man-

ner at a consistently high level of quality. We strive to further opti-

mize our cost structures along the entire value creation chain. Our 

global growth strategy is accompanied by constant process optimi-

zations and a focus on products with high added value. The expan-

sion of sales and permanent focus on optimizing our operational 

processes result in economies of scale that positively impact our 

profitability.

Portfolio: In an effort to secure our unique market position, we en-

hance our product portfolio, tap new markets and segments, and 

constantly seek to expand our expertise in the areas of nutrition 

and care. Symrise is active in dynamic markets – new ideas, new 

challenges and opportunities are simply business as usual. We 

want to further separate ourselves from the competition by antici-

pating consumers’ changing needs and preferences as soon as pos-

sible and fulfilling them quickly, efficiently, creatively and ecologi-

cally. At Symrise, innovation doesn’t begin with the research and 

development of a product, but earlier – with the market research 

that leads to insight and knowledge. Symrise initiated a paradigm 

shift in the industry: we no longer start by talking about molecules 

or technologies, but rather focus on the consumers. Our customers 

need a strong and creative partner for innovation, and innovation 

doesn’t stop with the manufacture of our products. The close net-

working of our established business units with new units at the 

technical level, as well as at the customer and consumer level, of-

fers us substantial synergy potential, of which we systematically 

take advantage.

Sustainabil it y

We are all aware of the responsibility we owe society as a company. 

As a successful company, we are committed to contributing to the 

overall welfare of society. We therefore take our responsibility in 

all of our business activities very seriously. In doing so, we create a 

better future for society, the environment, our employees and our 

Company. Sustainability is a core component of Symrise’s corpo-

rate strategy and culture. We see sustainability as a solid founda-

tion for all our actions, which we constantly refine and follow con-

sistently.

Internationally applied guidelines provide the framework for con-

crete goals and measures:

	� We develop innovative and sustainable product solutions that in-

crease the quality of life for consumers in cooperation with our 

customers.

	 We handle the resources entrusted to us responsibly.

	� We make long-lasting investments in our employees and treat 

them with appreciation and respect.

	� We actively support and encourage social responsibility, which 

provides both our employees and society with the freedom to  

develop.
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2011 – A Turbulent Ye ar on the Stock Marke t

After the political revolutions of the Arab spring and the environ-

mental catastrophe in Japan unsettled international capital mar-

kets in the first half of 2011, the trading environment dramatically 

worsened from the middle of the year due to the American and Eu-

ropean debt crises. The leading German index, the DAX®, fell to a 

two-year low of 4,966 points in September and closed the year at 

5,898 points – a decrease of nearly 15 % from the previous year. 

The Euro Stoxx 50® index for standard values in the eurozone fell 

by 17 % on the year to 2,317 points. Only the American Dow Jones® 

index was able to recover from its low point in summer and fin-

ished the year with 12,218 points – a gain of about 6 %.

Symrise Stock Up Moder ately in 2011

The Symrise share price rose from € 20.53 (end of 2010) to a high 

of € 22.74 (May 10, 2011), before declining considerably with the 

rest of the overall market to its low for the year of € 16.43 (October 

4, 2011). Over the course of the rest of the year, the share price re-

covered and closed the year at € 20.62. This amounts to a moderate 

gain of 0.4 % for 2011. By contrast, the benchmark index MDAX®, 

which also contains the Symrise share, lost 12 % on the year.

Symrise Engages with the Capital Marke ts

With our investor relations activities, we aim to further increase 

Symrise’s visibility on the capital markets while solidifying and 

expanding the perception of our share as an attractive investment. 

We are constantly in communication as we seek to strengthen in-

vestors’ trust in the Symrise stock and achieve a fair valuation for 

our share on the capital market with our reliability and openness 

about our business development and corporate strategy. 

In this turbulent year, personal contact with capital market partici-

pants was an especially important supplement to the comprehen-

sive information offered on our website (http://www.symrise.com/

en/investor-relations.html). Contact to investors and analysts was 

maintained and intensified by the Executive Board and the inves-

tor relations team through numerous individual meetings, as part 

of roadshows, at investor conferences and the Capital Markets Day 

as well as at the Annual General Meeting. 

27 investment firms currently publish regular reports on our Com-

pany’s development and make recommendations. As of the end of 

December 2011, twelve analysts recommended to “buy” our share, 

twelve advised a “hold” strategy and three recommended to “sell”. 

The analysts value the defensive nature of the Symrise share with 

its high margins and stable cash flow.

Performance of the Symrise Stock in Comparison to the MDAX  ® in 2011* (in €)

* MDAX® indexed on Symrise share price
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  Symrise   MDAX® 
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Symrise on the Capital Market

Compar ative PerFormance of the Symrise Stock

€ 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Shares issued as of balance sheet date� millions 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2

Share capital� € million 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2

Highest share price (Xetra® closing price) 22.20 19.28 15.73 22.34 22.74

Lowest share price (Xetra® closing price) 17.90 7.75 7.07 14.98 16.43

Share price at end of fiscal year (Xetra® closing price) 19.28 9.98 14.98 20.53 20.62

Free float�  % 94.1 94.0 94.0 94.0 94.0

Market capitalization at end of fiscal year� € million 2,278.3 1,179.4 1,770.2 2,426.1 2,436.7

Average daily trading volume  
(all German exchanges)� shares, approximately 520,000 760,000 470,000 597,000 533,000

Earnings per share 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13 1.24

Dividend per share 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.62*

* proposal 

KEY  DATA FOR SYMRISE STOCK

  

Stock category No-par bearer shares of common stock

Shares issued 118,173,300 shares

Sector / Stock market segment Chemicals / Regulated market (Prime Standard) 

ISIN / WKN / Symbol / Common code DE000SYM9999 / SYM999 / SY1 / 27647189

Most important place of trade Xetra® (electronic trading platform)

Designated sponsor Commerzbank AG

Indices MDAX®, EURO STOXX® Chemicals

MDAX® ranking as of Dec. 31, 2011 10 by free float market capitalization / 17 by volume of stocks traded

Initial listing / Offering price December 11, 2006 / € 17.25 

  

KEY  DATA FOR SYMRISE BONDS

  

Category Bearer bonds 

Total nominal value € 300,000,000

Denomination € 1,000

Interest rate / Payment date 4.125 % p.a. / October 25

Term October 25, 2017

ISIN / WKN / Symbol / Common code DE000SYM7779 / SYM777 / SY1A / 54901127

Initial listing / Issue price October 15, 2010 / 99.399 %

Price as of Dec. 31, 2011 101.3 %
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Over the past few years, the standard of living has increased con-
siderably for the nearly 200 million people living in Brazil. in 2011, 

2.3 % of consumer spending went towards cosmetics, perfume and 
toiletries in contrast to just 1 % in the US and France.

➢ 	B razil 
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brazil
Dynamic income growth and the reduction of social inequalities are allowing the market 

for fragrance and care products in Brazil to expand at a rapid pace.

10 %
With a share of 10 %, Brazil is the world’s 			 
third largest market for cosmetic products

#1
Brazil is the world’s largest sales market for fine  
fragrances, deodorants and baby care products

3 x
Symrise is opening a new regional creative center  
in Brazil in 2012 with three times more space

22 %
In 2010 cosmetic product manufacturers invested 22 % of 
their revenues into research, development and innovation
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“�A high level of professionalism and innovation cha-
racterize the creative processes in Brazil. Consu-
mers are very demanding and the market is very 
competitive. In this environment the Scent & Care  
division has doubled its sales between 2009 and 
2011 in Brazil and more than trebled its operating 
result.”

Magali L ar a ,  Senior Perfumer , Symrise Br a zil
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Symrise Group Management Report

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up precisely  
to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.
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Overvie w of the 2011 Fiscal Ye ar

The Symrise Group had a successful fiscal year in 2011. After the 

extraordinary growth of the previous year, sales development re-

turned to normal in 2011. However, the intensified sovereign debt 

crisis in Europe and continued consumer restraint in the US have 

affected our business. In addition, we consciously declined less prof-

itable business, in order to maintain our profitability. As a result, 

the Group’s sales rose by only 1 % to € 1,584 million during the re-

porting year. Growth at local currency of 2 % was achieved. The 

share of sales with the strategically important top 10 customers in-

creased to 31 % in 2011. Sales in emerging markets exceeded the 

previous year’s figures at local currency by 3 %, while the share of 

total sales was 46 %, the same as in the previous year.   

The Symrise Group’s capacities were well utilized around the 

world in 2011. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization on property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets (EBITDA) went down from € 331 million in the previous year 

to € 316 million. This corresponds to a sales margin of 20.0 % after 

21.1 % in the previous year. Scent & Care generated sales of € 801 

million, corresponding to growth at local currency of 1 %. EBITDA 

totaled € 158 million (previous year: € 161 million). The EBITDA mar-

gin therefore amounted to 19.7 % compared to 20.0 % in the previ-

ous year. In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, sales at local 

currency increased by 3 %, reaching € 782 million. EBITDA in this 

business division also totaled € 158 million (previous year: € 170 

million). This represents an EBITDA margin of 20.2 %, compared to 

22.2 % in 2010.

The net income of the Symrise Group amounted to € 147 million 

in the 2011 fiscal year after € 134 million in the previous year. As a 

result, earnings per share rose by 10 % from € 1.13 to € 1.24. The 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board are proposing to the Annual 

General Meeting on May 15, 2012, the distribution of a dividend 

of € 0.62 per share for the 2011 fiscal year.

The company’s cash flow from operating activities totaled € 201 

million in 2011. Liquid funds increased to € 119 million by the end 

of 2011. Net debt (including pension provisions) fell to € 703 mil-

lion, corresponding to 2.2 times EBITDA as of the reporting date.

Symrise is looking upon the 2012 fiscal year with cautious opti-

mism. We will aim to achieve moderate sales growth at local cur-

rency of between 2 % and 4 %. Assuming that raw materials prices 

on balance do not exceed the level of 2011 and that exchange rates 

do not change significantly from 2011, we anticipate a sustainable 

EBITDA margin of about 20 % for 2012. The ratio of net debt (includ-

ing pension provisions) to EBITDA should be in the target range 

of between 2.0 and 2.5.

Overvie w of Ke y Performance Indicators

€ million 2010 2011 Change in %
Change in % 

at local currency

Sales 1,571.9 1,583.6 0.7 2.0

EBITDA 331.2 315.9 – 5 – 4

EBITDA margin� in % 21.1 20.0   

Net income 133.5 146.5 10  

Earnings per share� in € 1.13 1.24 10  

Net debt (including pension provisions)  
to EBITDA (Dec. 31)� ratio 2.2 2.2   

 

040-081 Lagebericht (E) (2012-03-07).indd   42 07.03.12   17:09



43Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

Overview of the 2011 Fiscal Year
Structure and Business Activities

Structure and Business Activities

Company Profile

Symrise develops, produces, and sells fragrances and flavors as well 

as active ingredients for the cosmetics industry. Its customers in-

clude companies in the perfume, cosmetics, and food industries, as 

well as manufacturers of household products. In addition, Symrise 

provides biofunctional and bioactive ingredients and substances to 

the health and personal care sector. In 2011, Symrise achieved 

sales of € 1.6 billion, making it the fourth-largest company in the 

global flavor and fragrances market. The company sells its prod-

ucts in 160 countries. In 2011, Symrise generated 54 % of sales in 

industrial countries in Western Europe, North America and parts 

of Asia. The number of customers served by Symrise grew to over 

6,000 in 2011. A total of 46 % of our sales were achieved in the so-

called emerging markets in Asia, Latin America, Africa, the Near 

and Middle East and Eastern Europe. Around 5,400 people work 

in the two business divisions at Symrise Group – Scent & Care and 

Flavor & Nutrition. With sites in 36 countries, we have a local pres-

ence in our most important sales markets. We supplement our inter-

nal growth through strategic acquisitions that offer us a stronger 

market position or access to important technologies. In 2011, we had 

significant cooperative ventures in both the product development 

and research business divisions with Ecobiotics, InterMed Discovery 

and Axxam, among others.

The Symrise Group was created by a merger between the German 

companies Haarmann & Reimer and Dragoco in 2003. Symrise’s 

roots date back to 1874 and 1919, when the two companies were 

founded. In 2006, Symrise AG entered the stock market with its 

initial public offering (IPO). Since then, Symrise stock has been 

listed in the Prime Standard segment of the German stock ex-

change. With a market capitalization of about € 2.4 billion at the 

end of 2011, Symrise stock is listed on the MDAX index. Currently 

94 % of the shares are in free float.

Both business divisions are responsible for our operating busi-

ness. They each have their own research and development, purchas-

ing, production, quality control, marketing and sales departments. 

This system allows internal processes to be accelerated. We aim to 

simplify procedures while making them customer-oriented 

and pragmatic. We place great value on fast and flexible decision-

making.

  Symrise sites

  Regional headquarters

Symrise Sites 2011
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Both business divisions have divided their organization into four 

regions with separate regional heads:

	 Europe, Africa and the Middle East (EAME)

	 North America

	 Asia/Pacific

	 Latin America

The activities of the two business divisions extend across several 

business units and application areas. The business units in the 

Scent & Care division are Fragrances, Life Essentials, Aroma Mole-

cules and Oral Care. The business units are also structured 

according to different application areas. Fragrances, for example, 

is divided into Fine Fragrances, Personal Care and Household. 

The Flavor & Nutrition division concentrates on products in the 

Beverages, Savory, Sweet, and Consumer Health application 

areas. Symrise created the new application area of Consumer 

Health in 2009.

In addition, the Group has a Corporate Center which encompasses 

the central areas of finance & controlling, corporate communica-

tions, investor relations, legal affairs, human resources, corporate 

compliance, internal auditing and global process design in order 

to exploit cross-business synergies. Other supporting functions such 

as information technology are either outsourced to external ser-

vice providers or bundled in separate Group companies. The latter 

have, in the divisions of technology, energy, safety, the environ-

ment and logistics, for example, business ties to customers outside 

the Group.

Symrise’s headquarters are located in Holzminden, Germany. 

At this site, the Group’s largest, Symrise employs 2,114 people in 

the areas of research, development, production, marketing and 

sales. A large number of Corporate Center employees are also based 

in Holzminden. The company has regional headquarters in the US 

(Teterboro, New Jersey), Brazil (São Paulo) and Singapore. Important 

production facilities are located in Germany, Brazil, Mexico, Singa-

pore, China and the US. An example is the Global Citrus Center in 

Sorocaba, Brazil. Here we have direct and eco-friendly access to 

high-quality raw materials. On this basis, we were able to develop 

and produce a series of innovative, highly concentrated citrus 

oils in 2011. Symrise has development centers notably in Germany, 

Brazil, China, France, Singapore and the US. We have sales 

branches in more than 30 countries.

Management and Oversight

Symrise is a German stock corporation with a dual management 

structure consisting of an Executive Board and a Supervisory Board. 

As of December 31, 2011, the Executive Board has four members: 

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram (CEO), Achim Daub (President Scent &  

Care Worldwide), Hans Holger Gliewe (President Flavor & Nutrition 

Worldwide) and Bernd Hirsch (CFO). The Executive Board is re-

sponsible for managing the company with the aim of increasing 

the company’s value. 

Symrise AG’s Supervisory Board has 12 members. The Supervisory 

Board oversees and advises the Executive Board in the manage-

ment of the company. It regularly discusses business development, 

planning, strategy and risks with the Executive Board. In compli-

ance with the German Co-determination Act, Symrise AG’s Super-

visory Board has an equal number of shareholder and employee 

representatives. In order to increase the efficiency of its work, the 

Supervisory Board has formed four committees.

Details on cooperation between the Executive and Supervisory 

Boards as well as on corporate governance at Symrise can be 

found in the Supervisory Board and corporate governance reports 

in this annual report.

Business Activ it ies and Products

Symrise manufactures some 30,000 products from around 10,000 

– mostly natural – raw materials such as vanilla, citrus products or 

flower and plant materials. The value chain of both business divi-

sions extends across product research, development, purchasing and 

production, as well as sales of our products and solutions. The fla-

vors, perfume oils and active ingredients are generally central func-

tional components in our customers’ end products and often play a 

decisive role in consumers’ purchasing decisions. At the same time, 

the cost of our products usually account for only a small part of the 

total costs of the end product. In addition to typical characteristics 

such as fragrance and flavor, our value creation lies in the develop-

ment of products with added benefits. Examples of a combination 

of flavors and perfume oils with other innovative components in-

clude flavorings that enable the sugar or salt content of foods to be 

reduced, or a moisturizing cosmetic ingredient that lowers the 

proportion of preservatives in care products. On the basis of these 

products, our customers can differentiate themselves with their 

tailor-made end products from competitors in the rapidly changing 

consumer goods market. The extensive research and development 
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Structure and Business Activities

(R & D) undertaken, which is supplemented by a wide-reaching ex-

ternal network of research institutes and scientific facilities, forms 

the basis of our product development. Given the big differences in 

sensory preferences in Europe, Asia/Pacific, North America and 

Latin America, comprehensive consumer research is also an impor-

tant part of our R & D activities. It creates the foundation for devel-

oping marketable products that are successful in the long term and 

that meet the various needs of consumers in different parts of the 

world.

Our customers include large, multinational companies as well 

as important regional and local manufacturers of foods, beverages, 

perfumes, cosmetics, personal care products as well as cleaning 

and washing products. It is particularly important for large manu-

facturers that their suppliers operate globally. The worldwide 

presence and innovative strength of a supplier form an important 

basis for being admitted to the circle of core suppliers (the so-

called core lists). Inclusion on such a core list is the prerequisite for 

taking part in a much larger number of briefings when new prod-

ucts are put out to tender and winning the contract. Customers 

check the core lists every three to four years on average. In addition 

to the company’s financial stability and global reach, the most 

important reasons for inclusion or retention on a core list are the 

manufacturer’s innovative strength and creativity. In addition, 

Symrise develops innovative products and solutions independently 

and then presents them to possible buyers. For example, under 

the brand name Taste for Life®, Symrise offers a number of product 

concepts focusing on health, naturalness and sustainability. An-

other example is the new cosmetic ingredient SymHelios®, which 

was developed by the Scent & Care business division. It protects 

skin cells from negative environmental influences and strong solar 

radiation. 

We manufacture our flavorings and fragrances in our own produc-

tion plants. In some cases, we have longer-term delivery contracts 

for obtaining important raw materials. We maintain close ties with 

our suppliers and establish uniform standards to guarantee that 

the quality of our base materials remains the same.

Corpor ate Structure
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Scent & Care

The Scent & Care business division’s more than 15,000 products 

are sold in some 135 countries. Its portfolio includes fragrances, 

cosmetic ingredients, aroma chemicals and mint products. The 

business division has sites in more than 30 countries. Major subsid-

iaries are located in Brazil, China, Germany, France, Mexico, India, 

Singapore and the US. The Scent & Care business division is divided 

into the Fragrances, Life Essentials, Aroma Molecules and Oral 

Care business units. In these business units, our products are used 

in different application areas as follows:

Fragrances: Perfumers combine aromatic raw materials like aroma 

chemicals and essential oils into complex fragrances (perfume 

oils). Symrise’s perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances 

application area), in personal care products (Personal Care appli

cation area) and household products (Household application area). 

The perfume oils are delivered to customers in liquid or capsule 

form. The fragrances are normally requested and produced after a 

briefing from a customer company. Hair care products, wash lo-

tions, skin cremes and shower gels are just some of the end prod-

ucts in the Personal Care application area in which perfume oils 

are used. Symrise also offers solutions for covering up unpleasant 

body odors, for example, in deodorants. Washing and cleaning 

products as well as air fresheners are examples of perfume oil ap-

plications in household products. For example, perfume oils give 

cleaning products a pleasant smell. In addition, perfume oils mask 

unpleasant odors.

Life Essentials: The products manufactured in this business unit 

are used in skin care products, hair care products, sun creams, 

after-shave balsams, shower gels, wash lotions, anti-dandruff sham-

poos and deodorants. Products with nurturing characteristics are 

an important part of this business unit. Alternative preservatives 

are another focus. The business unit is divided into the Cosmetic 

Ingredients and UV Protection application areas.

For the Cosmetic Ingredients application area, Symrise concentrates 

on developing active ingredients, functionals and botanicals. Ac-

tive Ingredients are highly effective substances for cosmetic care, 

for example materials that slow the aging of the skin (anti-aging), 

soothe inflamed or irritated skin (anti-irritants) or have an anti-bac-

terial effect. Another example is a moisturizing substance whose 

usage permits a lower dosage of conventional preservatives. Exam-

ples of innovations based on active ingredients are SymFinity® 

1298, a highly effective Echinacea pupurea extract that extends the 

life of skin cells, and alpha-Bisabolol®, a soothing substance for 

the cosmetics industry. The Botanicals application area comprises 

plant extracts which, in addition to their functional effects, are 

very appealing to consumers due to their aromatic qualities. Exam-

ples of this are saffron extracts (skin-lightening, antioxidant 

and anti-inflammatory effects) and white tea (antioxidant effect).

In the organic UV Protection application area, Symrise has an 

extensive portfolio of oil- and water-soluble UVB and UVA filters 

which are marketed under the Neo-Heliopan® label. In the inor-

ganic UV Protection business division the focus is on zinc oxide, 

which, apart from a wide range of potential dermatological appli

cations, offers highly effective protection from the sun.

Aroma Molecules: The business unit comprises products in liquid 

or crystalline form for the Sensates (Menthols), Special Fragrance & 

Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aroma Chemicals application areas. In 

the Sensates application area, Symrise manufactures nature-identi-

cal menthol, which is primarily used in the manufacture of oral 

care products, chewing gum and shower gels. Special Fragrance & 

Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aroma Chemicals encompass aroma 

chemicals (intermediate products for perfume oils) of particular qual-

ity. These aroma chemicals are used for Symrise’s own perfume 

oil production and are also sold to consumer goods manufacturers, 

who make perfume oils from them. An important application area, 

among others, is that of biodegradable musk fragrances, which ad-

here significantly better to hairs, skin or textile fibers and are an 

essential component of perfume oils.

Oral Care: Symrise offers the entire product range of mint flavors 

and their intermediate products for use in toothpaste, mouthwash 

and chewing gum. Among the particularly innovative products is 

Optacool®, which combines a fresh mint taste with a cooling fresh-

ness experience. Another product is Optaflow®, which naturally 

stimulates salivation, thus contributing to oral hygiene and an im-

proved mouthfeel.
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Fl avor & Nutrit ion

Flavor & Nutrition’s range of products consists of more than 15,000 

items, which are sold in 140 countries. The flavorings that we pro-

duce in liquid, powder, granulate or paste form are used by cus-

tomers to make foods (savory and sweet foods as well as dairy prod-

ucts) and beverages, and give different products individual tastes. 

Symrise supplies individual flavorings used in end products as well 

as complete solutions, which apart from the actual flavor, can con-

tain additional, functional raw materials, dyes or microencapsulated 

components. The global Consumer Health application area serves, 

among others, the growing market for food supplements and phar-

maceutical preparations. The business division has sites in more 

than 30 countries in Europe, Asia, North America, Latin America 

and Africa. It has central offices in Brazil, China, Germany, Eng-

land, France, India, Japan, Mexico, Singapore and the US.

In particular, Symrise’s flavorings and ingredients are used in four 

application areas:

Beverages: Our flavorings are used in non-alcoholic beverages 

such as refreshment drinks, fruit juice drinks, energy and sports 

drinks, tea and coffee drinks, mixed milk drinks and functional 

drinks, which can be mixed with milk or yogurt, vitamins, miner-

als, fiber or plant and herb extracts. Symrise also has applications 

with flavor granulates for instant drinks such as tea and coffee spe-

cialties. Among Symrise’s latest soft drink concepts are so-called 

blossom teas, for example red tea with rose. We have consistently 

added new fruits such as chokeberries, sea-buckthorn and acerola 

cherry to our refreshment drink and fruit juice concepts. The prod-

uct range is being expanded by flavorings, distillates and extracts 

for nearly all common types of alcoholic beverages – for liqueurs, 

spirits, and mixed beer and wine drinks. A special focus is on 

mixed beer drinks, for which, apart from the flavor, we offer dyes 

and preservatives as a complete solution, introducing the optimal 

stability fit into a beer matrix.

Savory: This application area includes meat flavors, herb and vege-

table extracts, and wine flavors for soups, sauces, instant foods as 

well as seasonings for snacks. Special Symrise flavorings help re-

duce the salt and fat content of foods with no loss of flavor. The 

Tobacco application area was integrated into Savory in 2009. The 

tobacco industry uses the tobacco flavors that we develop in the 

manufacture of cigarettes and pipe tobacco. We also offer special 

aromatization methods for tobacco products.

Sweet: This application area includes sweets, baked goods, ice 

cream and dairy products. A focal point is products with improved 

flavor release and flavor systems with masking properties that per-

mit the use of functional ingredients and simultaneously conceal 

these ingredients’ often unpleasant flavor. Symrise is focussing 

in particular on vanilla, citrus and mint flavors. Since 2009, we have 

offered selected, high-quality bourbon vanilla extracts that we 

obtain in Madagascar and which are certified for organic farming. 

As a result, they are suitable for use in organic food.

Consumer Health: This application area includes natural, func-

tional ingredients to promote heart and digestive function, flavoring 

solutions and aromatization for pharmaceutical products as well as 

natural food colors and coloring foods (specialties).

Marke t and Compe tition

Marke t Structure

The Symrise Group is active in different markets across the world. 

These include the traditional market for flavorings and fragrances 

(F & F market), whose volume amounted to € 12.2 billion in 2011, 

according to calculations made by the IAL Consultants market re-

search institute. In addition, with the Life Essentials and Aroma 

Molecules business units, the company is active in the market for 

aroma chemicals and cosmetic ingredients, which, according to 

our own estimates, achieved sales of € 4.0 billion in 2011. In both 

sub-markets, the materials make up a series of products which are 

consumed or used by end-consumers. As a result, the two markets 

have many trends and characteristics in common. The market rele-

vant for Symrise (AFF market) has a total volume of € 16.2 billion 

and is achieving average long-term growth of around 2–3 % per year.

More than 500 companies are active in the market worldwide. The 

four largest providers, which include Symrise, together have a 

market share of about 55 %.

The F & F market is characterized by high barriers to entry world-

wide. There is increasing customer demand for higher quality and 

more differentiated products with ever-shorter product life cycles. 

The majority of products and formulas are manufactured specially 

for individual customers. Furthermore, due to local taste prefer-

ences, there are often many different formulas for one end product, 

depending on the country. Moreover, customer relations are often 

characterized by intensive cooperation in product development. At 
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the same time, one can observe an increasing market consolida-

tion on the part of our customers into globally operating companies, 

which in turn favor globally active suppliers. A worldwide pres-

ence and a high degree of innovative strength are an important 

basis for being admitted to the circle of core suppliers of the big, 

international customers (the so-called core lists). On average, they 

review their core lists only every three to four years. In addition, 

the companies in the industry are confronted by a demanding reg-

ulatory environment.

Apart from different local taste preferences and behavioral patterns, 

the demand for end products in which our products are used is 

influenced by additional factors. The increasing income of people in 

the emerging markets is having a positive impact on the develop-

ment of demand for products containing fragrances and flavorings 

or cosmetic ingredients. Market growth is also partially based on 

simple products which meet basic needs and have an established 

presence in the market in developed nations. In the developed 

Western European, Asian and North American markets, consumer 

trends such as beauty, health, well-being, convenience and natu

ralness determine the growing demand for products containing 

Symrise ingredients. Increasing quality standards, quickly chang-

ing product innovations and multifunctional products are further 

growth drivers. Decisive competitive advantages can be gained by 

recognizing market trends early on, developing innovative prod-

ucts using new technologies and successfully establishing them in 

the market.

Symrise ’s Marke t Posit ion

Symrise is the fourth-largest company in the F & F industry as 

measured by sales. Relative to the relevant AFF market of € 16.2 

billion, the company’s market share was 10 % in 2011. Symrise’s 

biggest competitors, such as Givaudan, IFF or Firmenich, are pri-

marily active in the traditional flavor, fragrance, and perfume oil 

business. Symrise has expanded both business divisions with addi-

tional applications: in Scent & Care with cosmetic substances, for 

example, and in Flavor & Nutrition with food supplements. On the 

basis of these more complex product solutions, greater value cre-

ation can be achieved. In sub-markets such as food supplements, 

sun protection filters or other cosmetic ingredients, Symrise also 

competes with companies or divisions of these companies that do 

not belong to the traditional F & F industry.

In 2011, Symrise’s sales grew by 1 %. In 2011, as in the preceding 

years, both business divisions gained new core list positions, 

laying the foundation for future growth and a stronger market 

position.

We have worldwide leading positions in certain market segments, 

for example in the synthesis of nature-identical L-menthol and its 

derivatives, and mint flavor compositions. Symrise also holds a lead-

ing position in the UV sun protection filter segment. By acquiring 

the perfume oil businesses of Intercontinental Fragrances and Man-

heimer Fragrances, we have become a leading manufacturer of air 

fresheners (air care market) and scented candles in the US market. 

Source: IAL (7th edition), internal estimates

Fragrances 	 5.8

6.4 	 Flavors

Rele vant AFF Marke t Size 2011  (€ Billion)

(around € 16.2 billion)

Aroma Molecules and Cosmetic Ingredients	 4.0
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We expanded our position in the US flavorings market by acquiring 

the flavors branch of Chr. Hansen in 2008. With the acquisition of 

Futura Labs in Egypt, we became a market leader in that country in 

flavorings and basic materials for the beverage industry.

Aims and Str ategy

Aims

We intend to further strengthen our market position and indepen-

dence through income-oriented growth.

	 Market position: Our sales growth should exceed the long-term 

growth of the market, which is expanding by about 2 – 3 % per 

year on average. In this way, we will gradually increase the dis-

tance between us and our smaller competitors and gain market 

shares.

	 Value orientation: We want to consistently be among the most 

profitable companies in the industry. We aim to achieve a sustain-

able EBITDA margin of 20 %.

	 Financial situation: The ratio of net debt (including pension 

provisions) to EBITDA should be in a corridor between 2.0 and 

2.5 in the medium term. In our view, it is possible to exceed 

this range in the short term, by making acquisitions within the 

framework of our strategy, for example. A consistently high 

cash flow from operating activities contributes to the company’s 

financial stability.

Our shareholders participate in the economic success by receiv-

ing an attractive dividend. At the Annual General Meeting, the Ex-

ecutive Board and Supervisory Board will propose paying a divi-

dend of € 0.62 per share for the 2011 fiscal year, a 3 % increase on 

the previous year.

Symrise has set itself the goal of using innovation and creativity 

to cater better than our competitors to consumers’ changing needs 

and wishes. That is why our focus on research and development 

and on new and innovative product concepts and groups is intended 

to help give a further boost to our market shares in the high-value 

and high-margin product segment.

The Consumer Health global application area is specialized on func-

tional ingredients for nutritional supplements and taste solutions 

for health care products. Modern consumers want products that meet 

many different requirements at once: food should be healthy and 

promote well-being, yet also be easy to consume and taste good. Two 

factors in particular influence this trend. On the one hand, con-

sumers are becoming more health conscious, and on the other hand, 

the individualization of consumer needs is playing a role. The 

consumer wants tailor-made products that are not only “healthy”, 

but which also serve specific purposes: strengthening the heart, 

firming the skin, slowing down the aging process or supporting 

physical fitness.

Source: corporate data and internal estimates

AFF Marke t share 2011  (%)

(Market volume around € 16.2 billion)

Other	 45

Symrise	 10

13	 Firmenich

20	 Givaudan

12	 IFF
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Our health and nutrition strategy caters to this growing market. 

The Competence Center for Health & Nutrition is part of this strategy. 

The Competence Center works independently for all four applica-

tion areas (Beverages, Savory, Sweet and Consumer Health), provid-

ing them with market and consumer data as well as information 

on product safety and supporting them in the development of inno-

vative products and ingredients, based on scientific and nutri-

tional-physiological findings. With these solutions we want to be 

an indispensable partner for our customers.

Str ategy

We will achieve our growth and profitability targets by consistently 

implementing our strategy. Growth, efficiency and portfolio: With 

the help of these three pillars of our strategy, we implement our mis-

sion and vision with concrete measures that lead to economic 

success.

	 Growth: We strengthen our cooperation with our strategic cus-

tomers around the world and expand our business in the emerg-

ing markets. We make sure that we remain the innovation lead-

ers in our core competences. This ensures our continued growth.

	 Efficiency: We constantly work to improve our processes and 

concentrate on products with a high level of value creation. 

We work cost-consciously in every division. This ensures our 

profitability.

	 Portfolio: We enhance our product portfolio and tap into new 

markets and segments. We continue to expand our expertise 

in the areas of nutrition and care. This ensures our unique 

market position.

Symrise grows organically. When it makes sense, we engage 

in expansive acquisitions or enter into strategic partnerships for 

product development.

Value - Oriented Management

Different variables are used within the framework of value-oriented 

company management. The EBITDA margin, for which we have de-

fined a target value of 20 %, serves as an indicator of the company’s 

profitability. Increasing the value of the company is accounted for 

in the remuneration system for the Executive Board and selected 

managerial staff. Symrise Value Added (SVA) measures the in-

crease in capitalized earnings value above the minimum rate of 

return on invested capital. The concept combines the two value 

levers of increased profitability and optimization of invested assets 

or capital with the goal of adding value above the minimum rate of 

return on that capital.

In addition, we attach great importance to the company’s financial 

stability. Important key performance indicators include cash flow 

from operating activities and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA.

Value-oriented management also means letting shareholders partic-

ipate in the business results in the form of an attractive dividend. 

Our dividend policy is oriented toward the company’s profitability. 

We want our shareholders to have an appropriate share in the com-

pany’s success. At the same time, we want to ensure that Symrise 

remains capable of taking advantage of any growth opportunities 

that arise without jeopardizing the company’s financial stability.

Gener al Conditions

Differentiated Effects on Symrise

Symrise’s business development is influenced by various factors 

in the company’s environment. Regarding sales, the general eco-

nomic development plays a big role. Significantly negative or posi-

tive fluctuations in the performance of the economy as a whole can 

have a detrimental or favorable effect on the sales of products con-

taining our flavorings or fragrances, which can have an impact on 

our customers’ demand behavior. The sub-markets in which we 

are active show different degrees of fluctuation depending on eco-

nomic developments.

In our manufacturing, we make use of about 10,000 natural and 

synthetic raw materials. On account of various factors, including 

the development of the economy, oil prices and harvests, these 

raw materials can be subject to strong price fluctuations. Further-

more, production can be affected by shortfalls in the supply of 

raw materials due to political unrest in supplier countries, amongst 

other things.

Symrise’s products are found in a number of application areas 

worldwide, including in the manufacture of food, in cosmetic and 

pharmaceutical end products and in household products. World-

wide use of our products requires that we observe national and in-

ternationally valid consumer protection guidelines and legal reg

ulations. These regulations are in constant flux due to new findings 

in research, development and production technology, a growing 

need for safety and steadily increasing health and environmental 
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awareness across the globe. We observe the regional and global 

development of these processes very carefully, ensuring that we can 

react quickly to changes in or tightening of regulations.

Gener al Economic Condit ions

Worldwide economic activity weakened significantly in 2011. 

A variety of factors were responsible. The debt crisis experienced by 

various European countries not only put pressure on the financial 

markets, but also dampened the real economy as a result of the re-

quired savings measures. A few emerging countries also tightened 

their monetary and fiscal policies in order to counteract inflationary 

tendencies. Political unrest in the Middle East and North Africa 

periodically restricted the oil supply. An additional factor was the 

environmental and nuclear catastrophe in Japan in spring 2011. 

According to World Bank estimates, global economic growth slowed 

from 4.1 % in 2010 to 2.7 % in 2011. The expansion of world trade, 

which is subject to greater volatility than economic output, was cut 

in half from 12.4 % in 2010 to 6.6 % in the past year.

The economic slowdown in 2011 was particularly pronounced in 

industrialized nations. The average rate of growth in real gross do-

mestic product (GDP) here fell from 3.0 % in 2010 to 1.6 % in 2011. 

Driven by the events in Fukushima, Japan’s GDP even declined by 

an estimated 0.9 % in 2011. The US economy stagnated in the first 

half of 2011, but revived over the course of the year. The economic 

output in the US may have increased by 1.7 % in 2011, although 

the labor market and the construction and real estate sectors con-

tinued to show weakness. The economies of the eurozone coun-

tries expanded by an average of 1.6 % in 2011, although there were 

significant differences in economic performance. As in 2010, eco-

nomic growth in Germany surpassed that of other countries in the 

currency zone: according to estimates of the German Federal Sta-

tistical Office, German GDP rose by 3.0 % in 2011. However, the eco-

nomic expansion occurred primarily in the first half of the year. 

Beginning in the summer, the weakening global economy and the 

eurozone debt crisis put pressure on business activity. The impe-

tus for growth in 2011 came mostly from the domestic economy. Pri-

vate consumer spending rose by 1.5 %, while investments in con-

struction and equipment grew by 5.4 % and 8.3 %, respectively. The 

situation in the German labor market continued to improve. How-

ever, consumer prices climbed by 2.3 %, much faster than in previous 

years.

Growth in the emerging and developing countries was also at a 

higher level in 2011 than in the industrialized nations. After ris-

ing by 7.3 % in 2010, the average growth rate of economic output in 

the emerging markets slowed to 6.0 % in 2011. On the one hand, 

the economic development of this group of countries suffered from 

reduced sales opportunities for their products in industrialized na-

tions. On the other hand, several countries – namely Brazil, India, 

Russia, South Africa and Turkey – consciously accepted lower 

growth and used monetary and fiscal measures to prevent their 

economies from overheating. Viewed in terms of regions, East 

Asia, spearheaded by China, topped the list of rapidly expanding 

regions in 2011: East Asia and China grew by 8.2 % and 9.1 %, 

respectively. The countries of South Asia grew on average by 6.6 %. 

India achieved GDP growth of 6.5 %. Latin America’s economic 

output rose by an average of 4.2 % in 2011, while Brazil lagged some-

what behind with 2.9 % economic growth. Argentina and Mexico 

achieved GDP growth of 7.5 % and 4.0 %, respectively.

De velopment of Gross Domestic Product in 2010/2011  (%)

Source: World Bank
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The overall economic development – viewed as an isolated factor 

of influence – has different effects on the course of Symrise’s 

business:

	 Economic fluctuations in the developed markets have very little 

effect on the demand for end products containing Symrise 

products if they cover basic needs, for example, in the nutrition, 

personal care or household segments.

	 The demand for products in the “luxury segments” of Fine 

Fragrances and Personal Care (about 10 % to 15 % of our product 

portfolio) is significantly more dependent on the disposable 

income of private households.

	 In the emerging markets, there is higher demand for products 

refined with flavorings and fragrances, in keeping with the 

dynamically increasing standard of living of the population.

	 Symrise customer companies manage production and ware

housing so that as little capital as possible is tied up. Uncertain-

ties about future sales development lead to adjustments, 

including in the amount of products purchased from Symrise.

In 2011, the overall economic environment had no serious impact 

on Symrise’s course of business. Due to our broad international 

presence, weakness in demand in certain countries was offset by 

more vigorous business activity elsewhere.

De velopment of Essential Sales Marke ts

The AFF market relevant for the Symrise Group grew by about 

4.5 % in 2011; its volume was € 16.2 billion. Similar developments 

could be observed in individual market segments. According to 

calculations by the IAL Consultants market research institute, the 

market for flavorings expanded by 4.5 % in 2011 to € 6.4 billion. 

The market for fragrances similarly grew by 4.5 % to € 5.8 billion. 

According to our own estimates, sales of aroma chemicals and 

cosmetic ingredients grew by about 5 % in 2011 to € 4.0 billion, from 

€ 3.8 billion in 2010.

Price De velopment and Avail abil it y of R aw 

Materials

Symrise uses nearly 10,000 different raw materials in production. 

Of particular importance are natural citrus derivatives (juice, es-

sential oils, etc.), citral and terpene derivatives and base chemicals 

derived from crude oil which are used in Symrise’s value chain as 

menthol intermediate products, solvents as well as raw materials for 

sun protection filters and special aromatic substances. In general, 

however, individual raw materials comprise only a very small part 

of total demand. With a large number of raw materials, the world-

wide harvest volume in 2011 was moderate or poor due to strong 

rainfall, drought or cold periods. The market situation in the citrus 

segment was and remains tense. With citral and terpene deriva-

tives, which are used to manufacture fragrances, the supply and 

therefore the cost situation have also worsened. The same applies 

to base chemicals, whose prices rose significantly until the third 

quarter of 2011 as a result of very high demand, particularly in 

Asia. The sustained appreciation of the Chinese Renminbi supported 

this development. After a slight easing, prices returned to a high 

level at the end of 2011. 

Overall, raw materials prices increased in the 2011 fiscal year, 

particularly in the first half of the year, somewhat more than we had 

anticipated. While the effects from changing exchange rates bal-

anced themselves out to a large extent, with individual raw materi-

als there were strong price distortions. In general, price volatility 

continued to increase in 2011. As a consequence, many suppliers in-

sisted on shorter contract periods. To increase supply security with 

base products, Symrise has for years pursued a strategy of long-term 

cooperation. Examples of this are the collaboration with Lanxess 

in the manufacture of synthetic menthols and a presence in Mada-

gascar, the most important source country for bourbon vanilla, 

with backward integration, meaning the inclusion of local farmers.

Gener al Polit ical and Regul atory Condit ions

A number of regulatory changes occurred in various countries in 

2011. Following submission of the REACH registration dossiers for 

high tonnages in 2010, the focus for REACH 2011 was on prepara-

tions for the next registration requirement in 2013 for substances 

with medium tonnage. Symrise currently operates as the lead 

registrant in the registration of approximately 20 substances and 

joint submissions for around another 30 substances. The intro

duction of the new system for classifying and labeling materials, 

GHS (Globally Harmonised System), was pushed forward in vari-

ous countries in 2011. Symrise was able to introduce GHS before the 

deadline for the sites in South Africa and China for all raw mate
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rials and mixtures. In China, Turkey, Serbia and the US, among 

others, additional rules apply to the registration of old materials and 

the declaration of new materials. Symrise successfully implemented 

all of the resulting requirements for existing businesses in these 

countries.

The Flavor & Nutrition business division’s products are primarily 

used in foods (savory and sweet foods as well as dairy products), 

beverages (soft drinks, alcoholic and non-alcoholic drinks), and 

pharmaceutical applications. The legal regulations for the use of 

flavorings and aromatic compounds vary in the different juris

dictions, particularly in the European Union and the United States. 

Depending on the jurisdiction, different maximum amounts of 

certain ingredients are permitted and special labeling regulations 

may apply. Symrise has successfully implemented new require-

ments for labeling allergens that resulted in particular from the new 

EU regulation on the use of food flavorings. In view of the pending 

publication of the so-called EU Union List of aromatic compounds, 

Symrise has begun proactively to adjust its data systems in anti

cipation of the specifications. In 2011, various new EU regulations 

came into effect concerning food contaminants, driven by the 

discovery of dioxin in animal food and the nuclear catastrophe in 

Fukushima. Symrise was not directly affected by these events. 

Nevertheless, Symrise has naturally implemented all of the result-

ing directives. There were also changes at the level of flavor in

dustry associations in 2011. Particularly worthy of mention are the 

discussions about the reorganization of the EFFA (European 

Flavour and Fragrance Association) and the IOFI (International Or-

ganization of the Flavor Industry), in which Symrise actively par

ticipates, as well as the establishment of a new Russian flavor asso-

ciation (RFA), of which Symrise is a founding member. The food 

industry uses our flavorings in various markets worldwide. As a 

result, the global aspect is becoming significantly more important. 

To guarantee the legality of our products in the relevant markets, 

Symrise utilizes company-wide data processing systems and has 

comprehensive expertise in food law. Thanks to our expert knowl-

edge about the regulatory environment, we can actively support our 

customers when they introduce products in new markets.

The products in the Health & Nutrition business division are subject 

to the aforementioned legal regulations for flavors and food, and in 

part also to the requirements of EU regulation number 1924/2006 

on “nutrition and health claims made on food” (Health Claims Regu-

lation). Product information about special health-related aspects of 

ingredients (“health claims”) must be registered with and approved 

by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), according to this 

regulation. The number of health claims approved by EFSA so far is 

very small. The approval process for all of the submitted ingredi-

ents will probably take a few years. Symrise is therefore observing 

developments in this area very closely in order to be able to give 

product developers targeted assistance. 

Symrise continues to follow developments regarding pending 

changes in cosmetics regulations in the EU very closely in order to 

be able to respond in a timely manner.

Corpor ate De velopment

Gener al Statement on the Course of Business

After an extraordinarily good course of business in 2010, which was 

characterized by recovery effects, demand in the 2011 fiscal year 

remained stable. Given the uncertainty on the capital markets, the 

downturn over the course of the year and high unemployment 

in a few key markets, this is a very encouraging development. 

The Group’s sales rose by 1 % to € 1,584 million in fiscal year 2011. 

At local currency, the increase was 2 %. The emerging markets’ 

share of total Group sales reached 46 % (previous year: 46 %). 

Significantly higher raw materials prices could not fully be passed 

on to customers and then only after a delay. Earnings before inter-

est, taxes, depreciation and amortization on property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets (EBITDA) at the Group level fell 

by 5 % from € 331 million to € 316 million. This corresponds to an 

EBITDA margin of 20.0 % (previous year: 21.1 %).

However, net income rose by € 13 million to € 147 million in 2011, 

primarily due to an improved financial result. Earnings per share 

amounted to € 1.24 (2010: € 1.13). Given this positive development, 

Symrise AG’s Executive Board will, in consultation with the Super-

visory Board, propose raising the dividend from € 0.60 to € 0.62 

per share at the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2012.
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A Comparison be t ween the Actual and Forecast 

Course of Business

In November 2011, we adjusted our stated expectation from the 

beginning of the 2011 fiscal year of organic sales growth at local 

currency of more than 3 % to 2–3 %.

Our forecast issued at the beginning of 2011 of an EBITDA margin 

of at least 20 % over the course of the year was defined more 

precisely to 20 %.

Debt, as measured in terms of the key figure net debt (incl. pension 

provisions) to EBITDA, should remain between 2.0 and 2.5 in the 

medium term. At the end of 2011, this key figure was 2.2.

With a sales increase of 2 % at local currency, resulting in an EBITDA 

margin of 20.0 %, we may not have fully achieved the targets we 

announced at the beginning of the 2011 fiscal year, but we are none-

theless satisfied with our results in view of the unexpected in-

crease in raw materials prices. The reason for the slight increase in 

sales was primarily the discontinuation of unprofitable business 

in order to maintain profitability. Net debt was 2.2 times higher than 

EBITDA and therefore fell within our target corridor.

Result of Oper ations

Group Sales

For 2011 as a whole, the Symrise Group generated sales of € 1,584 

million. This corresponds to an increase over the previous year 

of 1 %, or growth of 2 % at local currency. As expected, it was not 

possible to maintain the double-digit growth rates of 2010 in the 

past fiscal year. 

In the 2011 fiscal year, sales with the top 10 customers rose by 

7 % at local currency. At 31 %, this strategically important customer 

group’s share of Group sales was slightly higher than in the pre

vious year.

Business divisions: Scent & Care was able to increase sales at local 

currency by 1 % to € 801 million. Sales in the Flavor & Nutrition 

business division reached € 782 million in the past fiscal year, rep-

resenting an increase at local currency of 3 % compared to the 

previous year.

Regions: Sales in the EAME region increased by 1 % (at local cur-

rency: 2 %). Our sales performance in North America in the 2011 

fiscal year was unable to pick up on the previous year’s robust 

growth rates; sales were 4 % below the previous year. However, at 

local currency slight growth of 1 % could be achieved here. Sales 

in the Asia/Pacific region also experienced moderate growth; over-

all sales rose here by 2 % (at local currency: 2 %). Sales in Latin 

America increased by 3 % from the previous year. At 5 % at local 

currency, the region again achieved the highest sales growth.

Sales in emerging markets exceeded the previous year’s figures 

at local currency by 3 %. The share of these markets’ sales in total 

sales was 46 % in the 2011 fiscal year (2010: 46 %).

Scent & Care Sales

In the 2011 fiscal year, the Scent & Care business division gener-

ated sales of € 801 million. Sales were therefore 0.4 % below the level 

of the previous year, which was still characterized by strong 

growth and recovery effects after the global economic and financial 

crisis. In addition, active portfolio optimization led to the loss of 

business activities with weak margins. At local currency, sales were 

1 % above the level of the previous year.

Achie vement of Targe ts in 2011

 Target at the Beginning of the Fiscal Year Figure Achieved 

Sales growth (at local currency) More than 3 % 2 %

Raw materials prices Stable at the level of 2010 + 6.1 %

EBITDA margin At least 20.0 % 20.0 %

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/EBITDA ratio Medium term 2 to 2.5 2.2
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The Life Essentials, Aroma Molecules and Oral Care business 

units recorded sustained, positive business development in the past 

fiscal year. Aroma Molecules strengthened its growth with double-

digit expansion in the Menthols application area, while the Cosmetic 

Ingredients application area was the growth driver for the Life 

Essentials business unit, particularly in the emerging markets. 

Demand in the emerging markets also showed sustained growth 

in the Fine Fragrances application area.

Regions: Sales in the emerging markets accounted for 44 % of the 

total sales of Scent & Care in 2011. In these countries, sales with our 

customers at local currency grew by 1 %. The Latin America region 

achieved the highest growth in the S & C division, particularly in 

Brazil, Colombia and Venezuela. North America and the Asia/Pacific 

region displayed moderate growth, whereas EAME recorded a 

decline in sales.

In the EAME region, sales at local currency declined by 2 %. Busi-

ness in the countries of the Middle East was particularly subdued 

as a result of the political unrest there. The Fine Fragrances appli-

cation area, which grew very strongly in the previous year, and the 

Household application area recorded the largest declines. By con-

trast, the Menthols application area (Aroma Molecules business 

unit) developed positively with growth at local currency in the 

upper single-digit percentage range. The expansion of our menthol 

capacities is progressing according to plan and will be completed 

in summer 2012 – providing an important basis for future growth.

Sales at local currency rose by 3 % in North America. Large in-

creases were achieved primarily in the Menthols and Fine Aroma 

Chemicals application areas (in the Aroma Molecules business 

unit) as well as in the Oral Care business unit and the Personal Care 

and Household application areas. However, we had to record a 

decline in sales in the Fine Fragrances (Fragrances business unit) 

and UV Protection (Life Essentials business unit) application areas. 

Nevertheless, we were able to achieve important successes with 

our major customers in the past fiscal year. In addition, we won five 

prizes at the Perfumer Choice Awards: Best Women’s Classic Fine 

Fragrance, Best Hair Care Fragrance, Best Bath & Body Fragrance 

Mass, Best Bath & Body Fragrance Specialty, and Best Fragrance 

Challenge Base. These prizes demonstrate our ability to combine 

creativity and consumer focus with innovation and technical 

know-how.

Sales by Region

€ million 2010 2011 Change in %
Change in % 

at local currency

EAME 761.5 771.2 1 2

North America 281.0 270.7 – 4 1

Asia/Pacific 343.0 350.8 2 2

Latin America 186.3 190.9 3 5

Total 1,571.9 1,583.6 1 2

 

Sales De velopment of the Symrise Group  (€ Million)
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2011
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In the Asia/Pacific region, sales at local currency increased by 

2 %. The moderate growth in the region is largely due to the adjust-

ment of our portfolio and the corresponding discontinuation of 

operations with weak margins. China and Japan, however, posted 

significant sales growth. The Cosmetic Ingredients, Menthols, 

Fine Aroma Chemicals and UV Protection application areas bene-

fited from the increase in consumer demand and reported posi-

tive growth rates. On the other hand, decreases were seen in the 

Household and Personal Care application areas. In the past fiscal 

year, we sent an international group of our most knowledgeable per-

fumers to the Chinese province of Yunnan on the company’s sec-

ond perfume expedition to that country. The perfumers explored fla-

vors and fragrances in the provinces of Yunnan and Jiangxi, China’s 

botanical garden. The perfume expedition was organized by the 

Symrise Perfumer’s Academy. Symrise started the Academy five 

years ago as part of its effort to continually inspire and develop 

its perfumers.

We were able to achieve the highest rate of growth in Latin 

America. We increased our sales at local currency here by 6 %. In 

particular, the markets of Brazil, Colombia, Argentina, Venezuela 

and Peru posted high growth rates. This development should be em-

phasized since sales in the region already increased considerably 

in the 2010 fiscal year. Growth in the region was particularly driven 

by the Menthols, Fine Fragrances, UV Protection and Cosmetic 

Ingredients application areas. By contrast, sales in the Fine Aroma 

Chemicals and Household application areas were below the pre

vious year.

Top 10 Customers: We were able to increase sales with our top 10 

customers by 4 % from the previous year. At local currency, sales 

growth here was 6 %. Growth with these important customers sur-

passed the overall growth of the Scent & Care business division. 

This is consistent with Symrise’s global strategy to grow with its 

major customers. 

Business units: The Fragrances business unit, which accounts for 

about half of Scent & Care’s total sales, had to accept a slight decline 

in sales in 2011, particularly in the Household and Fine Fragrances 

application areas. The sales declines in the Household application 

area were primarily attributable to weak business activity in the 

countries of the Middle East and the completed portfolio adjustment. 

The weakening economy over the course of 2011 was evident in 

the Fine Fragrances application area. However, the Personal Care 

application area experienced sustained positive development. 

In the past fiscal year, we successfully established our SymSelect® 

online portal. SymSelect® offers our customers detailed product 

information and marketing concepts. On our website, our customers 

can find a broad range of information about our products, exactly 

when they need it. As a result, the time between inquiry and re-

sponse is minimized. The combination of technical, visual and mar-

keting-oriented information and the option of selecting one’s own 

search criteria makes our database unique. At the end of the year, 

we expanded our platform with our Life Essentials products.

The Life Essentials business unit was able to achieve moderate 

growth in 2011. Worthy of mention is the Cosmetic Ingredients 

application area, which achieved significant growth and intro-

duced numerous new products onto the market. Some of the high-

lights were:

	 SymFinity® 1298, a highly effective extract of the purple 

coneflower (Echinacea purpurea) that keeps skin cells healthy 

and increases their life.

	 Extrapone Healthy Grains, eleven grains for use in skin and 

hair care products in the cosmetics industry.

	 exVivo skin model, an innovative model that bridges the gap 

between in vitro and in vivo test methods and allows researchers 

to comprehensively test the efficacy of raw materials and 

finished products intended for skin care.

The sales development of the individual application areas in the 

Aroma Molecules business unit was quite varied in the 2011 fiscal 

year. While the Special Fragrances & Flavor Ingredients and Fine 

Aroma Chemicals experienced lower sales compared to the very high 

levels of the previous year, the Menthols application area enjoyed 

strong demand and achieved growth rates in the upper single digit 

percentage range. In order to strengthen our market leadership in 

this important growth market, we announced in the course of 2011 

that we would double the existing production capacities for Men-

thols in cooperation with our long-term partner, Lanxess, by 2012. 

Both partners have ensured through corresponding, long-term 

contractual agreements that their mutual interests, for example in 

the case of a change of control, will not be jeopardized. Menthol 

is an essential component of flavors for oral care products, pharma-

ceutical preparations, chewing gums and sweets. Synthetically 

produced menthol is one of Symrise’s most important strategic 

product segments.
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The Oral Care business unit reported significant sales growth, 

particularly in North America and Europe. However, business activ-

ity in the regions of Latin America and Asia remained below our 

expectations and the good figures of the previous year. The decline 

in Asia is primarily attributable to the discontinuation of business 

activities with low profitability in India.

Fl avor & Nutrit ion Sales

In the 2011 fiscal year, Flavor & Nutrition generated sales of € 782 

million. Compared to the previous year, this corresponds to growth 

of 2 %; at local currency the increase was 3 %. 2011 was character-

ized over the course of the year by an increasingly challenging mar-

ket environment. In particular, the intensified sovereign debt crisis 

in Europe and sustained consumer restraint in the US significantly 

affected our business. However, our good positioning with strate-

gic customers and a significant boost in the emerging markets re-

sulted in higher sales. All application areas were able to increase 

their sales from the previous year.

Regions: Sales in the emerging markets accounted for 49 % of the 

total sales of Flavor & Nutrition during the fiscal year. In these coun-

tries, sales at local currency rose by 4 %. We posted the strongest 

growth here in Africa and the Gulf region. But we were also able to 

achieve high, single-digit growth rates in the established markets 

of Western Europe. We achieved a moderate business expansion in 

Asia and Latin America. However, in North America we were not 

able to maintain the good sales figures of the previous year due to 

an ongoing challenging market environment.

In the EAME region, sales at local currency in the 2011 fiscal year 

were 5 % above the previous year. Significant growth could be 

achieved both in the established markets of Western Europe and in 

the emerging markets of Eastern Europe and the Gulf region. Sales 

were especially dynamic in Egypt, Germany, the UK and Russia. 

Through our new production site near Moscow we were able to take 

targeted advantage of this growth potential for us and further ex-

pand our leading market position. Our strengthened presence in the 

Gulf region is displaying similar success. With thorough knowl-

edge of local markets and innovative product concepts that are spe-

cially designed for local consumers, Symrise is available to its 

customers as a valuable partner in the Gulf region. Modern produc-

tion sites in Egypt and Dubai with fully automatic and aseptic 

filling and mixing facilities ensure the highest product quality and 

fast service for our customers.

Sales development in North America during the 2011 fiscal year 

was influenced by a continually challenging market environment. 

Although the previous year was still characterized by strong growth 

and recovery effects after the global economic and financial crisis, 

the past fiscal year was shaped by normalized demand and delayed 

orders from customers. This development held for all application 

areas and ultimately led to a decline in our sales at local currency of 

2 %. However, we were able to record important successes with 

our strategic, global customers, particularly in the vanilla flavorings 

segment. Through our own production in Madagascar, we are able to 

offer our customers high-quality products from environmentally 

friendly and sustainably operated vanilla farms. Once again, the 

backward integration of Symrise’s raw materials production is pay-

ing off.

In the Asia/Pacific region, sales at local currency increased in the 

past fiscal year by 2 %. Good growth rates were achieved particu-

larly in the markets of India, Thailand, Australia and Taiwan. How-

ever, the positive sales momentum of the Asia/Pacific region 

weakened over the course of the year, especially in the Beverages 

application area. With its discussion on the upper limit for soften-

ing agents in packaging materials and ingredients, sales in China 

declined substantially. The remaining application areas continued 

to develop positively and achieved good growth rates. As in previous 

years, we consistently pursued our growth strategy for the Asia-

Pacific region and made important investments in the past fiscal 

year. In Singapore, we were able to introduce our spray drying ca-

pacities with the new EVODRY technology and a new sensory center 

at beginning of the year. In Japan, we expanded our development 

and technical application facilities in the second half of the year. In 

November, we received the “Best Seasoning Vendor Award” from 

an important global customer for our great innovative strength and 

excellent service.

In the Latin America region, Flavor & Nutrition achieved growth 

at local currency of 2 %. Brazil, Argentina and Venezuela posted the 

strongest gains during this period. The positive business develop-

ment in these countries was driven by strong growth with our stra-

tegic global and local customers. In particular, the Beverages and 

Savory application areas realized high, double-digit growth rates 

with these customer groups. This was countered by weaker sales 

development in Mexico. A portfolio adjustment of low-profit products 

and non-core applications was carried out there. In Brazil we suc-

cessfully completed our site consolidation in the past fiscal year. 

Along with the transfer of production and administration from 

Socorro to Sorocaba, we also doubled our production capacities for 

powder mix products.
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Top 10 Customers: Sales with our strategically important top 10 

customers developed well again in 2011 and recorded growth 

at local currency of 8 %. We achieved high growth rates in all appli

cation areas and regions. The sales growth with our top 10 cus

tomers is again significantly higher than the F & N division’s total 

growth, confirming our expansion path with this important 

customer group.

New Umbrella Brand Actiplants® for Functional Botanical 

Extracts

The Consumer Health business unit introduced the new umbrella 

brand Actiplants® during the 2011 fiscal year and will now pool 

its functional botanical extracts under this new brand. Based on 

these extracts, the Consumer Health business unit is developing 

authentic and great tasting products with ingredients that 

strengthen the cardiovascular and immune systems and promote 

mental fitness. The herbal substances can be used in food and 

beverages as well as nutritional supplements and pharmaceutical 

preparations. Currently, scientific work is focused especially on 

Actiplants® Bilberry, a standardized extract of Vaccinium myrtillus 

(bilberry), which contains at least 25 % anthocyanin and has anti-

oxidant properties. With this product group, Symrise continues to 

meet growing consumer requirements for well-being and health.

Investment in Adsorption Process with New Features

A new SymTrap® system became operational at our Hamburg site 

this past fiscal year. The SymTrap® process can enrich both vola-

tile aromatic compounds and biofunctional substances in natural 

extracts. The technology is based on a sophisticated adsorption 

and desorption process. This intelligent application of physical prin-

ciples is also energy-saving and therefore both effective and effi-

cient. In a recent breakthrough stemming from our focused R & D 

efforts, we can now apply this process to biofunctional ingredients 

too. Now even secondary herbal ingredients with biofunctional 

effects can be gently enriched. The Hamburg site with its production 

center for functional ingredients now operates the largest SymTrap® 

system in the Symrise Group. The patented process even purifies 

health-promoting ingredients in small concentrations and raises 

concentrations in the product.

Tastes that Consumers Love: Our “Core Taste Competences” 

and “taste for life®”

Taste is our expertise – taste is the essence of our business. In 

order to support our customers better in the development and mar-

keting of competitive concepts and individual flavoring solutions, 

we bundled our global core expertise into seven taste families in the 

2011 fiscal year. Among our “core taste competences” are the fla-

vors for meat, vegetables, vanilla, mint, citrus, red fruits and flavor 

modulation.

In all of these areas, we offer our customers added value through 

unique know-how, market knowledge and creativity. Within this 

cluster the global core competences are supplemented by a number 

of specific technologies, which are of particular interest in one or 

several regions.

red fruits

vegetable

mint
THINK MINT®

meat

taste
MODULATION

citrus
naturally citrus!®

vanilla
symply vanilla®

At the same time, “Core Taste Competences” creates the foundation 

for our “taste for life®” strategic marketing platform, which is 

geared toward consumer wishes and focuses on health and enjoy-

ment. With “taste for life®”, Symrise helps its customers to posi-

tion and refine their brands and products between the priorities of 

well-being and enjoyment. “taste for life®” indicates which trends 

and consumer needs currently prevail, where gaps exist in the prod-

uct portfolio of customers, where their competitors are positioning 

themselves, where the expansion of product lines could make sense 

– and much more. The focus is always on Symrise’s core expertise: 

taste.
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De velopment of Imp ortant I tems in the Income 

Statement

In 2011, the cost of sales rose by € 40 million, or 5 %, to € 930 

million (2010: € 890 million). The disproportionate increase in costs 

relative to sales is attributable to much higher raw materials costs. 

Even a reduction in manufacturing costs could only partially offset 

this increase. As a result, gross profit declined by 4 %, or € 28 

million, reaching € 654 million (2010: € 682 million). The gross mar-

gin was 41.3 %, 2.1 percentage points lower than in the previous 

year (43.4 %). Positive effects were felt from the discontinuation of 

less profitable business and strict cost discipline in the area of 

marketing and administration expenses. This helped to lower selling 

and marketing expenses from the previous year by 3 % to € 246 

million (2010: € 253 million). This corresponds to 15.5 % of Group 

sales (2010: 16.1 %). R & D expenses of € 108 million were at the 

same level as in the previous year. The R & D rate was 6.8 %, nearly 

the same as in the previous year (6.9 %). Administration ex-

penses could be significantly reduced by 7 % to € 77 million thanks 

to consistent cost management (previous year: € 83 million). Ad-

ministration expenses as a share of Group sales improved again 

from 5.3 % in 2010 to 4.9 % in the reporting period.

Income Statement in Summary

€ million 2010 2011 Change in %

Sales 1,571.9 1,583.6 0.7

Cost of sales – 890.2 – 930.0 5

Gross profit 681.7 653.6 – 4

Gross margin� in % 43.4 41.3  

Other operating income 7.7 12.9 67

Selling and marketing expenses – 252.8 – 245.8 – 3

Research and development expenses – 107.9 – 107.6 0

Administration expenses – 83.2 – 76.8 – 7

Other operating expenses – 1.2 – 1.9 53

    

Income from operations/EBIT 244.4 234.4 – 4
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health
Pure

pleasure
taste for life®

Making the tastes people love.
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E arnings S ituat ion

Group: Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-

tization on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

(EBITDA) fell in 2011 by 5 % to € 316 million (2010: € 331 million). 

Overvie w of e arnings

€ million 2010 2011 Change in %
Change in % 

at local currency

EBIT 244.4 234.4 – 4.1 – 3.3

EBIT margin 15.5 % 14.8 %   

EBITDA 331.1 315.9 – 4.6 – 3.7

EBITDA margin 21.1 % 20.0 %   

 

Compared to the previous year, the lower gross margin in particular 

had a negative effect on earnings. However, lower marketing and 

administration expenses had a positive effect. The EBITDA margin 

amounted to 20.0 % in 2011 compared to 21.1 % in the previous year.

Scent & Care: For the 2011 fiscal year as a whole, Scent & Care 

achieved EBITDA of € 158 million. EBITDA was 2 % lower than in the 

previous year. The EBITDA margin amounted to 19.7 % compared 

to 20.0 % in the previous year. 

Flavor & Nutrition: EBITDA in the Flavor & Nutrition division in 2011 

was 7 % below the previous year’s level (2010: € 170 million), 

reaching € 158 million. The EBITDA margin amounted to 20.2 %, 

compared to 22.2 % in the previous year.

Financial result: The financial result in 2011 of € –38.5 million 

improved on the result adjusted for one-time expenses in 2010 by 

€ 5.5 million. The reasons for this were € 3 million lower interest 

charges for financial liabilities as well as the cessation of deprecia-

tion and amortization, which reduced the financial result in 2010 

by € 4 million. Structurally, the financial result has become more 

transparent because the interest effects from derivatives have 

been eliminated. The interest expenses were limited to promissory 

note loans, a revolving credit line, the US private placement and 

the Eurobond as well as interest deriving from pension provisions.

Taxes: In the 2011 fiscal year, tax expenses amounted to € 49 

million (2010: € 44 million). The tax rate for the year remained at 

25 % as in the previous year.

An adequate provision for risk was made, as in previous years. 

Nevertheless, irregular tax effects could be reduced by € 3 million 

as a result of the conclusion of local audits and a retroactive tax 

reduction in China. 

Net income and earnings per share: The net income in 2011 

totaled € 147 million, € 13 million, or 10 %, higher than in the pre

vious year (2010: € 134 million). This corresponds to an increase 

in earnings per share by € 0.11 to € 1.24 (2010: € 1.13).

Dividend proposal for 2011: The Executive Board and Supervisory 

Board of Symrise AG will propose the distribution of a dividend 

of € 0.62 per share for the 2011 fiscal year at the Annual General 

Meeting on May 15, 2012. Symrise views the dividend payment 

as being part of its corporate responsibility to continually achieve 

high yields for its shareholders and to enable shareholders to 

participate in the company’s success by means of an appropriate 

dividend.

Financial Posit ion

F inancial Management

Main features and objectives: The Symrise Group’s financial 

management pursues the aim of guaranteeing that the company’s 

financial needs are covered at all times, of optimizing the finan-

cial structure and of limiting financial risks insofar as possible. 

Consistent, central management and the continuous monitoring of 

financial needs contribute to this.
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In accordance with the Treasury department’s guidelines, the fi-

nancing of the Symrise Group is managed centrally. The financial 

needs of Group subsidiaries are ensured by means of internal 

Group financing within the framework of a cash pool, among other 

things. The surplus liquidity of individual European Group units 

is put into a central account, so that liquidity deficits of other Group 

units can be offset without external financing, and internal financial 

capital can be used efficiently. If external credit lines are needed, 

they are safeguarded by guarantees from Symrise AG. The Group’s 

financial liabilities are unsecured and connected with credit agree-

ments (covenants) that are reviewed every quarter. The Group 

maintains good business relationships with all consortium banks 

and avoids becoming too dependent on individual institutes.

The Symrise Group safeguards against risks resulting from variable 

interest on financial liabilities by means of interest rate hedges, 

if need be. Here, the principle applies that interest derivatives can 

only be concluded on the basis of underlying transactions. 

Symrise does business in different currencies and is thus exposed 

to currency risks. Exchange rate risks occur when products are sold 

in different currency zones than the ones in which the raw materi-

als and production costs accrue. Within the framework of its global 

strategy, Symrise manufactures a large proportion of its products 

in the currency zones in which they are sold in order to achieve a 

natural hedge against exchange rate fluctuations. In addition, 

Symrise has implemented a risk management system, which, based 

on detailed cash flow planning, identifies open currency positions. 

These are subsequently hedged against fluctuations.

With an equity ratio of 43.5 % as of December 31, 2011, Symrise has 

a solid foundation for driving future business development forward 

in a sustained manner.

Financing structure: The Symrise Group covers its financial needs 

from its strong cash flow from operating activities and via long-

term financing. These continue to consist of the following elements: 

bond, US private placement and revolving credit facility. As a re-

sult of strong cash flow from operating activities, Symrise was able 

to repay loans with a net balance of € 39 million. This substantially 

expands the company’s financial scope of activity and leads to an 

improvement in net interest expense.

Symrise fulfilled all of the contractual obligations resulting from 

loans (covenants) in the 2011 fiscal year.

In addition to the credit facility mentioned, a bilateral credit line 

with the Commerzbank AG for € 12.5 million exists that is intended 

to cover short-term payment requirements. The interest rate 

agreed on for the credit facility is at the accepted market rate.

In addition, the pension provisions are used for financing.

Cash Flow and L iquid it y Analysis

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to € 200.9 million, 

about € 34 million less than in the previous year (€ 235.1 million). 

This decline resulted from € 15 million lower earnings and € 19 

million higher tax payments. Nevertheless, a cash flow ratio of 

around 13 % relative to sales was achieved.

Overvie w of Cash Flow

€ million 2010 2011 

Cash flow from operating activities 235.1 200.9

Cash flow from investing activities – 68.5 – 58.8

Cash flow from financing activities – 143.5 – 131.6

Liquid funds (Dec. 31) 112.5 118.6

 

Cash outflow from investing activities declined by about € 9.7 

million to € 58.8 million. It primarily consisted of replacement and 

expansion investments.

The cash outflow from financing activities totaled € 131.6 million, 

slightly below the previous year’s level. It primarily comprises 

the dividends paid out to shareholders in 2011 amounting to € 70.8 

million, repayments of bank loans with a net value of € 39.1 million 

(previous year: € 37 million) and net interest payments to financial 

institutes totaling € 21.7 million (previous year: € 40.2 million). All 

payment obligations were fulfilled in the fiscal year. There were 

no shortfalls in liquidity.

Investments and Acquis it ions

The Symrise Group invested € 67 million in intangible assets and 

property, plant and equipment in the 2011 fiscal year, after spend-

ing € 71 million in the previous year.

Around € 16 million was spent on intangible assets (2010: € 13 mil-

lion). The investment focus was software, primarily SAP, as well as 

patents and the registration of substances based on the European 

chemicals directive. Investments in property, plant and equipment 
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amounted to € 52 million (previous year: € 57 million). Much of 

the investment was made for capacity expansions. A major project 

was to create additional capacities for synthetic menthols. We 

expect to complete this project by mid-2012. Similarly, the construc-

tion of a new research building commenced at the Holzminden 

site in the past fiscal year. In Asia, we expanded our Singapore facil-

ity in terms of both development and production. With the com

missioning of the new EVODRY facility, we doubled our production 

capacity for encapsulated flavors. In Latin America, we success-

fully completed the first phase of our site consolidation. Along with 

consolidating production and management at one site, we also 

expanded our production capacities for powder mix products and 

spray-dried flavors. In addition, we made expansion and replace-

ment investments in plants and machinery in order to increase pro-

ductivity and safety. 

In December 2011, we acquired 13.5 % of the shares of Indevex 

Biotech AB in Storebro, Sweden, for SEK 16.5 million.

Ne t Asse ts

Selected Bal ance Shee t I tems

Total assets as of December 31, 2011, increased by € 39 million 

to € 2,098 million (December 31, 2010: € 2,059 million). This was 

mainly due to an increase in property, plant and equipment and 

higher inventories. In addition, receivables were higher at the end 

of the year.

As of the reporting date in 2011, intangible assets and property, 

plant and equipment fell by 1 % to € 1,266 million (December 31, 

2010: € 1,282 million), accounting for 60 % of assets. Intangible 

assets include goodwill acquired through business mergers amount-

ing to € 494 million (December 31, 2010: € 489 million), as well as 

formulas, production know-how, trademarks, software, patents and 

other rights amounting to € 340 million (December 31, 2010: 

€ 375 million). Property, plant and equipment at the end of 2011 

amounted to € 431 million (previous year’s reporting date: € 419 

million). In the reporting date comparison 2011/2010, inventories 

rose by € 8 million, or 3 %, to € 313 million (December 31, 2010: 

€ 305 million). The increase in inventories was primarily driven by 

the inflationary development of raw materials prices. As a result 

of the increase in raw materials costs, the ratio of working capital to 

sales rose by 3 percentage points to 32 %. The items current pre-

payments, other assets and receivables increased by the end of 

2011 by € 14 million, or 32 %, to € 58 million (December 31, 2010: 

€ 44 million). The financial assets shown under the above-mentioned 

item in the previous year climbed from € 3 million to € 12 million 

due to an investment acquired in 2011. The strong rise in sales in 

the fourth quarter from the previous year’s quarter resulted in 

higher inventories and was the primary driver of this increase. The 

Symrise Group’s liquidity increased over the course of the year 

by € 6 million to € 119 million as of December 31.

Assets Equity and liabilities

Overvie w of the Statement of Financial Position as of December 31,  2011 (€ million)

(Change compared to previous year’s reporting date, in %)

Current liabilities (-9 %)

 Non-current loans (1 %)

Retirement Benefit Obligations  
and Other Obligations (4 %)

 Other non-current liabilities (– 3 %)

Other assets (+ 13 %)

Equity (9 %)

 Deferred tax liabilities (– 7 %)

2,098 2,098
Cash and cash equivalents  
and short-term deposits (6 %) 119

408Trade Receivables (11 %) 290

462
Inventories (3 %) 313

20
222

111

914

Intangible assets and property,  
plant and equipment (– 1 %) 1,266

73
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In terms of equity and liability, current liabilities fell by 9 % and 

non-current liabilities rose by 1 %. The reason for the lower current 

liabilities was the repayment of bank overdrafts. Current liabili-

ties decreased by € 42 million, or 9 %, to € 408 million (December 31, 

2010: € 450 million). Non-current borrowings at the end of 2011 

amounted to € 462 million, higher than in the previous year (€ 455 

million). Provisions for pensions and similar obligations rose 

by 4 % to € 222 million (December 31, 2010: € 212 million).

Symrise AG’s equity climbed by 9 % to € 914 million as of Decem-

ber 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010: € 842 million). The increase was 

mainly due to net income of € 147 million. In 2011, a dividend of 

€ 71 million was paid out. As of the 2011 reporting date, the equity 

ratio increased to 44 %, after 41 % at the end of 2010. 

Ne t Debt

Net debt (including pension provisions) fell, impacted by the strong 

cash flow from operating activities, to € 703 million as of the re-

porting date in 2011. The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 2.2 as of 

December 31, 2010, remaining comfortably within the targeted 

corridor of 2.0–2.5. 

€ million 2010 2011 

Net debt  
(incl. pension provisions) (Dec. 31) 733.7 703.2

EBITDA 331.1 315.9

Net debt  
(incl. pension provisions)/EBITDA (Dec. 31) 2.2 2.2

 

Intangible Asse ts Not Included on the Statement  

of F inancial Posit ion

Symrise’s value does not only consist of assets on the statement 

of financial position. A number of intangible assets that are not on 

the statement of financial position play a significant role in the 

company’s business success. They include efficient and optimized 

methods over the entire supply chain as well as existing cus-

tomer relations. In addition, our employees and our R & D activities 

contribute significantly to increasing our company’s value.

Supply Chain

The supply chain is responsible for the production process and is 

integrated into both business divisions. This achieves greater 

proximity to customers and increases the business units’ scope of 

action. In 2011, various efficiency improvement processes were 

started worldwide with the aim of improving the profitability and 

sustainability of Symrise’s products. With respect to sustainabil-

ity, the focus is on the core taste competences of citrus, menthols 

and vanilla. With our innovative Symchronize™ approach, we 

continually make improvements along the entire value chain, from 

the procurement of raw materials to delivery of the end product, 

for ourselves and for our customers. A customer survey conducted 

in 2011 shows that our target customers are very interested in 

the continuation of this successful initiative. We ensure continual 

improvement of essential performance indicators such as occupa-

tional health and safety, service, quality and productivity by means 

of Total Productive Maintenance (TPM). For example, a database 

of maintenance measures that we created on our own initiative en-

ables the focused, proactive maintenance of facilities. A scorecard 

system records performance in all relevant areas of the supply chain 

every month and ensures control of results. As a result, we can 

quickly recognize and remedy inefficiencies and their causes.

Chemical production in 2011 was influenced by plans to double 

menthol capacities by mid-2012. Along with the investment in men-

thols, we completed the optimization of distillation capacities for 

Life Essentials products and started new projects involving oxida-

tion technology, distillation and crystallization. We expect to im-

plement them over the course of 2012. Another important element 

was the integration of new sites and the establishment of a site in 

Rogovo (Russia). In Asia, capacities in Singapore were expanded fur-

ther. In Latin America, we concentrated our efforts on consolidat-

ing Flavor & Nutrition production in Sorocaba, Brazil, as well as on 

preparing and introducing SAP and SRMS systems in Argentina 

and Mexico. Additional technologies will follow in the years to come. 

In the US, the focus was on introducing the Symrise Manufacturing 

System (SRMS), which enables increased product safety combined 

with more efficient plant usage.
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Procurement

We use approximately 10,000 natural and synthetic raw materials 

from all over the world to manufacture our products. When we 

purchase raw materials, the quality, availability and price are deci-

sive factors. To optimize the supply chain, procurement is orga-

nized decentrally and integrated into the respective supply chain 

of the two business divisions. Global contracts are negotiated for 

the most important raw materials. To increase supply security with 

base products, Symrise has for years successfully pursued back-

ward integration. Approximately 50 % of our raw materials come 

from Europe. We buy the remainder in other parts of the world, 

basing our decisions on price, quality and production site. Local pro-

duction sites outside Europe satisfy part of their requirements 

from local raw materials markets and also purchase intermediate 

products from the main production facilities in Germany. We have 

long-term, flexible contracts for a large quantity of our raw mate

rials. We continually develop new technologies and processes to 

reduce the number of raw materials used.

Customer Loyalt y

Symrise’s success depends to a large extent on long-term customer 

relations. Our sales platform and sales teams play a key role in 

supporting our multinational customers. In both business divisions, 

we managed in the past to increasingly win positions on the core 

lists of these multinational companies. Furthermore, we often co-

operate closely and early on with these large customers on inno

vations. This process comprehensively helps our customers to de-

velop core brands for long-term business success. Another facet 

of our global sales strategy is the expansion of our market shares 

in the emerging markets. These markets currently account for 

approximately 46 % of our business. Due to our local presence in the 

most important country markets, we have direct access to regional 

and also local manufacturers. In many emerging markets, for ex-

ample in Russia, the Middle and Near East and large parts of Asia, 

long-term customer loyalty combined with good local infrastructure 

are keys to success.

Knowledge Management

In the globally networked and integrated Symrise, the exchange 

of knowledge and experience is extremely important for the com-

pany’s success. We have therefore developed a large number of 

platforms to exchange information and made them accessible to our 

more than 5,000 employees worldwide. In 2011, we launched two, 

new online platforms to promote dialog and the exchange of knowl-

edge. And so the Flavor & Nutrition business division has developed 

a new online platform named MyWorld. The platform enables em-

ployees to share their knowledge with one another across the 

globe, quickly and easily. The new platform, which is accessible via 

Symrise’s intranet, supports the rapid exchange of relevant busi-

ness information, from new initiatives in the areas of marketing, 

sales and research, to the exchange of relevant customer infor

mation, right up to internal communication and blog functions. 

MyWorld is interactively and dynamically geared to the user. 

It also permits e-learning sessions to improve interaction with the 

system and its options.

With the M2M.com platform, a new online marketing tool has been 

introduced within the Scent & Care division. In particular, it im-

proves the interaction between the marketing departments in all 

countries. As a result, the marketing community has the opportu-

nity to roll out globally developed initiatives locally in individual 

country markets. It can therefore be ensured that existing know-

how is used optimally and that double work is avoided. In addition, 

those responsible for marketing have the opportunity to exchange 

information in a timely manner.

Corpor ate Social Responsibilit y

Symrise’s entrepreneurial activity involves the interests of many 

different stakeholders: customers, suppliers, employees, investors, 

scientists, representatives of government agencies and communi-

ties, residents, the media, opinion makers and non-governmental or-

ganizations. Through an active dialog with these stakeholders, 

we discuss their expectations and requirements and attempt to de-

velop successful solutions. We take our responsibility in all of our 

business activities very seriously. Sustainability is a key component 

of our corporate strategy and culture.

Since 2006, Symrise’s Code of Conduct has provided an interna-

tional and binding framework for the interactions of all employees 

with the company’s stakeholders. As a globally operating com-

pany, Symrise adheres to all relevant legislation in the various ju-

risdictions where we are active. We observe the basic principles 

set down by the International Labor Organization (ILO), the United 

Nations Conventions on the Rights of the Child, and the Universal 

Declaration of Human Rights. Our Integrated Management System 

(IMS) is based on international standards regarding product quality 

and safety, environmental protection and occupational health and 

safety. We raise awareness of these standards worldwide – through 

training and further education programs, for example – and include 

our suppliers and contract partners.
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Symrise sets clear targets for quality, environmental protection, 

occupational health and safety, product and food safety and cus-

tomer orientation. We have therefore set ourselves the goal of 

reducing our energy consumption, CO2 emissions, waste volumes, 

water consumption and wastewater volumes by a third for every 

product we sell in 2020 as compared to our levels in 2010. We base 

our sustainability reporting on the guidelines laid down by the 

internationally recognized Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). We 

evaluate the sustainability performance of our suppliers and prod-

ucts in a scorecard. Rating agencies regularly rate our performance 

with regard to ESG (Environmental, Social, Governance) criteria. 

Since 2006, Symrise has published an annual sustainability report 

(http://www.symrise.com > en > news-media > publications > csr-

reports.html).

The Corporate Compliance Organization, which was created in 2010, 

bundles all functional units of the Integrated Management System, 

which encompasses the areas of quality, environment, energy and 

occupational health and safety, internal auditing, risk management, 

product safety and sustainability. Symrise’s compliance guidelines 

apply globally and are implemented by local Corporate Compliance 

offices. Risk management is equally important for the company’s 

development. Our existing guidelines ensure that risk assessment 

is a part of the decision-making process from the very beginning. 

In addition, each and every employee has an individual obligation 

to actively shield the company from harm. More detailed informa-

tion about risk management at the Symrise Group is provided in the 

corporate governance report and at (http://www.symrise.com > en 

> investor-relations > corporate-governance > corporate-governance-

statement.html).

Employees may report violations of the Code of Conduct to the Cor-

porate Compliance Office via a global phone and internet Integrity 

Hotline. An intermediary service operator ensures that they can 

retain anonymity where required and communicate in their own 

native language. Specially trained auditors review compliance with 

all requirements in internal audits. Independent external auditors 

confirm our compliance with, and the effectiveness of, these 

measures with corresponding certificates.

Symrise regularly reports on non-financial performance indica-

tors in detailed CSR reports. All of these figures are based on GRI 

(Global Reporting Initiative) key figures, whose definitions are 

officially acknowledged. We are continually developing and expand-

ing these CSR reports and report in detail about our dealing with 

the environment, occupational health and safety in our Company 

and in other areas for which we assume responsibility.

Rese arch and De velopment

Successful activities in research and development (R & D) form the 

basis for Symrise’s competitiveness. Since we develop innovative 

products and solutions, our customers see Symrise as a creative and 

valuable partner.

Guidelines and Focal Points

Our R & D strategy aims to connect the individual components of 

product development, such as market and consumer research, 

research and development and creation, throughout the Group. All 

of our research activities are oriented toward the customer and 

the market. Through the close linkup of R & D with marketing and 

sales, purchasing and manufacturing, product development and 

quality assurance, we check early on to see whether new products 

and technologies can be implemented and if they are profitable. 

All R & D activities follow guidelines for environmental impact, 

sustainability, innovation and cost efficiency.

The Scent & Care business division focuses its R & D strategy on six 

main points:

	 New molecules for use as fragrance and cosmetic ingredients 

	 Functional materials for oral care products

	 Bioactive ingredients for cosmetic applications

	 Release systems for fragrances

	 Masking unpleasant odors

	 Sensory research and new methods of sensory perception

In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, the following six tech-

nology platforms are being reworked:

	 Natural flavors 

	 New taste-active compounds

	 Plant extracts with special flavoring properties

	 Natural substances for the health and well-being sectors with 

functional properties

	 New technologies for the selective enrichment and release of 

aromatic compounds

	 Formulation of products with health-promoting characteristics 

and the simultaneous optimization of the sensory profile
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Organiz ation

On account of differing market and customer requirements, 

Symrise’s two business divisions pursue their own R & D activities. 

At the same time, technologies, processes and findings are made 

available to both divisions in order to achieve synergies. For exam-

ple, natural raw materials like vanilla or ginger – and the research 

results related to them – are very important to both flavor and fra-

grance creations as well as in nurturing applications. The R & D 

resources in both business divisions are directly integrated into the 

organization. Symrise has several R & D centers worldwide, in 

order to optimally support the regional activities of both business 

divisions. The research activities in Holzminden concentrate in 

particular on fragrance and flavor research, the development of nat-

ural and synthetic production methods for fragrance and flavor 

ingredients, analytical chemistry, cosmetic ingredients and the de-

velopment of new, functional ingredients for the Consumer Health 

application area. We also have development and application technol-

ogies in Teterboro (USA), Singapore, Tokyo (Japan), Chennai (India), 

Paris (France), Cuautitlánlzcalli (Mexico) and São Paulo (Brazil). 

In Teterboro, for example, Flavor & Nutrition operates a Technical and 

Culinary Center for Protein Foods. The focus here is on taste im-

provements and the range of flavorings for foods containing protein. 

In Shanghai, Scent & Care has a Creative Center for the Chinese 

market and Northeast Asia where all development technologies de-

partments and creative resources are bundled. 

Apart from their own R & D activities, both business divisions have 

comprehensive partnerships with companies, universities and re-

search institutes. This enables synergies to be utilized and expands 

the spectrum of R & D activities. Our partners include universities 

and research institutes, such as the Technical University of Munich, 

the University of Rostock, the University of Tours (France), King’s 

College (London), the Leibniz Institute for Plant Biochemistry in 

Halle, the University of Gießen, the Technical University of Braun-

schweig, the University of Muenster, the Technical University of 

Dresden, the Ruhr University Bochum, the Fraunhofer Institutes for 

Processing Technology and Packaging and for Polymer Research, 

the German Institute of Human Nutrition in Potsdam as well as com-

panies such as IMAX Discovery (Dortmund) and Cutech (Padua, 

Italy). In 2011, we had significant cooperative ventures in both the 

product development and research business divisions with Eco

biotics, InterMed Discovery and Axxam, amongst others. The Life 

Essentials business division has alliances with the Institute for 

Environmental Medical Research, Duesseldorf University, the Insti-

tute for Cell Physiology of the University of Bochum, the Clinic 

and Polyclinic for Skin Diseases of Muenster University Hospital, 

the Institute for Pharmacy as well as the An Institute for Applied 

Dermopharmacy of the University of Halle-Wittenberg.

In addition, both business divisions have for years had international 

scientific advisory boards consisting of renowned representatives 

from different scientific disciplines and fields of application. The 

task of these committees is to give advice regarding the latest 

research findings and their implementation in product innovations.

In order to expand the network within the scientific community, 

Symrise representatives have participated in numerous scientific 

conferences and presented current research studies. Worthy of 

mention here are the European Forum of Industrial Biotechnology 

in Amsterdam, the Congresso Brasileiro de Cosmetogia (Brazil) 

and IMRE /A*Star in Singapore. Additional findings from the re-

search areas of phytochemistry, fat-cell metabolism, skin pigmenta-

tion and animal experimentation alternatives for skin allergy 

tests were presented within the framework of the SID (Society of 

Investigative Dermatology) conference in Phoenix, Arizona. The 

Flavor & Nutrition business division delivered three lectures at the 

“XIII Weurman Flavour Symposium” in Zaragoza.

Symrise participates in numerous scientific research projects, which 

are supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and 

Research (BMBF) or by other public and private funding institutions. 

The “Biocatalysis 2021 – Bioflavonoids P19” projects sponsored 

by the BMBF and the “Development of Salt Taste Enhancers” could 

be successfully completed in 2011. The “Development of Modern, 

Natural Flavors for Improving the Taste of Healthy Foods” project, 

begun in 2009, continues to be funded by the European Regional 

Development Fund (ERDF) and the Lower Saxony Economic Subsidy 

Fund (NBank). Intensive efforts are currently underway to intro-

duce two candidates identified here as aromatic compounds or prep-

arations. In 2011, two projects begun in the previous year received 

additional funding from the BMBF: The first deals with the develop-

ment of methods for naturally extracting taste-modified aromatic 

compounds and is being carried out with the Leibniz Institute for 

Plant Biochemistry in Halle within the framework of the “Bio

catalysis 2021” cluster. The other project is being conducted together 

with the German Institute of Human Nutrition (DIfE), Potsdam, 

and the Technical University of Munich on the topic of “Effect and 

Role of Flavorings in the Gastrointestinal Tract.”
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From the idea to the marketable product, the innovation process 

at Symrise is organized based on a uniform stage gate process with 

decision filters. The process is established across the company. For 

every project there is a business plan containing an exact project de-

scription, including the costs of the project and the resources used.

Personnel ,  E xpenditure and Results

Nearly 20 %, or 1,068, of our employees work in the R & D area 

worldwide. In the previous year, 1,043 employees worked in R & D. 

While 434 of the employees work in Scent & Care, 634 are em-

ployed in Flavor & Nutrition. In the 2011 fiscal year, total R & D ex-

penditure amounted to € 108 million (previous year: € 108 million), 

comprising 6.8 % of sales (previous year: 6.9 %). Research expenses 

will remain high in the future in order to further increase Symrise’s 

innovative strength. Apart from the amount of expenditure, effi-

ciency and market orientation also play a role in the success of R & D 

activities and therefore in Symrise’s competitiveness. The scien-

tific community’s high regard for the scientific studies produced by 

our company underscores the high standard of our R & D. So for a 

master’s thesis, the sensory characteristics and successful optimi-

zation of the newly introduced natural sweetener rebaudioside 

A/stevioside were looked at and produced outstanding results, which 

were presented at several international conferences in Belgium, 

Paraguay and Denmark. In addition, important industry awards con-

firm Symrise’s leading position. In 2011, Symrise Life Essentials 

products received three important prizes. The cosmetic ingredient 

SymFinity® 1298, which was introduced the previous year, re-

ceived first place in the celebrated BSB Innovation Prize 2011 in the 

“Most Innovative Raw Material Natural” category at the In Cosmet-

ics international cosmetics fair. SymFinity® 1298 is a highly effec-

tive, 100 % natural, solvent-free juice extracted from fresh purple 

coneflower (Echinacea Purpurea) which has multiple anti-aging 

effects. Clinical studies confirmed a significant wrinkle-reducing 

effect. SymPeptide® 226EL even received two awards. The first 

was the “2011 European Product Differentiation Excellence Award 

in the Personal Care Market” from Frost & Sullivan. It also came 

second at the BSB Innovation Prize 2011 in the “Innovative Raw Ma

terials – Natural/Actives” category. SymPeptide® 226EL was devel-

oped in cooperation with US-based Therapeutic Peptides Inc., in 

which Symrise holds a 20 % stake, and has the property of enhanc-

ing the lushness and fullness of eyelashes.
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Selected Projects/Ne w Products

Inoscent®: By incorporating Life Essentials ingredients, this 

patented, alcohol-free fragrance composition provides skin with 

an outstanding feeling of purity.

Symreed™: The patented, water-based air freshener system creates 

a fragrance experience using a combination of air freshener sticks 

with an innovative fragrance formula, which is very environmen-

tally friendly, inexpensive and stable.

Frescolat® X-Cool: Almost immediately, Frescolat® X-Cool produces 

a strong, long-lasting cooling effect on the skin and is therefore 

ideally suited for broad use in cosmetic products.

Hydroviton® Plus: The anti-aging ingredient, which was also 

developed for the growth markets of Asia and Latin America, 

significantly increases the moisture in the skin, which contributes 

significantly to the appearance of younger-looking skin.

SymRelief® S: This new variant of an anti-inflammatory substance 

contains a nature-identical ingredient of ginger and offers outstand-

ing application qualities.

SymSol® PF3: As a functional product, this PEG-free solubilizer 

provides impressive solubilization performance compared to con-

ventional, PEG-based products.
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Health & Nutrition: In the Health & Nutrition business division, 

a special bilberry extract from the Actiplants® series was developed 

using our own technologies. It is characterized by a much higher 

content of highly effective antioxidants.

Actipone® S “Superveggies” and Actipone® S “Wood”: Two, new 

Actipone® product series from the “Botanicals” area, which possess 

anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-aging properties.

Naturally Citrus!®: A new generation of citrus specialties improves 

the authenticity and freshness of flavor profiles in the Naturally 

Citrus!® product platform. Additional technical progress makes it 

possible to develop sustainable raw materials in an 

environmentally friendly manner.

Simply Vanilla: The focus of this research project is on further 

increasing harvest quality and yield in order to secure long-term 

access to this important raw material and to improve the living 

conditions of farmers in Madagascar.

Think mint!: Ongoing sensory research based on many years of 

experience in understanding the micro-components of natural 

mint flavors enables the development of taste variants with finely 

tuned sensory qualities.

Vegetable: The combination of careful work by farmers in the Holz-

minden region and gentle separation methods at Symrise results 

in high-quality vegetable products. Our detailed knowledge of the 

behavior of flavor molecules in packages with contents in powder 

form improves the flavor experience.

Flavor regulation: Health and nutrition are parallel objectives that 

drive our research toward product solutions with reduced sodium 

content, less sugar and less fat, as they are preferred by consumers. 

Scientific methods and natural base materials go hand in hand 

in order to derive plant isolates to optimize oral taste and feeling.

Integrated product solution: By consistently linking our own 

functional ingredients with matching natural flavors and using our 

encapsulation technologies, Symrise has succeeded in developing 

a new generation of wholesome and tasty products for the instant 

drink industry.

Innovations in Analytics: In the Analytics division, we have 

continued to invest in expanding our databases of substances for 

isolates and botanical extracts. At the same time, progress was 

made combining instrument measuring technology and human 

senses using new tools from the Symrise FlavorInformatics® plat-

form. In this context, the use of “reverse metabolomics” for new 

meat flavors is worthy of note.

Employees

Motivated and qualified employees are the basis for Symrise’s suc-

cess. In a close, cooperative relationship, we require performance, 

dedication and team spirit. At the same time, we support our em-

ployees with a comprehensive education and training concept, giv-

ing them freedom to take responsibility and make every effort to 

promote their career development. We have an ongoing, intensive 

dialog with our staff – so that we can move forward together.

Structure of the Workforce1

The number of employees at the Symrise Group, not including 

apprentices and trainees, grew over the course of 2011 by 146 to 

5,434 as of December 31, 2011. Most of the increase in the num-

ber of employees, specifically 129 new staff, was attributable to the 

Flavor & Nutrition business division, in which more than half of 

all employees work. About 35 % of the workforce is assigned to the 

Scent & Care business division. Here, the number of employees 

rose only slightly, by 12, in the 2011 fiscal year. Some 15 % of the 

employees work in Corporate Services and the Corporate Center, 

as well as in the separate subsidiaries Symotion and Tesium. In the 

competition for the best-qualified young people, Symrise attaches 

great importance to the internal training of its own employees. The 

number of apprentices and trainees in the Group grew to 123 in 

2011. These are young people who are being trained in particular in 

the disciplines of chemistry lab technician, chemist, business 

student (dual training with a Bachelor of Business Administration 

degree) or as industrial clerk or industrial mechanic.

1 All information in FTE (full-time equivalents)
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Research and Development
Employees

Number of Employees by Function

(not including trainees and apprentices)

 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 Change in %

Production and technology 2,097 2,182 + 4

Sales and marketing 1,391 1,421 + 2

Research and development 1,043 1,068 + 2

Administration 424 419 – 1

Service companies 333 344 + 3

Total 5,288 5,434 + 3

 

Number of Employees by Business Division

 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 Change in %

Flavor & Nutrition 2,616 2,745 + 5

Scent & Care 1,868 1,880 + 1

Corporate functions and services 804 809 + 1

Total (excluding trainees and apprentices) 5,288 5,434 + 3

Trainees and apprentices 116 123 + 6

Total 5,404 5,557 + 3

 

From a functional perspective, the majority (about 40 %) of the 

Symrise Group’s workforce is employed in the area of production 

and technology. Around 26 % of the workforce is engaged in the 

area of sales & marketing. Research & development accounts for 

about 20 % of employees.

Of the Group’s 5,434 employees, around 43 % work at German sites. 

The Asia/Pacific and Latin America regions have the next-highest 

proportions, 19 % and 14 %, respectively. The increase in the number 

of employees during 2011 was in large part attributable to the 

rapidly expanding Asia/Pacific region, with a gain of about 14 %, 

and to a lesser extent to Germany and Latin America. By contrast, 

the number of employees in North America and the EAME region 

declined slightly.

Number of Employees by Region

(not including trainees and apprentices)

 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 Change in %

Germany 2,271 2,310 + 2

EAME not including Germany 737 732 – 1

North America 628 613 – 2

Asia/Pacific 904 1,027 + 14

Latin America 748 752 + 1

Total 5,288 5,434 + 3
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In terms of age range, employees at the Symrise Group between the 

ages of 30 and 49 dominate the workforce, with a share of 62 %. 

A demographic analysis of the workforce conducted at the end of 

2010 indicated that demographic development will be very steady 

in the next ten years. The natural reduction of the workforce due to 

retirement will be around 1 % or less per year until 2020.

Our employee turnover rate remained very low in Germany in 2011. 

It was 1.5 % at our German sites and 5.5 % worldwide.

Personnel Str ategy

Symrise’s personnel strategy consists of four main points:

	 Our aim is to hire and retain the best employees. We are striving 

to make Symrise an “employer of choice.” We support our employ-

ees to help them achieve top performance.

	 We adapt our human resources to the strategic needs of the 

company. The main instrument for this is a comprehensive 

range of possibilities for further training.

	 We attach importance to the orientation toward results and 

performance. This is expressed in joint target agreements as 

well as a results-oriented remuneration system.

	 We support top-level management expertise through special 

training programs for our managers and junior managers.

We implement this strategy by means of a broad range of personnel 

measures.

Personnel Me asures

Ne w Employees

Symrise adopts a wide range of approaches in its endeavor to re-

cruit qualified employees. In internships geared toward preparation 

for a career, every year Symrise offers around 100 school pupils 

the opportunity to gain insights into the company’s work processes. 

In order to bind well-qualified apprentices to Symrise, we main-

tain close contacts with schools and vocational colleges in the form 

of partnerships with student enterprises, holding project days 

and organizing management information games and e-learning proj-

ects. Every two years – next time in 2012 – Symrise organizes 

a “Training Day” for interested pupils and parents at the company 

headquarters in Holzminden. 

In the initial training session, Symrise has committed itself in a 

site safeguard agreement to hire 44 new apprentices per year in 

order to prepare qualified employees. As of December 31, 2011, 123 

apprentices and trainees were employed at our sites in Germany. 

This corresponds to a training rate of around 6 %.

Finally, we offer students the opportunity to become acquainted 

with Symrise through apprenticeships and work for bachelor’s 

and master’s degrees. About 80 students take advantage of this op-

portunity every year. Symrise also maintains close contact with 

universities and other further education institutions and regularly 

takes part in university recruitment fairs.

29 %� 30 – 3950 – 59	 19 %

60 and older	 4 % 15 %� Under 30

Age Structure of the workforce  (in %)

40 – 49	 33 % 

 

040-081 Lagebericht (E) (2012-03-07).indd   70 07.03.12   17:09



71Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

Employees

Further Tr a in ing

Symrise has a talent management system and further education 

program. Through these, we ensure that our employees have the 

expertise required to implement our strategy. At the same time, 

we offer our employees attractive further education and training 

opportunities to support their career development. The Symrise 

Academy plays a key role:

	 Education and training possibilities for perfumers, evaluators 

and members of the sales team are bundled in the Perfumers’ 

Academy. In 2011, five new talents began their training at the 

Perfumery School. In addition, we opened a new perfumery 

school in India to develop an internal talent pool of excellently 

trained perfumers and evaluators for the Asian market. Two 

perfumers are currently being trained here.

	 In the Flavor Academy, six additional trainees from five coun-

tries in Asia, North America, Europe and Africa began training 

to become flavor specialists in September 2011. They will 

complete their comprehensive, multistage training in 2012.

	 The Leadership Academy is geared to managers within the 

Symrise Group. Here, communications and sales techniques 

are taught, management skills are honed and various coaching 

programs are offered.

All Symrise employees are offered safety training, languages 

courses and courses in project management and data processing. 

Worldwide expenses for further training measures amounted 

to around € 2.6 million, 15 % higher than in the previous year.

In both business divisions, we offer a one-year further training 

program to skilled chemical workers who have already been trained 

which enables them to become process chemical technicians. We 

offer unskilled and semi-skilled employees a one-year qualification 

program to become so-called “flavorists.” In addition, we have es-

tablished a one-year further training program for employees in the 

research labs to become advanced laboratory technicians. The 

objective of these measures is to qualify employees for changing 

technical requirements.

In the area of human resource development measures, Symrise has 

conducted about 200 assessments as part of a worldwide talent 

management program to identify high-potential talents and to give 

them targeted assistance.

Employee Mot ivat ion

In recent years, Symrise has undergone constant transformation, 

from the merger and the stock market listing to the international 

financial and economic crisis. In the course of these changes, 

Symrise and its employees have shown a high degree of flexibility, 

have actively taken on the new challenges and have quickly and 

successfully adapted to each new situation.

Our employees play a key role in the success of our company. We 

expect great commitment from our employees. But this can only 

be achieved if they enjoy working at Symrise and view the company 

as part of their life. To further strengthen this success factor, in 

the early summer of 2010 we conducted our first international em-

ployee survey, which led to numerous improvements.

To make it easier to reconcile professional and family life, Symrise 

has established a comprehensive childcare program with staggered 

kindergarten opening times and assistance for parents in emer-

gency situations in cooperation with the “Child Care Association” 

based in Holzminden.

Regarding human resources development, a global succession plan-

ning process has been initiated for the first three levels of man

agement. The career prospects for Symrise employees should be im-

proved by giving preference to internal job placement over external 

recruitment.

Within the framework of our “Sports & Culture” program, we offer 

employees various physical recreation opportunities such as soccer, 

Kara-T-Robic, jogging, volleyball, power walking or yoga, so that 

it is possible to remain healthy and fit outside of professional activ-

ities. We also attach great importance to “operational health man-

agement.” To recognize and minimize ergonomic burdens, health 

circles were set up with certain focal points. Here, employees can 

get ergonomic advice, with Symrise covering the costs. In addition, 

Symrise regularly offers health weeks. In the management train-

ing program, the issue of “addiction and addiction prevention” is 

addressed. 

In the further development of our fringe benefits, in 2010 we 

launched our new pension scheme, which is funded by employee 

and company contributions, at all larger sites in Germany. Par

ticipation in this pension plan is compulsory for all new employees; 

for existing employees it is voluntary.
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The annual performance assessment discussion between line 

manager and employee is a central element of this dialog. It ensures 

transparency in performance assessment and enables targeted 

development perspectives to be drawn up for every employee. In de-

tail, tasks and areas of responsibility, achievement of the previous 

year’s targets, targets for the year under way, the assessment of the 

employee’s performance, cooperation between line manager and 

employee, planned further training measures and possible develop-

ment steps are discussed.

Remuner at ion and Wage Agreements

Flexible remuneration systems, which with variable salary com

ponents honor employees’ individual contributions and at the same 

time take the company’s economic situation into account, are an 

important element of a modern remuneration policy. Performance-

related remuneration also makes the company more attractive as 

an employer and contributes toward recruiting and retaining em-

ployees. Since 2010, Symrise has a new, transparent remuneration 

structure in the form of remuneration ranges which enables super-

visors and employees to actively develop remuneration in parallel 

to further professional training. This model applies to some 340 ex-

empt and managerial employees. The advantages of this so-called 

job grade concept lie in a high level of transparency and comprehen-

sibility of remuneration and in its international comparability. In 

addition, a separate global performance bonus plan ensuring that 

company targets are reached by means of a variable remuneration 

geared toward results and performance applies to about 70 manag-

ers with global or regional responsibilities. In 2011, performance-

based variable remuneration was expanded for all employees to a 

competitive level of 10 % of individual base remuneration. Finally, 

in the areas of raw materials purchasing and sales, special bonuses 

were introduced that are geared to efforts to mitigate increases in 

raw materials prices and promote customer profitability.

Me asures to Safeguard Compe t it iveness

The company wage agreement between Symrise and IG BCE 

(Mining, Chemical and Energy Industrial Union) makes an impor-

tant contribution toward keeping the company competitive. At 

the beginning of 2012, the agreement was extended for another 4 

years until 2020. The essential elements of the agreement on the 

company’s side are a site and employment guarantee as well as in-

vestment commitments of around € 220 million for the German 

sites until 2020. At the same time, the agreement forms the basis 

for qualification measures and considerable cost savings through 

the retention of a working week of 40 hours and the gradual take-

over of the IG BCE union wage rates with clearly defined reductions 

of about 1 % per year until 2020.

With these concessions, the workforce is making a decisive con

tribution to internationally competitive personnel costs at our Ger-

man sites. A key element of the collective bargaining agreement 

is the return of these competitiveness-enhancing discounts to em-

ployees if Symrise loses its independence. In this case, the chemi-

cal industry’s general wage agreement automatically comes into ef-

fect six months after Symrise is acquired by a third party. This 

does not affect the site guarantee and the waiver of business-driven 

terminations through 2020.

Opportunities and Risk Report

Principles

The Symrise Group’s business activities are continually exposed to 

a number of risks but also offer a range of opportunities. We define 

a risk as an event whose occurrence can lead to a negative devia-

tion from our targets within the planning period. Opportunities, on 

the other hand, are circumstances that can have a positive influ-

ence on the company’s development. Recognizing and avoiding risks 

as well as exploiting opportunities are of key importance for the 

development of the company. The aim of the risk management sys-

tem is the early recognition of all potential risks and the mitiga-

tion of these by implementing suitable countermeasures. To mini-

mize the financial effects of remaining risks, we acquire insurance 

if this is deemed economically sensible. In taking advantage of 

opportunities, it is important that an acceptable risk profile is main-

tained. By means of appropriate guidelines, we ensure that risk 

assessments are taken into account in the management’s decision-

making processes from the very beginning. Symrise has a risk 

handbook that regulates the risk management processes and pro-

vides employees with a foundation for dealing with risks. Every 

six months, all Group companies are instructed to verify the risks 

identified in their risk reporting and to make assessments and 

adjustments using the stipulated countermeasures.
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Employees
Opportunities and Risk Report

Risk Management Structure and Process

Symrise’s risk management extends across all Group companies 

and business units. The coordination of risk assessment occurs at 

the level of the Corporate Center within the Corporate Compliance 

department. Risk reports are drawn up for the individual companies 

and are then compiled into a current overview of the risk situation 

at the Group level. This Group risk report is passed on to the Exec-

utive Board twice a year. Herein, potential risks are identified 

and classified according to their effect on profits, their probability 

of occurring, the risk type and business unit, as well as the busi-

ness activity and the risk owner. In addition, appropriate counter-

measures and the employees responsible for them are listed. As 

a result, the risk report also forms the basis for managing risks as 

well as for examination by the Group’s Internal Auditing. The Ex

ecutive Board informs the Supervisory Board or the audit commit-

tee of the Supervisory Board and decides on additional measures 

for handling the risks. Exemption thresholds for risks are oriented 

toward the financial effects on Group companies as well as the 

probability of the risk occurring. If a risk exceeds a certain exemp-

tion threshold, the Executive Board is informed immediately. 

Business Env ironment and Industry R isks

In the consumer goods industry, we believe that a further consol

idation of the companies that buy Symrise products is possible. As 

a result, there is the risk that Symrise could lose customers and 

thus market shares. Risks resulting from consolidations at the level 

of our suppliers exist inasmuch as the loss of a supplier’s business 

can have a negative impact on our relations with customers. 

Increasingly fierce competition can be observed in our industry. 

This development puts Symrise at risk of losing customers. We react 

to this with increased marketing of our innovations and products 

in the Life Essentials and Consumer Health business units, which 

have added benefits vis-a-vis competitors’ products. 

Symrise is exposed to political risks in the form of trade embar-

goes in certain countries from which we obtain our raw materials 

and to which we export our products. We can partially compen-

sate for obstacles to trade by turning to other regions. In certain 

countries, we continually observe the possible risk of politically 

related suspension of payment due to a debt moratorium. A dialog 

with banks and customers serves to limit this risk. In export 

countries, we counter risks arising for political reasons through 

corresponding finance control on the part of Symrise, so that a 

loss of receivables can be avoided. We observe political unrest in 

countries and regions in which Symrise has operating facilities 

very closely, particularly to protect the safety of our staff. Neverthe-

less, a temporary loss of production and thus sales can occur in 

unfavorable cases.

The overall economic development affects the course of Symrise’s 

business in different ways. In developed markets, the demand 

for end products containing Symrise products, in so far as they sat-

isfy basic needs, is hardly exposed to economic fluctuations. 

However, for products in the “luxury segments” of Fine Fragrances 

and Personal Care, demand is much more dependent on the devel-

opment of disposable income. In emerging markets, demand for all 

products tends to fluctuate more depending on the state of the 

economy. Symrise customer companies also manage production 

and warehousing so that as little capital as possible is tied up. 

Uncertainties about future sales development lead to adjustments 

in the amount of products purchased from Symrise. Destocking 

on the part of our customers can significantly reduce the amount 

of materials purchased from Symrise.

Corp or ate Str ateg ic R isks

As with every company, Symrise’s corporate strategy is inherently 

connected with risks. Negative consequences for the company’s de-

velopment can, for example, arise from a misjudgment of customer 

requirements and peripheral conditions, as well as from erroneous 

technological decisions. This particularly concerns product devel-

opments which Symrise in part carries out on its own initiative, or 

also the founding of a new application area, such as Consumer 

Health in 2009. In the case of a lack of ability to market products, 

the development expenditure is not offset by adequate income. 

Intensive market research is carried out to guarantee that our prod-

ucts remain marketable. Acquisitions made by Symrise are also 

liable to risks. In the course of the integration process, there is the 

threat of business interruptions or a loss of knowledge and re-

sources due to employees leaving the company. We counter these 

risks by means of a clearly defined integration process.
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The company’s strategic risks also include possible removal from 

one of our customer’s core lists and the danger of not being put on 

such a list contrary to our expectations. We counter this risk by 

maintaining close contact with our customers. Further central fac-

tors for remaining or being included on core lists are pricing, de

livery reliability and product quality. In these areas, we continually 

strive to be among the best companies in the industry.

Economic Performance R isks

Product Risks: Symrise’s fragrances and flavorings are normally 

processed in products that end customers consume as food or apply 

to their skin. Therefore, there is a fundamental risk that our prod-

ucts can have a negative effect on consumers’ health. To minimize 

this risk, our quality management includes modern analytical 

methods and internal safety regulations. The tolerability of our prod-

ucts is continually tested on the basis of scientific research and 

testing based on international standards. Our goal is to anticipate 

and thus avoid customer complaints as far as possible. We have 

therefore introduced an internal process improvement procedure to 

remedy possible weak points and threats early on and to continu-

ously maintain the quality of our products at a high level.

Changes in a customer’s technology can result in a situation 

where individual products can no longer be offered to this customer. 

Symrise has a diversified customer portfolio to reduce this risk. 

Patent violations by competitors also pose a risk to our products. We 

counter this by means of adequate patent management.

Procurement Risks: The purchase of raw materials, intermediate 

products, manufacturing plants and services is continuously ex-

posed to the risk of unplanned price development, fluctuating qual-

ity or insufficient availability. While purchase prices can rise, 

particularly due to more expensive raw materials or unfavorable 

exchange rates, the availability of goods and services can also 

partially depend on legal regulations. Symrise has developed intel-

ligent purchasing strategies to counter an unexpected increase 

in the price of crude oil or energy. As climatic conditions and mar-

ket modalities can lead to higher prices, deteriorating quality and 

a lack of availability, purchasing has developed a broad supplier ba-

sis, with suppliers based in different parts of the world. However, 

too much diversification on the part of our suppliers increases costs, 

as this reduces purchasing amounts per supplier. Therefore, our 

main suppliers are tied to long-term basic agreements. Procurement 

alternatives are also developed, in part together with important 

suppliers, to minimize the risk of not meeting the latest technologi-

cal, market or legal requirements. If possible, an increase in the 

price of raw materials is passed on to customers by the correspond-

ing increase of retail prices, in order to reduce the effects on our 

results. Furthermore, Symrise continually examines the creditwor-

thiness of its suppliers.

Operating Risks: Technical disturbances can interrupt the Group’s 

continuous operations and lead to a loss of income and correspond-

ing return. The causes can lie in the safety of equipment and pro-

cesses, in fire safety, in the quality and safety of materials and in 

their correct classification. In addition, increasing demands and 

country-specific labor and environmental regulations can lead to 

interruptions in operations. We reduce such risks through main

tenance, investment and occupational health and safety measures, 

as well as through corresponding guidelines, instructions and 

training courses. Changes in country-specific environmental regu-

lations can result in fines or the temporary closure of production 

sites. For this reason, we continuously observe regulatory develop-

ments in the countries in which we operate.

Interruptions in operations can also arise due to errors in the 

course of operations, for example due to foreign bodies that are 

contained in raw materials or that are introduced into interme

diate or end products during processing, as well as to incidents re-

sulting from the usage of work equipment. Symrise minimizes 

these kinds of risks through appropriate guidelines (for example, 

foreign body policy), procedures (total productive maintenance), 

training courses, emergency plans, alternative production sites, an 

exchange of best practices and continuous improvements to oper

ational processes. Contaminations of products also occurred in cer-

tain countries in 2011. In response to this, we have changed our 

choice of suppliers, ushered in corrective measures on the part of 

suppliers or established targeted quality management measures.
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Opportunities and Risk Report

In order to continue to have a leading position in the industry in the 

future, Symrise launched different, forward-looking initiatives. 

We make efforts to improve the company’s environment as well the 

overall environment by, for example, limiting noise and odors as 

much as possible at all of our production sites. Adherence to the Eu-

ropean REACH regulation (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation 

and Restriction of Chemicals) as well as to other regulations such as 

GHS (Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labeling 

of Chemicals) was introduced and implemented in relevant projects.

F inancial R isks

Symrise is exposed to a number of different financial risks.

Credit risk: There is the risk of financial loss to Symrise if a 

customer or contract partner fails to meet its financial obligations. 

To minimize this risk, since 2008 the creditworthiness of new 

customers has been analyzed. In addition, every year both the cred-

itworthiness and the supply conditions of all customers are exam-

ined. Apart from this method of risk prevention, Symrise introduced 

an impairment procedure for receivables. This allowance consists 

of an individual depreciation and amortization and a general cost 

component. Symrise tries to limit the risk of non-payment due 

to bank boycott by engaging in continuous dialog with banks and 

customers. Financial crises in export countries require corre-

sponding financial control on the part of Symrise, so that a loss of 

receivables can be avoided. 

Liquidity risk: The liquidity risk describes the danger that Symrise 

is not in a position to fulfill financial obligations to third parties. 

In the case of a deterioration in business development, there is the 

additional risk of not fulfilling obligations that exist for existing 

credit approvals (covenants). Symrise carries out continuous liquid-

ity planning in order to recognize liquidity shortfalls early on. Par-

allel to this, the company possesses sufficient credit lines to cover 

payment claims. The company’s development is continuously moni-

tored; corresponding emergency plans to avoid liquidity problems 

exist. With these plans, we ensure that we have sufficient means 

to fulfill our payment obligations as they become due, even under 

difficult conditions. We do not currently see a refinancing risk.

The following table shows the liabilities of the Symrise Group along 

with their maturity dates as of December 31, 2011:

Liabilities of the Symrise Group  

as of December 31,  2011

€ million Total 2012 from 2013

Trade payables 118.2 118.2 0

Borrowings 600.2 4.7 595.5

Other financial liabilities 112.1 106.1 6.0

Total 830.5 229.0 601.5

 

Interest and currency risks: Currency risks exist in economic 

areas where Symrise sells its products on a foreign-currency basis 

(US$, for example) but when at least some of these products were 

produced in a different currency area (the eurozone, for example). 

Symrise buys many of its raw materials in euros. If the US$ or a 

foreign currency tied to the US$ fluctuates in value against the euro, 

this can lead to corresponding changes in our materials prices. 

Symrise counters this risk by negotiating corridors in its contracts 

which can be renegotiated. The remaining currency risk was 

reduced in 2011 through currency forward contracts amounting to 

US$ 38.8 million against the euro and US$ 7 million against 

the Singapore Dollar. In order to avoid fluctuations in income due 

to changes in valuation, the currency transactions were classi-

fied as cash flow hedges in terms of hedge accounting. As a result, 

valuation effects are recognized first in equity and then in the 

operating currency result.

Interest risks arise because rising interest rates can increase in

terest expenditure contrary to planning and thus have an adverse 

effect on the Group’s result of operations. Symrise significantly re-

duced this risk within the framework of refinancing; approximately 

78 % of the liabilities were taken up with fixed interest rates, uti

lizing the favorable interest rate environment. Only about 22 % of 

the liabilities are subject to the risk of changing interest rates. If 

need be, Symrise counters this risk by means of contracted interest 

hedges, which minimize the risk of changing interest rates.
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Tax risk: Symrise is also exposed to tax risk. Due to structural 

changes at our worldwide sites, the local financial authorities have 

in some cases not been able to examine certain income tax-related 

matters to date and subsequently provide an overall assessment. In 

some cases, we have made provisions for these risks in prepara-

tion for additional tax obligations. On the whole, we have made all 

necessary provisions to prepare for known tax risks.

Personnel R isks

Symrise counters personnel risks, which arise fundamentally from 

a fluctuation of personnel in key positions, by means of suitable 

further education and programs promoting junior employees.

Legal R isks

Currently, Symrise considers legal risks to be relatively minor. 

These risks typically result from the areas of labor law, product 

liability, warranty claims and intellectual property. To counter 

these risks in an appropriate way and early on, we analyze 

potential risks comprehensively by incorporating our legal depart-

ment and, if necessary, by engaging external specialists. Despite 

these measures, the outcome of current or future legal proceedings 

cannot be predicted with certainty. At present, only a few Group 

companies are affected by ongoing legal proceedings. Therefore, we 

will only make reference to one type of legal procedure here. In 

the US, Symrise Inc., along with many other companies, has been 

accused of selling flavors which, when industrially processed, 

can release harmful vapors if safety instructions are not adhered 

to. In none of these proceedings has a clear monetary claim been 

made so far. We believe that we can rebut these legal accusations. 

We do not expect the results of the individual proceedings to have 

a significant effect on the Group’s results.

IT   R isks

IT risks basically arise from potential interruptions in the ex-

change and processing of information, which can lead to an inter-

ruption of operational processes dependent on functioning IT 

systems. Symrise maintains a number of IT and telecommunica-

tions systems whose date and programs are saved and further 

developed in different storage media. The introduction of uniform 

and up-to-date systems that began in the previous year is being 

continued. Established protective measures are continuously up-

dated and extended to guarantee the security of IT processes 

and data.

Over all Assessment of the Risk S ituation

Based on the information available to us, we see no risk that could 

pose a threat to the continued existence of the Symrise Group. Due 

to the fact that the existing risk reporting and the Integrated 

Management System are supplemented by a system of integrated 

internal controls, we expect to continue to meet all requirements 

in the future business environment and in view of changing legal 

regulations.

Opportunit ies Management

The Symrise corporate culture attaches importance to entrepreneur-

ial thinking and acting. We value a high degree of responsibility 

in our employees. Therefore, we encourage all Symrise employees, 

regardless of their area and scope of responsibility, to continu-

ously seek and take advantage of opportunities. Group companies 

are urged to identify opportunities on an operative level which, 

for example, arise within the framework of an operational activity 

or due to improved market conditions, and to realize these oppor

tunities with the aim of achieving results that go beyond the scope 

of planning. Strategic opportunities are recorded in the business 

divisions and in the Corporate Center. They are evaluated and mea-

sures are taken to exploit them. Symrise’s Executive Board is 

also responsible for discussing strategic opportunities on a regular 

basis.

Selected Opp ortunit ies

Opportunities for Symrise arise from various factors. Our employ-

ees submit suggestions within the scope of ideas management, en-

abling work processes and procedures to be improved. Operative 

opportunities can also arise from our employees’ further education 

measures. We see the opportunity to generate additional orders 

through know-how transfer between the two divisions. An example 

of this is a Group-wide project database in which all activities are 

documented and tracked. As a result, points of contact can be cre-

ated easily. Potential synergies have not yet been totally realized.

Developments in the company’s business environment which are 

particularly attributable to social and economic changes open up 

numerous strategic opportunities. In developed nations, there is 

a trend toward healthier and more conscious nutrition, due, among 

other things, to the increasing age of society. People’s personal 

care requirements are also constantly growing. As a basic principle, 

in order to be competitive a company has to continually provide 

customers with innovative products. Accordingly, Symrise has po-

sitioned itself with new business units and application areas, 

040-081 Lagebericht (E) (2012-03-07).indd   76 07.03.12   17:09



77Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

Opportunities and Risk Report
Essential Features of the Accounting- 
Related Internal Control  
and Risk Management System

such as Life Essentials and Consumer Health. Intensive market re-

search and comprehensive R & D activities are the basis for our 

own developments which we can offer to our customers, enabling 

them to improve their products or introduce new products. In 

emerging and developing countries, there is a mounting demand for 

products containing Symrise flavorings and fragrances. To take 

advantage of these opportunities, we are continuously expanding 

our activities in these countries.

Strategic opportunities also arise from acquisitions. To strategically 

broaden our expertise, we are continually looking for suitable 

target companies. In addition, we see opportunities arising from 

cooperative ventures with universities and companies. Bundling 

expertise can speed up product development and generate innova-

tive products.

Essential Fe atures of the Accounting - Rel ated 

Internal Control and Risk Management System

Main Fe atures and Objectives

In accordance with the German Accounting Law Modernization 

Act, capital market-oriented corporations are obliged to describe the 

essential features of their internal accounting-related control and 

management system in the management report section of the annual 

report.

The accounting-related internal control system (ICS) guarantees 

proper and reliable financial reporting. By means of the accounting-

related risk management system, measures are taken to identify 

and evaluate risks that jeopardize the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with the regulations. The sys-

tem consists of a documentation of possible risks, the accompanying 

processes as well as the control of these processes, and of the ex-

amination of these processes. To guarantee that the ICS is effective, 

the Group-wide control mechanisms are analyzed at the level of 

the individual companies and the Group. The Internal Auditing de-

partment examines how effectively those responsible adhered to 

the planned control mechanisms at both the decentralized and cen-

tralized level. The efficiency of the ICS can be limited by unfore-

seen changes in the control environment, by criminal activities or 

human error.

To define existing control processes in the company and to expand 

them where necessary, Symrise has launched a project to support 

documentation and analysis within the scope of self-assessment 

measures in the Group’s business units and companies. The prin

ciples for the accounting-related internal control system and the 

risk management system define requirements, document the pro-

cess landscape and business processes and regulate controls to be 

carried out. Building on a basic training course for employees, ex-

periences are regularly exchanged so that controls can continually 

be adapted to changing risks.

Organiz ation and Process

The ICS in the Symrise Group comprises both centralized and de-

centralized elements and is geared to ISO 31000. Based on reports 

issued by subsidiaries, an aggregate ICS Group report is presented 

to the Executive Board. The Executive Board discusses the efficacy 

of the ICS with the Supervisory Board or with the Auditing Com-

mittee of the Supervisory Board.

The ICS is monitored regularly with respect to the up-to-dateness of 

documentation, the suitability and functionality of controls, and 

any weaknesses in the control system are identified and evaluated.

	 Accounting-related risk management: Using a risk-oriented 

approach, the companies and processes which are essential for 

accounting are first of all identified. On the basis of the results, 

specific minimum requirements and objectives are defined to 

counteract the risks of financial reporting. The result is a 

centralized risk catalog which relates to financial reporting and 

which is simultaneously the basis of work for employees involved 

in financial reporting.

	 Accounting-related internal control system: First, existing 

control activities in the essential companies are documented and 

updated. The controls defined by the accounting-related ICS 

should guarantee adherence to Group accounting guidelines, the 

accounting guidelines of the individual companies as well as 

the procedures and schedules of the individual accounting pro-

cesses. The control mechanisms are regularly analyzed for 

their effectiveness in preventing risks through the use of random 

samples in Internal Auditing, amongst other things. Whenever 

weaknesses have been documented, effects or potential risks for 

the consolidated financial statements are subsequently evalu-

ated. In another step, the individual risks are consolidated at com-

pany level. The risks and their corresponding effects on finan-

cial reporting are reported to the Executive Board. These reports 

form the basis for reporting vis-a-vis the Supervisory Board’s 

Auditing Committee. If control weaknesses are determined, mea-

sures for improvement are developed. The efficacy of the new 

control methods is then analyzed in the next examination cycle.
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Subsequent Report

After the conclusion of the fiscal year, we acquired various assets 

for the expansion of our business in Brazil and the US from Bel-

may Inc. and TPR Holdings, LLC. We assume that this will have no 

significant effect on the Group.

Gener al Statement on the Company ’s Economic 

Situation

The Executive Board regards the Symrise Group’s economic situa-

tion as positive. In 2011, we were again able to increase our sales 

and net income. Symrise became noticeably more financially stable 

and the company’s financing is ensured for the medium term. 

Pending the passing of the resolution at the Annual General Meet-

ing, Symrise AG shareholders will participate in the company’s 

success by receiving a higher dividend than in the previous year.

Outlook

Future Gener al Condit ions

It is difficult to assess how the overall economic conditions will af-

fect Symrise’s business activities in 2012 and 2013. The World 

Bank gave its “Global Economic Prospects” report of January 2012 

the subtitle “Uncertainties and Vulnerabilities.” The focus of fears 

is on the eurozone debt crisis and the high budget deficits and na-

tional debts of the US, Japan and Great Britain. Against this back-

drop, the World Bank reduced its global growth forecast from 3.6 % 

for both 2012 and 2013 to 2.5 % for the current year and 3.1 % for 

next year. Growth in the industrialized nations will presumably con-

tinue to slow to 1.4 % in 2012 and only slightly accelerate to 2.0 % 

in 2013. For the countries of the eurozone, the World Bank even ex-

pects economic output to decline by 0.3 % in 2012 and rise slightly 

by 1.1 % in 2013. The forecasts for the German economy – for exam-

ple, that of the German Institute for Economic Research (DIW) – 

assume GDP growth of only 0.6 % in 2012 and 2.2 % in the following 

year. By contrast, the economies of the emerging and developing 

countries should continue to grow faster than the global economy, 

or by 5.4 % and 6.0 %, respectively.

The AFF market relevant for Symrise reached a volume of € 16.2 

billion in 2011. Of this amount – according to the most recent esti-

mates by IAL Consultants – the sub-market for flavorings and 

fragrances accounts for about € 12.2 billion, while – according to 

our own estimates – the sub-market for aroma chemicals and 

cosmetic ingredients accounts for about € 4 billion. Our long-term 

estimate is for an annual, average growth rate of about 2–3 % 

for the sub-markets for flavorings and fragrances. The markets in 

Latin America and Asia could perform above average.

For the 2012 fiscal year, we continue to expect a high degree of vol-

atility for raw materials costs. Uncertainties in the individual mar-

kets point to very different developments depending on the raw ma-

terials segment. Based on individual estimates for each raw mate

rials segment, Symrise has selected different contract periods or 

spot sourcing in order to optimize costs and predictability. This is 

accompanied by an optimization of the raw materials portfolio. 

Particularly high volatility is expected in the current year in the 

areas of crude oil derivatives, sugar, citrus derivatives, mint oils 

and spices. In addition, the situation with citral and terpene deriva-

tives remains tense. In the areas of citrus and menthols, Symrise’s 

good positioning with our backward integration is working.

We anticipate that energy costs will continue to rise in the 2012 

fiscal year. The reasons for this are political developments in the 

countries of the main oil suppliers. Particularly in Germany, net-

work sharing costs are expected to rise. Symrise is countering this 

development in Germany by obtaining energy early on from the 

primary energy sources. At the same time, the focus of projects is 

on the use of energy-efficient equipment and optimization mea-

sures at existing facilities.

In the EU, the regulatory outlook for the coming years will be 

shaped by the new cosmetics directive, the so-called Union List for 

aromatic compounds, and the REACH directive. Moreover, it will 

be necessary to introduce GHS in other regions (for example, Singa-

pore and Australia). Also to be considered are amendments to 

the allergen labeling of foods in the US. With a global network of 

regulatory groups and uniform IT systems, Symrise is ideally 

positioned to cope with the growing burden of regulatory hurdles, 

particularly in the Asia region.

Future Corpor ate De velopment

We are cautiously optimistic about 2012 and are confident that our 

two business divisions, Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition, will 

grow slightly faster than the AFF market this year. We will aim to 

achieve sales growth at local currency of between 2 % and 4 %.

In 2012, Symrise will create about 200 net new jobs, predomi-

nantly in the rapidly expanding regions of Asia and Latin America. 

The number of employees in Europe, however, will remain stable. 

Worldwide personnel costs will increase by about 3 %. We will fur-

ther intensify our training efforts. To this end, Symrise has com-

mitted itself in a site safeguard agreement to hire 44 new appren-

tices per year in order to prepare qualified employees.
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Subsequent Report
General Statement on the Company’s 
Economic Situation 
Outlook
Remuneration of the Executive Board
Disclosures Required in Accordance  
with Section 315 Paragraph 4 of the HGB  
(German Commercial Code)

We will systematically proceed with the initiatives we have 

launched to continuously improve our earnings. These initiatives 

include cost reduction and price management, portfolio optimi

zation and a focus on innovative products and technologies. Assum-

ing that raw materials prices remain at the level of 2011 and ex-

change rates do not change significantly from 2011, we anticipate 

an EBITDA margin of about 20 % for 2012.

We will continue our attractive dividend policy and give our share-

holders an appropriate share in the company’s success.

Debt, as measured in terms of the key figure net debt (incl. pen-

sion provisions) to EBITDA, should remain between 2.0 and 2.5 in 

the medium term. At the end of 2012, we expect to reach the lower 

end of the range. It is possible that we will deviate from this range 

for a short period in the event of acquisitions to promote our long-

term strategy. Accordingly, we will also actively investigate acqui-

sition opportunities in 2012.

How the AFF market will develop in 2012 and 2013 strongly de-

pends on further economic developments. However, on account 

of our innovative strength, our good positioning in the developed 

and emerging markets and our unique product portfolio, we are 

confident of continuing on our profitable course with growth of 2 % 

to 4 % in 2012 and 2013. 

Gener al Statement on the Company ’s E xpected 

De velopment

The Executive Board of Symrise AG continues to assess the com

pany’s situation positively. We see our good performance as confir-

mation of our strategy, which we continued to refine in the past 

fiscal year. The strategic pillars for the further enhancement of our 

competitiveness are:

	 Growth: We strengthen our cooperation with our strategic 

customers around the world and expand our business in the 

emerging markets. 

	 Efficiency: We constantly work to improve our processes and 

concentrate on products with a high level of value creation. 

We work cost-consciously in every division. This ensures our 

profitability.

	 Portfolio: We enhance our product portfolio and tap into new 

markets and segments. We continue to expand our expertise 

in the areas of nutrition and care. This ensures our unique 

market position.

We intend to continue to grow organically in the future. Where it 

is sensible and creates added value, we will make acquisitions 

or forge strategic alliances to ensure ourselves access to new tech-

nologies, new markets and customers and ensure that we can 

obtain scarce raw materials.

Remuner ation of the E xecutive Board

The remuneration of the Executive Board and a disclosure of the 

remuneration of individual Executive Board members can be found 

in the Corporate Governance Statement. The remuneration report 

is a component of the Management Report.

Disclosures Required in Accordance  

with Section 315 Par agr aph 4 of the HGB  

(German Commercial Code)

The share capital of Symrise AG remains unchanged at € 118,173,300 

and is divided into no-par-value bearer shares with a nominal value 

of € 1. The associated rights and duties are set forth in the relevant 

provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act. There are no dif-

ferent types of shares with different rights and obligations. Nor do 

any special rights or rights of control exist for any shareholders.

Prudential plc., London, United Kingdom, informed us on behalf of 

its M&G subsidiaries in February 2011 that its share in Symrise AG 

has exceeded the 10 % threshold. (Further details can be found in 

note 48 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement).

The appointment and removal of members of the Executive Board is 

based on Sections 84 and 85 of the Stock Corporation Act. Amend-

ments to the articles of incorporation are based on Sections 133 and 

179 of the Stock Corporation Act.

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the 

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital of the company 

until May 17, 2016, by up to € 23 million through one or more issu-

ances of new, no-par-value bearer shares against contribution in 

cash and/or in kind. The new shares may be underwritten by one or 

more financial institutions determined by the Executive Board, 

in order for such shares to be offered to the shareholders (indirect 

subscription right). The Executive Board is authorized, subject 

to the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription 

rights of existing shareholders in the following instances:

a)	in the event of a capital increase against contribution in kind, if 

the capital is increased in order to acquire businesses, business 

units or participating interests in businesses, or in order to grant 
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shares to employees of the company or its affiliates in compliance 

with applicable law;

b)	for the purpose of issuing a maximum number of 1,000,000 new 

shares to employees of the company and affiliated companies, 

within the constraints imposed by law;

c)	insofar as this is necessary in order to grant holders of warrants 

and convertible bonds issued by the company or its subsidiaries 

a right to subscribe for new shares to the extent that they would 

be entitled to such a right when exercising the warrants or 

options or when meeting obligations arising from the warrants 

or options;

d)	to exclude fractional amounts from the subscription rights;

e)	in the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, if, at 

the time of the final determination of the issue price by the Exec

utive Board, the issue price of the new shares is not significantly 

lower – within the meaning of Sec. 203 (1) and (2) and Sec. 186 

(3) sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act – than the 

market price of shares already traded on the stock exchange of 

the same type and with the same attributes and the aggregate 

amount of the new shares for which subscription rights are 

excluded does not exceed 10 % of the share capital either at the 

time this authorization comes into force or at the time this 

authorization is exercised. This restriction is to include shares 

which were or will be sold or issued without subscription 

rights during the period of validity of this authorization, up to 

the time of its exercise, by reason of other authorizations in 

direct or corresponding application of Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 

of the Stock Corporation Act.

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the 

Supervisory Board, to determine the further particulars of the 

capital increase and its implementation including the scope of the 

shareholder rights and the conditions for the issuing of shares.

Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to purchase trea-

sury shares amounting up to 10 % of the current share capital until 

May 10, 2015. The purchased shares together with other treasury 

shares that are held by the company or are attributed to it according 

to section 71a et seq. of the Stock Corporation Act may not at any 

time exceed 10 % of the share capital. The authorization cannot be 

used for the trade of treasury shares.

a)	For one or more purposes, the authorization may be invoked by 

the company, or by third parties for the account of the company, 

in one total amount or in a number of partial amounts either 

singly or on several separate occasions.

b)	The Executive Board has the choice of making the acquisition 

either through the stock exchange or in the form of a published 

purchase offer, or respectively, in the form of a published 

request for tender of such an offer.

	 aa) �If the acquisition of shares is made through the stock ex-

change, the consideration per share paid by the company 

(excluding ancillary acquisition costs) may not exceed or 

undercut the opening auction price quoted on the Xetra® 

dealing system (or a comparable replacement system) on 

the day of the stock exchange dealing by more than 5 %.

	 bb) �If the acquisition is made in the form of a published purchase 

offer, or in the form of a published request for tender of a 

purchase offer, the purchase price offered per share, or the 

limits of the purchase price spread per share (excluding 

ancillary acquisition costs), may not exceed or undercut the 

average closing price quoted on the Xetra® dealing system 

(or a comparable replacement system) on the last three stock 

exchange dealing days before the date of publication of the 

offer, or respectively, the date of publication of a request for 

tender of a purchase offer, by more than 10 %. If, following 

publication of the purchase offer, or respectively, following 

publication for tender of a purchase offer, significant fluctu

ations occur in the applicable reference price, then an adjust-

ment may be made to the offer, or respectively, to the request 

for tender of such an offer. In such circumstances, reference 

will be made to the average price of the last three stock 

exchange dealing dates before publication of any potential 

adjustment. The purchase offer, or respectively, the request 

for tender of such an offer, may include further conditions. 

In as much as the offer is oversubscribed, or respectively, in 

the case of a request for tender of an offer, inasmuch as not 

all equivalent offers can be accepted, then acceptance must 

occur on a quota basis. Preferential acceptance of small 

quantities of up to 100 shares on offer is permissible.

c)	The Executive Board is authorized to use company shares that 

are acquired on the basis of this authorization for all permitted 

legal purposes, but especially for the following purposes:

	 aa) �The shares may be redeemed without the necessity for the 

redemption or its execution to be authorized by a further res-

olution of a general meeting of shareholders. In a simplified 

040-081 Lagebericht (E) (2012-03-07).indd   80 07.03.12   17:10



81Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

Disclosures Required in Accordance  
with Section 315 Paragraph 4 of the HGB  
(German Commercial Code)
Corporate Governance Statement

procedure, they may be redeemed without a formal reduction 

in capital by adjustment of the proportional amount appli

cable to the remaining no-par-value shares making up the 

company’s share capital. The redemption may be limited 

to only a portion of the shares acquired. The authorization for 

redemption of shares may be invoked repeatedly. If the re-

demption is performed using the simplified procedure, then 

the Executive Board is authorized to adjust the number of 

no-par-value shares contained in the company’s articles of 

incorporation.

	 bb) �For disposal purposes – also in the case of disposal other 

than through the stock exchange or by means of an offer to 

the shareholders – if the shares are disposed of against 

payment in cash at a price that is not significantly less than 

the quoted stock exchange price at the time of disposal for 

shares of the same type.

	 cc) �The shares may be sold in consideration for contributions 

in kind, particularly in connection with the acquisition 

of other entities, parts of entities or investments in entities 

as well as in connection with business mergers.

d)	The authorizations listed under paragraph c) sub-paragraphs aa) 

to cc) above, also cover the disposition of company shares that 

are acquired pursuant to Section 71 d sentence 5 of the Stock 

Corporation Act.

e)	The authorizations listed under c) above, may be made use of 

singly or repeatedly, wholly or partly, individually or jointly; the 

authorizations under c) sub-paragraphs bb) and cc) may also be 

made use of by entities dependent on the company, or by entities 

which are owned in the majority by the company, or for their 

account, or for the account of third parties acting on behalf of 

the company.

f)	 Shareholder subscription rights in respect of this treasury stock 

are excluded to the extent that these shares are disposed of in 

accordance with the aforementioned authorization contained in 

paragraph c) sub-paragraphs bb) and cc).

g)	The Supervisory Board may prescribe that measures taken by 

the Executive Board based on this resolution by the annual 

general meeting of the shareholders may only be executed with 

its permission.

The employment contracts for the members of the Executive Board 

at Symrise AG contain a change of control clause. The clause 

provides that ordinary Executive Board members, who are recalled 

without serious cause or mutually agree to resign from their Exec

utive Board positions after a change of control, but before the end of 

their contract term, are entitled to compensation for the time re-

maining on their employment contracts, or at least severance pay 

amounting to three years’ worth of remuneration. Severance and 

compensation cannot exceed the overall limit of 150 % of the sever-

ance cap according to the provisions of the German Corporate 

Governance Code from May 26, 2010. If the CEO is recalled without 

serious cause or mutually agrees to resign from his position after 

a change of control, but before the end of his contract term, he is en-

titled to compensation for the time remaining on his employment 

contract, or at least severance pay amounting to three years’ worth 

of remuneration. Regarding the employment contract of the Chief 

Executive Officer and effective from November 1, 2012, to October 

31, 2014, the company will deviate from the 23rd recommendation 

issued by the Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, paragraph 5 of the code’s 

current version of May 26, 2010, published in the official section of 

the electronic Federal Gazette by the German Federal Ministry of 

Justice on July 2, 2010.

No further disclosure requirements exist pursuant to Section 315 

paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code.

Corpor ate Governance Statement

The Corporate Governance Statement has been made available 

on Symrise AG’s website at www.symrise.com > en > investor- 

relations > corporate-governance > corporate-governance- 

statement.html.
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Vanilla is the most important sweet flavor in the world. Symrise  
offers more than 500 different vanilla flavors. Unlike any other 

flavor provider, we are fully integrated into the Madagascan  
economy. Our approach is a pioneering example of the symbiosis  

of sustainability and business success.

Madagascar
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Our strategic approach of sustainable procurement ensures that we have long -term ac -

cess to the highest qualit y vanilla , which can even be certified if desired. Purchasing,  

fermentation and extraction: All of this is done locally in Madagascar. Thanks to our in -

volvement right from the start of the supply chain, we can ensure the social, ecological 

and economical sustainability of our vanilla. This enables us to create added value for 

everyone involved: For the farmers and their communities, for our customers and their 

consumers and for Symrise.

6,000
The number of farmers who feed their  
families by growing vanilla for Symrise

1874
The year vanilla laid the foundation for our company 
and for the entire modern flavor industry

3,000
The number of blossoms that need to be pollinated  
to produce 1 kg of fermented vanilla beans 5

The number of years that pass between planting the 
seeds and the initial harvest of the vanilla beans

madagascar
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“�At Symrise, we don’t just buy our vanilla from  
Madagascar. We also live and work there. Together 
with our partners, we support the local farmers  
in cultivating vanilla of the highest quality while also 
protecting the environment. Symrise thinks diffe-
rently about vanilla – and our actions bear this out. 
From the blossom to the bean, we ensure the sus-
tainable future of vanilla – both for our customers 
and for consumers.”
Alain Bourdon, Managing Director Symrise Madagascar
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Consolidated Income Statement – January 1 to December 31,  2011

T€ Notes 2010 2011 

Sales  4,5 1,571,890 1,583,647

Cost of sales 6 – 890,182 – 930,043

Gross profit   681,708 653,604

    

Other operating income 7 7,736 12,914

Selling and marketing expenses  9 – 252,774 – 245,782

Research and development expenses 10 – 107,859 – 107,593

Administration expenses 11 – 83,177 – 76,849

Other operating expenses   – 1,223 – 1,869

Income from operations/EBIT   244,411 234,425

    

Financial income   6,392 1,978

Financial expenses   – 73,313 – 40,522

Financial result 12 – 66,921 – 38,544

     

Income before income taxes   177,490 195,881

Income taxes 13 – 43,990 – 49,346

      

Net income   133,500 146,535

     

Earnings per share (€) 
– diluted and basic 15 1,13 1,24
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Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

NotesConsolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

T€ Notes 2010 2011 

Net income   133,500 146,535

    

Exchange differences resulting from the translation of foreign business operations 2.6   

 Exchange differences that occurred during the fiscal year  62,751 – 2,958

 Losses from net investments  – 2,920 – 3,318

 Recognized in the consolidated income statement  0 1,749

 Exchange differences from non-current assets held for sale (IFRS 5)  – 224 -38

Financial assets available for sale    

 Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  – 14 – 25

Cash flow hedge (interest rate hedges) 12   

 Result of operations recorded during the fiscal year  5,900 0

 Recognized in the consolidated income statement  19,743 0

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges) 37   

 Expenses recorded during the fiscal year  0 – 993

 Recognized in the consolidated income statement  0 257

Income taxes payable on components of other comprehensive income 13 – 6,496 1,313

Other comprehensive income   78,740 – 4,013

Total comprehensive income   212,240 142,522
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

T€ Notes December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 16 112,215 118,608

Trade receivables 17 261,476 290,271

Inventories 18 305,031 313,011

Financial assets* 19 3,109 11,673

Prepayments, other assets and receivables* 20 44,406 58,408

Current tax assets  8,379 9,445

Assets held for sale 21 1,607 373

  736,223 801,789

    

Non-current assets    

Deferred tax assets 22 34,135 19,821

Other assets and receivables* 23 1,023 3,660

Financial assets* 24 5,485 7,186

Intangible assets 25 863,394 834,269

Property, plant and equipment 26 418,738 431,451

  1,322,775 1,296,387

    

ASSETS  2,058,998 2,098,176
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NotesConsolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

T€ Notes December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 

LIABILITIES    

    

Current liabilities    

Trade payables* 27 121,048 118,237

Borrowings 28 178,150 138,365

Other liabilities* 29 80,571 104,058

Other provisions 30 5,271 3,527

Financial liabilities 31 0 2,018

Current tax liabilities 32 65,090 41,910

  450,130 408,115

    

Non-current liabilities    

Borrowings 33 455,332 461,833

Other liabilities* 34 9,184 6,009

Other provisions* 35 11,264 13,845

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 36 212,414 221,618

Deferred tax liabilities 22 78,557 73,021

  766,751 776,326

    

Total liabilities  1,216,881 1,184,441

    

EQUITY 37   

Share capital  118,173 118,173

Capital reserve  970,911 970,911

Revaluation reserve  2,765 2,808

Fair value reserve  4 – 15

Cash flow hedge reserve  0 – 534

Cumulative translation differences  – 1,838 – 5,341

Accumulated deficit  – 247,898 – 172,267

Total equity  842,117 913,735

     

Liabilities and equity  2,058,998 2,098,176

* For the sake of comparison, items from the previous year have been reclassified. See note 2.1.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

T€ Notes 2010 2011 

Net income  133,500 146,535

Income taxes 13 43,990 49,346

Net interest expense 12 58,722 39,088

Sub-total   236,212 234,969

Amortization, depreciation and impairment losses on non-current assets 25, 26 92,574 81,513

Reduction in provisions for pensions  – 1,586 – 3,977

Changes in non-current provisions and liabilities*  1,596 – 5,919

Changes in non-current assets*  270 – 2,085

Gains (–)/losses (+) from the disposal of non-current assets   1,069 – 260

Unrealized and realized losses from IAS 39 fair value adjustments   6,281 429

Unrealized translation differences   – 2,888 6,067

Sub-total   97,316 75,768

Cash flow before working capital changes   333,528 310,737

Increase in trade receivables or other assets that are not attributable  
to investing or financing activities*  – 18,062 – 50,474

Increase in inventories*  – 53,670 – 9,313

Increase in trade payables or other liabilities that are not attributable  
to investing or financing activities*  18,037 14,166

Income taxes paid  – 44,758 – 64,208

Net cash flow from operating activities   235,075 200,908

Payments for acquisitions of subsidiaries  
(2011: conditional subsequent purchase price installments)  – 2,003 – 203

Payments for investing in intangible non-current assets  – 13,186 – 9,540

Payments for investing in property, plant and equipment  – 57,335 – 47,685

Payments for investing in non-current financial assets   – 763 – 2,843

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets   4,799 1,428

Cash flow from investing activities   – 68,488 – 58,843

Proceeds from bank borrowings  251,436 82,763

Redemption of bank borrowings  – 670,872 – 121,829

Proceeds from other financial liabilities  429,053 0

Redemption of other financial liabilities  – 47,500 0

Cash effective transaction costs  – 6,353 0

Interest paid  – 41,096 – 21,874

Cash effective interest received  925 219

Dividends paid 37 – 59,087 – 70,904

Cash flow from financing activities   – 143,494 – 131,625

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   23,093 10,440

Effects of changes in exchange rates   8,582 – 4,047

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1  80,540 112,215

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 16 112,215 118,608

* In order to improve the clarity of presentation, some immaterial items from the previous year were reclassified.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

NotesConsolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equit y*

T€
Share 

capital
Capital 

reserve

Revalu
ation 

reserve

Fair  
value  

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
(currency 

hedges)

Cumul ative 
tr ansl ation 
differences

Accumu -
l ated 

deficit
Total  

equity

Balance as of January 1, 2010 118,173 970,911 2,718 – 18,300 0 – 62,159 – 322,379 688,964

Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 133,500 133,500

Other comprehensive income 0 0 47 18,304 0 60,321 68 78,740

Total comprehensive income 0 0 47 18,304 0 60,321 133,568 212,240

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 -59,087 – 59,087

Balance as of December 31, 2010 118,173 970,911 2,765 4 0 – 1,838 – 247,898 842,117

         

Balance as of January 1, 2011 118,173 970,911 2,765 4 0 – 1,838 – 247,898 842,117

Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 146,535 146,535

Other comprehensive income 0 0 43 – 19 – 534 – 3,503 0 – 4,013

Total comprehensive income 0 0 43 – 19 – 534 – 3,503 146,535 142,522

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 70,904 – 70,904

Balance as of December 31, 2011 118,173 970,911 2,808 – 15 – 534 – 5,341 – 172,267 913,735

* Further information on the development of changes in equity can be found in note 37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1    General Information

Symrise Aktiengesellschaft (Symrise AG), a stock corporation 

under German law, principally produces, markets and sells flavors, 

fragrances, aroma chemicals and cosmetic ingredients. It is the 

parent company of the Symrise Group with its registered office at 

Muehlenfeldstrasse 1, 37603 Holzminden, Germany.

The shares of Symrise AG are authorized for trading on the stock 

exchange in the regulated market of the Frankfurt Securities Ex­

change and are listed in the Prime Standard segment of the MDAX®.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management 

report of Symrise AG (hereinafter also referred to as “Symrise”, 

“the Symrise Group” or “we”) for the fiscal year ending December 

31, 2011, were, by resolution of the Executive Board, submitted 

to the Supervisory Board’s Auditing Committee for review on Feb­

ruary 16, 2012 and subsequently approved for publication.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management 

report of Symrise AG have been prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the Interna­

tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, as well as the 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpreta­

tions Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union and 

the supplementary commercial law provisions of Sec. 315a (1) of the 

German HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch” or Commercial Code] that 

were valid at the balance sheet reporting date.

The following explanations include those disclosures and com­

ments that are to be provided as notes to the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS in addition to the information 

contained in the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

financial position, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and the consolidated statement of cash flows. They represent an 

essential component of these consolidated financial statements.

For the purposes of clearer and better organized presentation, 

some reporting lines included in the consolidated statement of finan­

cial position and the consolidated income statement group together 

individual items; supplementary information relating to such items 

is separately presented in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. The consolidated income statement has been prepared 

using the cost of sales method. 

2    Accounting Policies

2.1 �Basis of Prepar ation of the Financial 

Statements

The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared on 

the basis of the historical cost of procurement and manufacturing 

with the exception of derivative financial instruments that are 

measured at fair value and recognized with effect on profit and loss, 

as well as financial assets available for sale, which are also mea­

sured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and 

amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand euros (T€) unless 

otherwise explicitly indicated; in this process, rounding differences 

may arise. The individual financial statements of the companies 

included in the consolidation were either prepared at the balance 

sheet reporting date used for preparation of the consolidated finan­

cial statements or, in cases where the normal balance sheet report­

ing date of any company differed from December 31, 2011, then 

additional financial statements were especially prepared as of this 

date.

We have reclassified certain line items in our consolidated finan­

cial statements as part of the revision of our Group guidelines and 

accordingly adjusted the figures from the previous year. In the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, we have explained 

the changes in regards to both value and reasoning. In our view, 

these adjustments have not materially impacted the consolidated 

financial statements for previous reporting periods. 
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2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopted are generally consistent with those 

applied in the previous year. In addition, the Symrise Group has 

adopted those new or revised standards and interpretations that 

were mandatory for application in the fiscal year.

	 Improvements to IFRS 2010: As part of the annual improve­

ment project, eleven amendments were made to six standards and 

one interpretation. The adjustment to the formulations of indi­

vidual IFRS are meant to enhance the clarity of the existing reg­

ulations. Other changes affect accounting, recognition or mea­

surement. The standards in question are IAS 1, IAS 27 (in con­

junction with IAS 21, 28 and 31), IAS 34, IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 7 

and the interpretation IFRIC 13. The changes had no notable im­

pact on Symrise’s consolidated financial statements.

	 Revised IAS 24 (“Related Party Disclosures”) simplifies the dis­

closure requirements regarding government-related entities 

and clarifies the definition of a related party. The changes are 

applicable to fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 

2011. Symrise did not experience any change in its assessment 

of related parties resulting from the changes to IAS 24. 

	 IAS 32 (“Financial Instruments: Presentation”) requires that 

certain rights, options or warrants for the purchase of a set num­

ber of equity instruments for a fixed amount are to be classified 

as equity instruments. The currency of the issue price is insignif­

icant. The changes are applicable to fiscal years commencing on 

or after February 1, 2010. The changes had no effect on Symrise.

	 IFRIC 14 (“Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement”) 

is relevant in those cases where a company is obliged to make 

minimum funding payments to external pension assets and pays 

advance premiums on these to fulfill the minimum funding 

requirements. The change became mandatory as of January 1, 

2011, and had no effect on Symrise. 

	 IFRIC 19 (“Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments”) indicates the accounting requirements for cases 

where an entity fully or partially settles a financial liability by 

issuing shares or other equity instruments. The interpretation is 

mandatory for periods which begin on or after July 1, 2010, and 

has no effect on Symrise.

Along with the new standards and interpretations listed below that 

can have a substantial impact on the consolidated financial state­

ments, a series of additional standards and interpretations were 

adopted by the IASB and IFRIC, that are not yet mandatory and 

will have no notable influence on the consolidated financial state­

ments. Symrise is currently not planning to apply new or modi­

fied standards and interpretations before they become mandatory. 

Unless otherwise noted, the effects on Symrise’s consolidated 

financial statements are currently being assessed.

	 Revised IAS 19 (“Employee Benefits”): In addition to more 

extensive disclosure requirements on employee benefits, the fol­

lowing changes are of particular note in the revised standard:

	 Currently a choice exists on how unexpected fluctuations in pen­

sion obligations, called actuarial gains and losses, are presented 

in the report. These can be recognized either in (a) profit or loss 

in the income statement, (b) in other comprehensive income 

(OCI) or (c) delayed using the corridor method. With the revision 

of IAS 19, this will be replaced with a more transparent and 

comparable presentation so that only a direct recognition in other 

comprehensive income will be permitted in the future.

	 Additionally, the expected income from plan assets is currently 

being determined due to the subjective expectations of manage­

ment on the value development of the investment portfolio. In 

applying IAS 19 (revised 2011), only a standard interest rate on 

plan assets, amounting to the current discount rate of the pen­

sion obligations, is permitted.

	 The revision is to become mandatory, subject to its yet to be 

completed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or 

after January 1, 2013.

	 Since we currently use the corridor method, this revision would 

result in an increase in pension provisions of € 69 million accord­

ing to its status as of December 31, 2011. With the switch from 

the corridor method to the new method, Symrise’s consolidated 

income statement will be free of effects from actuarial gains 

or losses (e.g. from interest rate fluctuations) since these must 

be recognized in other comprehensive income in the future.
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	 IFRS 9 (“Financial Instruments”), will replace the reporting 

and measurement of financial instruments according to IAS 39.

	 Financial assets will only be classified and measured in two 

groups: at amortized cost and at fair value. The group of financial 

assets measured at amortized costs consists of such financial 

assets that only have claim to interest and redemption payments 

at scheduled intervals and that are also held within the frame­

work of a business model whose goal is to retain assets. All other 

financial assets belong to the group measured at fair value. 

Under certain circumstances, financial assets from the first cat­

egory can, as was previously possible too, be designated in the 

fair value category (“fair value option”).

	 Changes in value for financial assets in the fair value category 

are generally to be recognized in profit or loss. Certain equity 

instruments can however retain this freedom of choice and rec­

ognize value changes in other comprehensive income. Dividend 

rights from these assets must however be recognized in profit or 

loss. The regulations on financial liabilities are generally adopted 

from IAS 39.

	 IFRS 9 is to become mandatory, subject to its yet to be com­

pleted adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or after 

January 1, 2015.

	 IFRS 13 (“Fair Value Measurement”): Fair value measurements 

in IFRS reports are uniformly regulated with this standard. 

All fair value measurements required by other standards are to 

be made according to the uniform guidelines set out in IFRS 13 

with the exception of IAS 17 and IFRS 2, which will continue to 

have their own regulations.

	 Fair value is defined as the exit price according to IFRS 13, mean­

ing the price that would have been attained through the sale of 

an asset or the price that would have been paid in order to trans­

fer a liability. As with current fair value measurements of finan­

cial assets, a 3 tier hierarchical system will be used with tiers 

based on independently observable market prices. The new fair 

value measurement can lead to differing values as compared to 

the previous regulations.

	 The new standard is to become mandatory, subject to its yet to 

be completed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or 

after January 1, 2013.

	 Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Com-

prehensive Income: This amendment changes the presenta­

tion of other comprehensive income in the statement of compre­

hensive income. The items of other income that are later reclas­

sified in the income statement, known as recycling, are now to be 

presented separately from the items of other income that will 

never be reclassified. As long as the items are recognized gross, 

meaning without balancing effects from taxes, the taxes are 

then no longer to be recognized in one total, but rather designated 

to the two groups of items.

	 The revision is to become mandatory, subject to its yet to be 

completed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or 

after July 1, 2012.

2.3 �Ke y Judgments and Estimates and Sources of 

Estimation Uncertaint y

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with IFRS makes it necessary for the Executive Board to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions which influence the applica­

tion of accounting policies, the amounts at which assets and lia­

bilities are recognized, how contingent liabilities are disclosed at 

the balance sheet reporting date as well as income and expenses. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Our judgments, estimates and assumptions are based on historical 

information and planning data as well as information on economic 

conditions in the industries and regions where we and our custom­

ers actively operate. Changes to these factors could adversely 

impact our estimates. Our estimates, and the assumptions they are 

based on, are regularly reviewed. Although we believe our esti­

mates on future developments to be reasonable in consideration of 

the underlying uncertainties, actual results can vary from the 

estimates we provide.

Any changes in values that result from such a review are recog­

nized in the reporting period in which the change is made and any 

other future reporting periods that are impacted. 

In the following sections we list the accounting policies that are 

most often affected by judgments, estimates and assumptions, and 

which can substantially impact the figures presented in the report. 

Recognizing these uncertainties is necessary for a clear assessment 

of the net assets, financial position and results of operations:
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Assessing Impairment of Goodwill ,  Other  

Intangible Asse ts ,  Property ,  Pl ant and Equipment, 

and De termining the Useful Lif e

At least once a year, the Group reviews whether goodwill is 

impaired. This requires an estimate of the recoverable amounts of 

the cash-generating units to which these assets are allocated. In 

order to estimate the recoverable amount, the Symrise Group has 

to estimate expected future cash flows deriving from these cash-

generating units and also choose a suitable discount rate in order 

to calculate the present value of these cash flows. To do this, we 

apply certain assumptions and estimates on future cash flows that 

are of a complex nature and are associated with considerable dis­

cretionary judgments and assumptions regarding future develop­

ments. These can be influenced by a number of factors, for exam­

ple through changes to our internal forecasts and the estimate of 

our weighted average cost of capital (WACC). Due to these factors, 

actual cash flows and values can widely vary from the forecast fu­

ture cash flows and values that were determined by means of the 

discounted cash flow. Although we believe that our assumptions and 

estimates made in the past were reasonable, differing assumptions 

and estimates could substantially impact our net assets, financial 

position and results of operations. Additionally, the results of the 

impairment tests for goodwill are influenced by the allocation of this 

goodwill to cash-generating units. Further information can be 

found in note 25.

All of our intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant 

and equipment (excluding land), have a limited useful life. That’s 

why the depreciable amount is to be systematically allocated over 

the respective useful life of intangible assets and property, plant 

and equipment. Discretionary judgments are required for the deter­

mination of the useful life for an intangible asset or property, 

plant or equipment since Symrise estimates the period in which 

the asset will likely provide economic value.

The amortization period affects the expenses for scheduled amor­

tizations recognized in the individual periods. Further information 

can be found in notes 2.6, 25 and 26.

Recogniti on of Intangible Asse ts Gener ated 

Internally through De velopment Activ iti es

Intangible assets generated internally through developments are 

capitalized according to the accounting principles presented in 

note 2.6. The decision as to whether an internally generated intan­

gible asset is to be reported as an intangible asset is connected 

with considerable judgments. Particularly the decision as to whether 

the activities are to be considered research and development activ­

ities and whether the conditions for classification as an intangible 

asset have been met. This requires assumptions regarding market 

conditions, customer demand and other future developments. The 

decision as to whether the intangible asset can be used or sold is 

the task of management, which must make the decision based on 

assumptions on the size of future cash flows from assets, the ap­

plicable interest rates and the period of inflow from expected future 

cash flows. Further information can be found in note 25.

Recogniti on of Current Income Ta xes and  

Deferred Ta xes

Due to the international nature of Symrise’s business activities, 

sales are generated in numerous countries outside of Germany and 

are therefore subject to the tax laws of the particular country’s 

legal system. Our ordinary business also consists of transactions 

where the final tax effects are uncertain, for example regarding 

transfer prices and cost allocation contracts between Symrise com­

panies. Furthermore, the income taxes paid by Symrise are inher­

ently the object of ongoing audits by domestic and foreign tax au­

thorities. For this reason, discretionary judgments are needed to 

determine our global income tax provisions. We have estimated the 

development of uncertain taxation assessments based on current 

tax laws and our interpretations of them. These judgments can have 

substantial impacts on our income tax expenses, income tax pro­

visions and our profit after taxes.
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Every year, we assess whether the tax loss carried forward can be 

used and offset with future tax gains in a reasonable period. When­

ever this is not possible, deferred tax assets are diminished. This 

requires that we make estimates, judgments and assumptions about 

the tax gains of every Group company. In determining our ability 

to use our deferred tax assets, we consider all available information 

including taxable income generated in the past and forecast taxable 

income in the periods in which the deferred tax assets will likely be 

realized. In determining future taxable income, the expected mar­

ket conditions as well as other facts and circumstances are consid­

ered. Every negative change to these underlying facts or our esti­

mates and assumptions can result in a reduction to the balance of 

our deferred tax assets. Further details can be found in note 22.

Pensions and Other Post- Employment Benefits

The expenses deriving from defined benefit pension plans and 

Symrise’s obligation to provide additional post-employment health­

care benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. 

The actuarial valuation is made on the basis of assumptions pertain­

ing to discount rates, anticipated income from plan assets, future 

wage and salary increases, mortality rates and future pension in­

creases and is therefore associated with significant judgmental 

decisions. 

Symrise sets the discounting factors based on the yield that could 

be obtained at the balance sheet reporting date for blue chip, fixed 

interest corporate bonds with a corresponding term and currency 

designation. If such yield information is not available, the discount­

ing factors are based on market yields for government bonds. 

The anticipated income from plan assets is determined on publicly 

available and internal capital market studies and forecasts for 

every asset category. Due to the fluctuating market and economic 

situation, the assumptions used may differ from actual develop­

ments which may result in significant impacts on the pension and 

other post-employment benefit obligations. Due to the long-term 

nature of such plans, these estimates are subject to great uncer­

tainty. Further details can be found in note 36.

Me asurement of Tr ade Receivables

Determining the likelihood of collecting receivables involves 

making estimates and judgments that are based on the financial 

standing of the respective customer, current economic develop­

ments and the analysis of historical debt losses on a portfolio basis. 

These factors are subject to considerable changes. This applies 

to both individual receivables as well as the entire portfolio. In this 

manner, we must judge whether the occurrence of a debt loss is 

probable and whether the amount of such a loss can be reliably esti­

mated. The determination of general individual value adjustments 

for the remaining receivables on the basis of previous debt losses 

is associated with significant discretionary judgments since 

the past is not necessarily representative of future developments. 

Changes to our estimates in relation to the value adjustments 

on receivables can have considerable impacts on the assets and 

expenses recognized in our consolidated financial statements. 

Beyond this, consolidated earnings could also be negatively influ­

enced if actual debt losses are notably greater than those estimated. 

Further information can be found in note 17.

Recogniti on of Provisions for Litig  ation  

and Share - based Remuner ation Pl ans

The determination of provisions is associated with estimates to a 

substantial degree. Symrise is confronted with legal action in 

various jurisdictions and regulatory suits. These suits can lead to 

criminal or civil sanctions, fines or disgorgements for Symrise. 

We monitor the status of every case at least once every quarter and 

determine the potential financial and business risk associated with 

such cases. In determining whether a provision is necessary, and if 

so, how large it should be, or whether a declaration of a contingent 

liability is necessary requires significant judgments. Due to the un­

certainty relating to these cases, the provisions are based on the 

best-possible information that is available at the time.

Symrise guarantees share-based remuneration programs with cash 

compensation. In estimating the fair value of our share-based 

programs, we rely on certain assumptions that are in part related 

to the expected volatility of the future share price. Furthermore, 

the amount of the final payout for these remuneration programs 

depends on the price of Symrise stock as of the set target date. 

These assumptions can impact the determination of the fair value 

and therefore the amount and distribution of our expenses for 

share-based remuneration programs. Changes to these factors could 

have a considerable influence on the fair value estimates made 

according to the option price model and future payments. Further 

information can be found in notes 30, 35 and 43.
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Assump tions and Estimates Regarding  

Other Individual Items on the Statement of 

F inancial Positi on

Assumptions and estimates are also necessary for the measure­

ment of other contingent liabilities, other provisions and derivatives. 

The assumptions and their corresponding estimates are explained 

in note 2.6. In individual cases, the actual values can vary from the 

assumptions and estimates made meaning that significant adjust­

ments to the carrying amounts of the affected assets or liabilities 

need to be made. 

Changes to estimates are recognized with effect on profit and loss in 

accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors” at the time they become known. 

2.4 �Scope of Consolidation and Interests  

in Associated Companies

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company 

Symrise AG as well as the companies that it has under its control 

(subsidiary companies). Subsidiary companies are those companies 

in which Symrise AG holds the majority of voting rights and over 

which it exercises influence over business and financial policies in 

order to benefit from their activities. 

Associated companies are companies over which Symrise AG 

exercises significant influence over business and financial policies 

but which are not subsidiary companies or joint ventures.

 
January 1, 

2011 Additions Disposals
December 31, 

2011

Fully consolidated subsidiaries     

Domestic 11 0 0 11

Foreign 49 0 2 47

     

Companies accounted for using the equity method     

Foreign 1 0 0 1

Total 61 0 2 59

 

The disposals in the scope of consolidation in 2011 resulted from 

the liquidation of Symrise Export Ltd., China, and Ragco (Pty) Ltd., 

South Africa.

As there has been no great change in the scope of the consolidation 

in comparison to the previous year, comparability against the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations from the previous 

year’s consolidated financial statements has not been notably 

affected. 

2.5 �Principles De termining the Inclusion of 

Subsidiary and Associated Companies in the 

Consolidation

Full Consolidation

The financial statements of the parent company and those of its 

subsidiaries are prepared as of the balance sheet reporting date 

using uniform accounting policies. For this purpose, adjustments 
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are made to compensate for any differences in recognition and 

measurement deriving from local accounting policies. 

All internal balances and transactions, and unrealized gains de­

riving from internal transactions are eliminated. Unrealized losses 

deriving from internal transactions are also eliminated unless 

Group procurement and manufacturing costs cannot be recovered 

in the future. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, i.e. 

from the date on which a controlling influence is gained by the 

Group. Inclusion in the consolidated financial statements ceases on 

the date when the parent company’s controlling influence ends. 

Assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities deriving from busi­

ness acquisitions are generally recognized at their fair values at the 

time of acquisition. In circumstances where the acquisition costs 

relating to the business acquisition exceed the proportionate share 

of newly measured net assets of the acquired object, the amount 

of such difference is recognized as goodwill. The expenses and in­

come of any subsidiary companies that are acquired are included 

in the consolidated income statement from the point in time at 

which the subsidiary is acquired. 

The Equity  Me thod of Accounting

Associated companies are accounted for using the equity method 

if Symrise does not hold a controlling interest but is still able to 

exercise a significant influence over the business and financial 

policies of these entities.

They are initially recognized in the consolidated financial state­

ments at their cost of acquisition. After the date of acquisition, 

Symrise’s share in the result of the associated company is recog­

nized in the consolidated income statement. The share of any 

changes to equity which do not impact profit or loss is recognized 

directly in other consolidated comprehensive income or Group 

equity. Any accumulated changes that occur after the date of acqui­

sition accordingly increase or decrease the carrying amount of 

the investment in the associated company. 

Profits and losses deriving from transactions between the Symrise 

Group and the associated company are eliminated in proportion 

to the investment share. The financial statements of the associated 

company are prepared using uniform accounting policies on the 

same balance sheet reporting date as that used for the consolidated 

financial statements.

We did not separately disclose our investment Therapeutic Peptides 

Inc., USA due to a lack of significance. 

2.6 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Foreign Currency Tr ansl ation

The subsidiaries of Symrise AG maintain their accounting records 

in the respective functional currency. The functional currency is 

the currency that is predominantly used or generated as cash. As 

most subsidiaries conduct their business independently for finan­

cial, commercial and organizational purposes, in most cases the 

functional currency is the local currency. 

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional cur­

rency is not the euro are translated into euros by the Symrise 

Group at the rates applicable at the respective period closing date, 

irrespective of whether they have been hedged or not. Expenses 

and income are translated at transaction-based rates. Any transla­

tion differences deriving from this process are disclosed by the 

Symrise Group in Group equity as a separate item: “Cumulative 

translation differences”.

Insofar as the settlement of a monetary item representing an out­

standing account receivable from or account payable to a foreign 

business operation is neither planned nor probable in the foresee­

able future, such an item represents part of the net investment in 

this foreign business operation. Any translation differences result­

ing from such items are recognized in equity as “cumulative trans­

lation differences” and are reclassified from equity to the consoli­

dated income statement at the time of the disposal or redemption of 

the net investment.

Equity components are translated at the historical rates of ex­

change effective at the time they were treated as an addition from 

a Group perspective. Any translation differences resulting from 

this process are recognized in equity as “cumulative translation 

differences”. When Group companies are removed from the scope 

of consolidation or interest is reduced through sale, capital reduction 

or liquidation, the “cumulative translation differences”, which had 

been recognized in equity up to this point, will now be proportion­

ately reclassified in profit and loss in the same period. 

Transactions designated in foreign currencies are translated by 

us into the respective functional currency of our subsidiary compa­

nies at the rate of exchange that is valid on the day of the transac­

tion. Monetary assets and liabilities that are designated in foreign 

currencies are measured using the rate of exchange on the report­
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ing date. Any foreign currency translation impacts resulting from 

operational activities are recorded within cost of sales, whereas 

any impacts resulting from financing activities are recorded 

within the financial result.

The following table shows the changes in exchange rates against 

the euro for the most important currencies relevant to the Symrise 

Group:

Closing r ate = € 1 Aver age r ate = € 1

Country Currencies Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 2011 2010

UK British Pound GBP 0.837 0.858 0.868 0.858

USA US Dollar US$ 1.293 1.325 1.393 1.326

Mexico Mexican Peso MXN 18.073 16.419 17.297 16.740

Brazil Brazilian Real BRL 2.414 2.212 2.327 2.333

Singapore Singapore Dollar SGD 1.681 1.711 1.749 1.807

China Chinese Renminbi CNY 8.144 8.748 9.001 8.975

 

Recogniti on of Sales Re venue

Revenue from the sale of merchandise and products is shown at the 

fair value of the amount received or expected to be received less 

any returns, trade discounts and rebates. Sales revenue is recog­

nized when the significant risks and rewards deriving from owner­

ship of the merchandise or products sold have been transferred 

to the buyer and the amount of revenue realized can be reliably 

measured. Sales revenue deriving from services rendered is recog­

nized as soon as the service is performed. No sales revenue is 

recognized if significant risk exists relating to the receipt of return 

service or a possible return of the goods. The transfer of risks 

and rewards to the buyer is determined in accordance with INCO­

TERMS (International Commercial Terms).

Government Gr ants

Government grants are only recorded when reasonable certainty 

exists that the conditions attached to them will be complied with 

and that the grants will be received. Grants are recognized as other 

operating income in the period in which the expenses occur for 

which the grant is meant to compensate. In the reporting year 2011, 

government grants amounting to T€ 1,129 were received and recog­

nized as other operating income (note 7).
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Le ases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor assigns to the lessee 

the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in return for 

a payment or series of payments. Leases are classified as either 

finance or operating leases. Leasing transactions that substantially 

transfer all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased 

asset to the lessee are classified as finance leases. All other leases 

are classified as operating leases.

Where Symrise is the lessee in a finance lease, the leased asset 

is capitalized in the statement of financial position at the lower of 

the fair value or present value of the minimum lease payments 

at the beginning of the lease term and simultaneously recognized 

under financial liabilities. The minimum lease payments essen­

tially comprise financing costs and the principal portion of the re­

maining obligation which is determined according to the effective 

interest method. The leased asset is depreciated by the straight-line 

method over its assumed useful life or the term of the lease, which­

ever is shorter. The Symrise Group has no notable finance leases to 

report.

Payments made for operating leases are reported as expenditure 

in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the lease agreement. 

Income ta xes

Income taxes comprise both current and deferred taxes. Income 

taxes are recognized in the consolidated income statement unless 

they are related to items that are directly recognized in equity.

Current taxes are taxes that are expected to be payable on taxable 

profits of the current fiscal year, measured using the tax rate appli­

cable to the year reported. Additionally, any adjustments to tax 

expenses for previous years that may arise, for example, as a result 

of audits, are also included here.

Deferred taxes are recognized by applying the liability method 

to all temporary differences existing at the balance sheet reporting 

date between the amounts recognized for assets, or liabilities, 

in the consolidated statement of financial position and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes as required by IAS 12. No deferred 

taxes were recognized for the following temporary differences:

	 the initial recognition of goodwill

	 the initial recognition of an asset or a liability relating to a trans­

action that does not constitute a merger and which affects 

neither the commercial accounting result nor the taxable result

Symrise recognizes the effects of changes in tax rates on deferred 

taxes in the consolidated income statement, or in equity, in the 

reporting period in which the legislative procedures for the tax 

changes are largely completed. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset current taxes receivable and payable and 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on a 

company.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available in the future against which 

deductible temporary differences, unutilized tax loss carry forwards 

or unutilized tax credits can be offset. 

Deferred taxes are recognized for all taxable temporary differ­

ences involving holdings in subsidiaries (called outside basis dif­

ferences) except for the amount for which Symrise is able to 

manage the chronological course of the reversal of the temporary 

difference and if it is likely that the temporary difference will 

not change in the foreseeable future.

E arnings Per Share

The Symrise Group reports the basic earnings per share for its 

ordinary shares, which at the same time also represent the diluted 

earnings per share. This figure is therefore not listed separately. 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attrib­

utable to the holders of the parent company’s ordinary shares by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding dur­

ing the year (note 15).

Mergers and Goodwill

Mergers are accounted for using the purchase method. This com­

prises the recording of identifiable assets (including intangible 

assets that were not previously recognized) and liabilities (including 

contingent liabilities, but not giving consideration to any future re­

structuring measures) of the acquired business operations at their 

fair values. 
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Goodwill deriving from a merger is initially recognized at cost 

and represents the excess fair value of the consideration transferred 

at the acquisition date of the merger over the Group’s share in the 

fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Insofar 

as non-controlling interests remain, the choice of alternative op­

tions available under IFRS 3 is exercised individually for each acqui­

sition: Non-controlling interests may be either measured at fair 

value (“full goodwill” approach) or at the fair value of the propor­

tional interest in the net assets acquired (“partial goodwill” ap­

proach). Accrued incidental costs associated with acquisitions are 

recognized as an expense in other operating expenses.

Any acquired goodwill is allocated at the acquisition date to cash-

generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

deriving from the merger.

In accordance with IFRS 3, and in conjunction with IAS 36, good­

will is not amortized on a scheduled basis, rather an impairment 

test is conducted to establish the value. If indications of impairment 

exist, then the test is carried out more often.

With associated companies, goodwill is contained in the carrying 

amount of the investment using the equity method. 

Other Intangible Asse ts

Acquired intangible assets are measured at cost for the purpose of 

initial recognition. The cost of an intangible asset acquired during 

a merger corresponds to its fair value at the time of the acquisition. 

Internally generated intangible assets are recognized as assets at 

cost. Costs comprise all costs that are directly or indirectly attrib­

utable to the development process, as well as any necessary compo­

nents of overheads that are development related, from the point in 

time that all requirements specified by IAS 38 have been fulfilled. 

Capitalized interest costs in accordance with IAS 23 are included 

as far as the requirements for qualifying non-current assets are met, 

meaning assets for which a substantial period of time is required 

to prepare them for their intended use.

For intangible assets, it must be determined whether they have a 

definite or indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with indefinite 

useful lives are not subject to any scheduled amortizations but are 

rather subject to an annual impairment test. As of the reporting 

date, the Symrise Group holds no intangible assets with an indefi­

nite useful life. 

Intangible assets with a definite useful life are recognized at cost 

minus cumulative amortizations and all cumulative impairments. 

These are then amortized on a straight-line basis over the following 

useful lives: 

Intangible Assets Useful Life

Software 3 to 10 years

Recipes 7 to 20 years

Trademarks 6 to 15 years

Customer base 6 to 15 years

Patents and other rights 5 to 20 years

 

The useful lives and amortization methods for intangible assets 

are reviewed annually for suitability and prospectively adjusted if 

necessary.

The carrying amounts of capitalized development costs are tested 

for impairment once per year if the asset is not yet in use or if 

the asset is used more heavily and indications for impairment arise 

during the course of the year.

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of intangible assets are 

recognized at the time of disposal as the difference between the 

proceeds from disposal and the carrying amounts of the intangible 

assets in the consolidated income statement.

Rese arch and De velopment Costs

Costs for research activities, i.e. activities that are conducted in 

order to gain new scientific or chemical knowledge, are recognized 

by Symrise as expenses at their full amount. For accounting pur­

poses, research activities are defined as costs in connection with 
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ongoing or planned examinations that should deliver new scien­

tific or technical findings or insights. Development expenses are 

defined as costs in connection with the application of research 

results or specialist knowledge towards production and production 

processes as well as services and goods before commercial pro­

duction or application.

The costs for development activities are capitalized when certain 

precise requirements are fulfilled: Capitalization is always neces­

sary if the development costs can be reliably determined and the 

product is both technically and financially feasible and if financial 

benefits that would cover the corresponding development costs 

are likely. In addition, Symrise must have the intention as well as 

sufficient resources to complete the development process and to 

use or sell the asset generated. Since internal development projects 

are often subject to government approval procedures and other un­

foreseeable circumstances, the conditions for capitalizing the costs 

incurred before the asset is approved are usually not met.

Property ,  Pl ant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less accu­

mulated scheduled depreciation and impairment losses. If the costs 

of components for property, plant and equipment are significant 

(in comparison to the total procurement or manufacturing costs), 

then these components are recognized by Symrise as separate 

items and they are separately depreciated. The cost of qualifying 

non-current assets – i.e. assets for which a substantial period of 

time is required to prepare them for their intended use – include 

capitalized interest costs in accordance with IAS 23. 

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of property, plant and 

equipment are recognized at the time of disposal as the difference 

between the proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the 

asset in the consolidated income statement.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis in the consolidated 

income statement based on the following useful lives.

Property , Pl ant and Equipment Useful Life

Buildings 20 to 50 years

Plants and machinery 3 to 12 years

Equipment 3 to 20 years

 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of leasehold improvements 

is determined based on their useful lives or the term of the lease, 

whichever is shorter. In determining the depreciation period 

applied, any lease extension options are considered if their exercise 

is probable.

Impairment of Property ,  Pl ant and Equipment and 

Intangible Asse ts ( without Goodwill)

At each balance sheet reporting date, Symrise assesses whether 

indications exist for the impairment of non-current assets. If this is 

the case, we estimate the recoverable amount for the asset. If the 

recoverable amount cannot be determined for the individual asset, 

the estimate of the recoverable amount is made at the level of the 

smallest cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of these two values: 

Fair value less any costs to sell it and its value in use. If the carry­

ing amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 

considered to be impaired and an impairment loss is recorded to 

reduce the value of the asset to its recoverable amount. In order to 

determine the value in use, estimated future cash flows deriving 

from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discounting factor. Symrise discloses impairment losses in the con­

solidated income statement under the related functional expenses. 

At each closing date, a review is made to check whether any indica­

tions exist that any impairment loss recognized in an earlier re­

porting period is no longer required, or could be reduced. If such 

an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is esti­

mated. Any previously recognized impairment loss is reversed if 

the asset’s recoverable amount now exceeds its carrying amount 

as a result of a change in its estimated value since the time when 

the impairment loss was originally recognized. The reversal of 

the impairment loss must not result in a carrying amount that ex­

ceeds the amortized cost of the asset which would have resulted 

if no impairment loss had been recognized in previous years. Such 

reversals are to be recognized directly in the net result for the 

period. Following the reversal of an impairment loss, the scheduled 

amortization or depreciation for future periods is adjusted as 

necessary in order to systematically spread the adjusted carrying 

amount of the asset minus any expected future residual value 

over its remaining useful life.
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Financial Instruments

Gener al Informat ion

Financial instruments are all contracts that result in a financial 

asset for one company and a financial liability or equity instrument 

for another company. Financial assets particularly include cash 

and cash equivalents, trade receivables and loans receivable as well 

as derivative financial instruments with a positive market value. 

Financial liabilities generally give rise to a claim for a return of cash 

or another form of financial asset. These comprise non-derivative 

liabilities and the negative fair values of derivatives. Non-derivative 

liabilities particularly comprise bank borrowings, liabilities towards 

institutional and private investors, trade payables and, to a lesser 

extent, liabilities from financing leases. 

Non-derivative liabilities are recognized in the consolidated state­

ment of financial position if Symrise has a contractual obligation to 

transfer cash or other financial assets to another party. Non-deriva­

tive financial liabilities are initially recognized at the fair value of 

the return service received or at the value of the cash received mi­

nus transaction costs incurred, if applicable. 

Financial assets are recognized in the consolidated statement of 

financial position if Symrise has a contractual right to receive 

cash or other financial assets from another party. This means that 

normal market purchases or sales of financial assets, i.e. pur­

chases or sales for which delivery of the financial asset must be 

made within the period stipulated by conventions or the market 

in which trading takes place, are accounted for on the date of trad­

ing. Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus 

transaction costs. Transaction costs arising in connection with the 

acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are immediately recognized in the income statement. Non-interest-

bearing receivables or receivables subject to lower interest rates 

are initially recognized at the present value of the expected future 

cash flows. 

Financial instruments are classified by Symrise, based on their 

nature, into the categories “financial asset or liability as at fair 

value”, “held to maturity”, “loans and receivables”, “available for 

sale” and “financial liabilities measured at amortized costs”. 

Symrise does not take advantage of the option to classify financial 

assets and liabilities at fair value with effect on profit or loss (the 

fair value option) upon initial recognition.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities 

is made in accordance with the category to which they have been 

assigned: at amortized cost, at fair value recognized directly in 

equity or with effect on profit or loss. For further information, see 

note 40.

Income and expenses as well as gains and losses from financial 

assets contain impairments and reversals, interest income and ex­

penses and dividends as well as gains and losses from the disposal 

of such assets. Dividend income is recognized when earned. Inter­

est income is recognized using the effective interest method. With 

the disposal of an asset, neither dividends nor interest income are 

included in the calculation of the net gain or loss. 

Derivat ive F inancial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at their fair value 

and are initially recorded at the time when the contract for the 

derivative financial instrument is entered into. Instruments that 

are not to be used for hedging purposes are classified by the com­

pany as “held for trading”. Derivatives are measured at fair value and 

recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities. The fair value 

of traded derivative financial instruments corresponds to their mar­

ket value. If no market values exist, the present value is determined 

using recognized financial models.

Derivative financial instruments are neither held nor issued for 

speculative purposes. 

Cash Flow Hedge

Since the beginning of the 2011 fiscal year, Symrise has employed 

derivative financial instruments to hedge the currency risk result­

ing from its operative business.

Select future cash flows from trade payables and receivables already 

recognized in the statement of financial position as well as select 

future cash flows from highly probable planned transactions are 

hedged against currency risk in operating activities through for­

ward contracts. The hedging of currency risk occurs on a rolling 

basis over a period of about six months up to a maximum hedging 

ratio of 50 % of the open currency items of a company.
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Insofar as the strict requirements of IAS 39 for the application of 

cash flow hedge accounting are fulfilled, the cumulative measure­

ment gains/losses will be initially recognized in equity in the cash 

flow hedge reserve and then reclassified to profit and loss in the 

period in which the hedged underlying transaction influences the 

net result for the period. 

Measurement gains/losses from the derivative financial instru­

ment will be reclassified to sales or cost of sales depending on the 

underlying transaction (trade payables or receivables in foreign 

currency). There they will be balanced with the actual currency 

gains and losses from operating business.

Cash flow hedges reduce volatility from exchange rate changes in 

the operating result. Additional disclosures on the cash flow hedge 

reserve can be found in note 37.

The requirements resulting from IAS 39 for application of hedge 

accounting are met by Symrise as follows: When hedging measures 

are begun, both the relationship between the hedging instrument 

employed and the hedged item as well as the objective and strategy 

surrounding the hedge are documented. This includes both the 

concrete allocation of the hedging instrument to the expected for­

eign currency receivable/liability as well as the estimation of 

the degree of effectiveness of the hedging instrument implemented. 

The effectiveness of existing hedging measures is continuously 

monitored using the cumulative dollar offset method. When hedge 

relationships become ineffective, they are immediately reversed 

through profit and loss.

Even if some forward contracts are not presented as cash flow 

hedge accounting, these also represent a hedge from a financial 

point of view. In such cases, the measurement effects of the 

derivative immediately balance out with the effects from the mea­

surement of the foreign currency receivable or liability within 

the cost of sales.

Tr ade Receivables and Other Current Receivables

These are measured, where applicable by applying the effective 

interest method, with their market value at the date they arose mi­

nus any impairment amount. Impairments, which are made in 

the form of individual impairments, are sufficient to take account 

of any anticipated default risks; any actual cases of default lead 

to a writeoff of the related receivable. In the process of making in­

dividual impairments, financial assets for which impairments are 

potentially required are written down. 

Other non-current receivables are measured by applying the effec­

tive interest method at amortized cost. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances and call deposits. 

Symrise measures cash and cash equivalents at amortized cost. 

F inancial Asse ts Ava il able for Sale

Symrise holds a limited number of marketable securities and other 

financial assets available for sale. Financial assets that are still 

intended to be held for an indefinite period and which are to be sold 

in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates are 

classified under non-current assets as “financial assets available for 
sale”. However, if management expresses the intention to sell the 

financial assets within twelve months of the balance sheet reporting 

date, or if these need to be sold in order to generate liquid funds for 

operational purposes, then they are classified under current assets 

as “financial assets available for sale”. After their initial recogni­

tion, they are recognized at their fair value if it is directly ascertain­

able based on market data. Otherwise the measurement occurs at 

amortized cost. All changes, excluding impairments, are recognized 

after taxes as a component of equity. If an asset is derecognized, 

the cumulative gain or loss is transferred from equity to the consol­

idated income statement.

Financial assets are derecognized if the contractual rights regard­

ing payments from financial assets no longer exist or the financial 

assets are transferred with all of their fundamental risks and 

opportunities.

Financial liabilities are derecognized if the contractual obligations 

are settled, eliminated or expired.
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Asse ts Held for Sale

“Assets held for sale” consist of non-current assets and disposal 

groups of a company, which are classified as “held for sale” in 

accordance with IFRS 5. These are recognized at the lower of their 

carrying amount or fair value minus cost of sale. Insofar as lia­

bilities relating to the respective disposal groups are identified, 

then these are also classified as “held for sale”.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

The cost of inventories includes the cost of procuring the invento­

ries, manufacturing or conversion costs and other costs incurred to 

bring the inventories to their existing location and condition.

Net realizable value is determined as the estimated sales value 

minus any estimated costs of completion and any necessary selling 

and marketing expenses.

Raw materials are valued using the weighted average procurement 

cost. 

Finished goods and works in progress are valued using the cost of 

direct materials, direct labor as well as other direct costs and a 

reasonable proportion of manufacturing overheads, based on normal 

capacity utilization of production facilities, excluding borrowing 

costs.

Pensions and Other Post- Employment Benefits

The companies within the Group have various pension schemes set 

up in accordance with the regulations and practices of the countries 

in which they operate. Additionally, in one country agreements 

exist to provide additional post-employment healthcare benefits. 

About 90 % of these benefits are not reinsured.

Defined Contribut ion Pl ans

A defined contribution plan is a plan under the terms of which a 

company pays fixed contributions to other entities until the termina­

tion of the employment relationship and has no further legal or 

constructive obligation to pay additional amounts. Obligations for 

contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an 

employee benefit expense in the consolidated income statement as 

they become due.

Defined Benefit Pl ans

Defined benefit plans comprise all pension plans other than defined 

contribution plans. Symrise measures the claim entitlement deriv­

ing from defined benefit plans (DBPs) with the actuarially calculated 

present value of the earned benefit entitlement. The Symrise 

Group’s net pension obligation regarding the defined benefit plans 

is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the future 

pension benefit amount that employees have become entitled to in 

return for their service in current and prior periods; the amount 

of this pension benefit is discounted to determine its present value. 

Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan 

assets are deducted. The discount rate is determined as the yield at 

the reporting date on “AA” – rated bonds that have maturity dates 

that approximate to the payment terms of the Group’s obligations 

and that are denominated in the same currency as the pension 

benefits are expected to be paid. 

The computation is performed annually by an actuary using the 

projected unit credit method. If the claim entitlement is not covered 

by external assets, Symrise recognizes the defined benefit obliga­

tion (DBO), corrected for any past-service related expenses/income 

deriving from retrospective changes in the plan (past service cost), 

as a liability. If the claim entitlement is covered by the plan assets, 

Symrise sets off the DBO against the market value of these assets. 

The net amount, corrected for any previously unrecognized past ser­

vice cost and effects deriving from the asset ceiling, is recognized 

either as a pension liability or as an asset.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expenses 

if the net amount of the cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains 

and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous report­

ing period exceeds the higher amount of 10 % of the defined bene­

fit obligation or 10 % of the fair value of the plan assets at that date. 

The gains or losses are allocated over the expected average re­

maining period of service of the employees included in the plan.

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the average period until the entitlement to the benefits 

becomes vested. Insofar as the benefit entitlement becomes vested 

immediately upon introduction of, or at the time of changes to, a 

pension plan, then the past service cost is recognized immediately 

in profit or loss.
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The amount of the liability to be recognized deriving from a defined 

benefit plan comprises the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation, plus or minus any actuarial gains or losses that have not 

yet been recognized in profit or loss, minus past service costs not 

yet recognized, plus any unrecognized gains deriving from amend­

ments to the plan and minus the fair value of plan assets out of 

which obligations are to be directly settled.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when it is more likely than not that the 

Symrise Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation due 

to a past event, which makes the outflow of resources with finan­

cial benefits probable, and a reliable estimate of the size of the obli­

gation is possible. 

The size of the provision is regularly adjusted if new knowledge 

becomes available or new conditions arise. Non-current provisions 

are recognized at the present value of the expected obligation 

amounts as of the reporting date. The discount rates are regularly 

adjusted to current market interest rates.

Symrise generally recognizes allocations to provisions through 

profit and loss in the respective expense category of the affected 

functions. A positive or negative difference resulting from the 

fulfillment of the obligation is recognized at its carrying amount 

under the corresponding functional expense. Where positive 

differences from outside the period under review are concerned, 

these are recognized under other comprehensive income.

Share - based Remuner ation

The Symrise Group awards share-based remuneration to members 

of the Executive Board and to select employees, which is paid in 

cash. The share of the fair value of share-based remuneration with 

cash settlement terms that is related to services rendered prior 

to the date of measurement is recorded as a personnel expense for 

which another provision is disclosed at the same time. The fair 

value is determined again at each balance sheet reporting date and 

also at the date of actual payment. Any change in the fair value 

is recognized in profit or loss. At the date of payment, the fair value 

of the liability is equal to the amount that is actually payable to 

the affected employees. Further information on share-based remu­

neration can be found in note 43.

Impairment

Tr ade Receivables

The following factors are considered in analyzing the impairment 

of trade receivables: 

	 Initially, the financial situation of the individual customers is 

considered and impairments for individual customer balances 

are booked if it is probable that the contractually agreed receiv­

able will not be paid.

	 Following this, impairments for trade receivables based on homo­

geneous receivable classes are formed that correspond to the 

associated risk of loss, past receivable losses as well as general 

market conditions such as trade embargoes and natural catas­

trophes. We create a general allowance for impairment consider­

ations for a portfolio of receivables when we are of the opinion 

that the age of the receivables represents an indicator that it is 

probable that a loss has occurred or that we will not collect some 

or all of the amounts due.

Objective evidence of impairment is identified on the basis of the 

following triggers:

	 substantial financial difficulties of the debtor,

	 breach of contract,

	 concessions to the customer, for economic or legal reasons 

relating to their financial difficulty,

	 insolvency or a major restructuring of the debtor is likely,

	 observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in 

the expected future cash flows from a group of financial assets 

since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease 

cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in 

the group (lump-sum allowance). 

If, in subsequent periods, the reasons for impairment no longer 

exist, a reversal will be recognized through profit or loss. If a 

receivable that is already impaired becomes classified as unrecov­

erable, it will be accordingly written-off as a result.
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Impairments of trade receivables are partially performed by apply­

ing value adjustment accounts. The decision as to whether a de­

fault is covered by a value adjustment account or through a direct 

reduction of the receivable depends on the degree of reliability 

with which the risk situation can be assessed. Impairments are rec­

ognized under selling and marketing expenses. Due to differing 

operative segments and differing regional conditions, this decision 

is made by the individual portfolio managers.

Other F inancial Asse ts

Financial assets are measured at each reporting date to deter­

mine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. An 

impairment loss is recorded for financial assets if objective 

indications exist that one or more events have had a negative 

influence on future cash flows deriving from the asset.

An impairment loss for financial assets recognized at amortized cost 

is determined as the difference between its carrying amount and 

the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at 

the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss for finan­

cial assets held as available for sale is determined by the fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for possible im­

pairment on an individual basis. All other financial assets are 

collected in groups that share similar default risk profiles and then 

measured. 

All impairment losses are recognized as a component of the finan­

cial result. Gains and losses deriving from financial assets that are 

designated as available for sale are recognized in equity. Any 

gains or losses previously recognized in equity are transferred to 

the consolidated income statement at the time of disposal.

Non - f inancial Asse ts

At each balance sheet reporting date, the Group assesses whether 

indications exist that a non-financial asset is impaired. The carry­

ing amount of the asset is reviewed for impairment when events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 

asset is not covered by its recoverable amount. If such indications 

exist, or if a test for impairment of an asset needs to be made, then 

the Symrise Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value 

of the asset or cash-generating unit minus any costs to sell it and its 

value in use. The recoverable amount must be determined for each 

individual asset unless the asset itself does not generate any cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those generated by other 

assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of the asset ex­

ceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be im­

paired and an impairment loss is recorded and the asset is reduced 

to its recoverable amount. In order to determine the value in use, 

estimated future cash flows deriving from the asset are discounted 

to their present value using a pre-tax discounting factor.

Impairment losses are recorded in the expense categories that 

reflect the function of the impaired asset.

If the reasons for impairment cease to be applicable, the impair­

ment loss may be reversed to the extent that the value of the asset 

does not exceed its amortized or depreciated costs of procurement 

or manufacture. These are recognized in the same expense category 

in which the impairment was recognized. The only item on which 

reversals are not performed are securities that are available for sale.

Goodwill

In accordance with IAS 36, goodwill is tested for impairment at least 

once per year. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

an impairment loss may need to be recognized, then a test is carried 

out more frequently.
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For impairment tests, goodwill is to be allocated to the cash-gener­

ating unit within the Group that is intended to benefit from the 

synergies of the merger. Every unit with goodwill allocated to it rep­

resents the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is 

monitored for internal management purposes and is no larger than 

a business segment as defined by IFRS 8.

Any impairment loss is ascertained by determining the recover­

able amount attributable to the cash-generating unit to which the 

goodwill relates. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating 

unit is the higher of the fair value minus any costs to sell it and its 

value in use. If the recoverable amount attributable to the cash-

generating unit is less than its carrying amount an impairment loss 

is recognized. Impairment losses on goodwill may not be reversed 

in future periods. Symrise carries out its annual impairment test 

for goodwill on September 30.

Within the Symrise Group, the two segments “Scent & Care” and 

“Flavor & Nutrition” have been defined as cash-generating units, 

whereby as of September 30, 2011, goodwill has been allocated 

in the amount of € 158.9 million (2010: € 157.6 million) to the 

segment Scent & Care and in the amount of € 326.5 million (2010: 

€ 323.9 million) to the segment Flavor & Nutrition. The recover­

able amount is represented by the fair value minus costs to sell 

and was determined as the present value of future cash flows. 

The future cash flows were derived from the Symrise Group’s plan­

ning information. The calculation of the present value of esti­

mated future cash flows is mainly based on assumptions relating 

to future selling prices, or respectively sales volumes and costs 

while taking into account any changed economic circumstances. 

In applying value in use, the cash-generating unit is measured 

as currently used. Net cash inflows outside of the planning period 

are determined on the basis of long-term business expectations 

using individual growth rates derived from the respective market 

information.

The planning information is based on a detailed planning horizon 

for the fiscal years 2012 to 2014. A growth rate of 0.5 % was assumed 

for the measurement of perpetual annuity. The cash flows deter­

mined in this manner were discounted with a weighted after-tax 

capital cost factor of 7.83 % (2010: 7.62 %). There were no indica­

tions of impairment for the fiscal year. The cost of equity and debt 

was weighted with a capital structure based on a group of similar 

companies. Capital market data and data from similar companies 

was used in determining the cost of equity and debt.

In performing the impairment test, Symrise carried out sensitivity 

analyses. For this purpose, the discounting factor was increased 

by 1.0 percentage point while planned sales revenue growth was 

reduced to 0.5 %. These variations in the measurement parameters 

would also not have resulted in any required impairment of capital­

ized goodwill.

3    Determining Fair Value

Many of Symrise’s accounting policies require that a fair value is 

determined for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

The fair values for measurement purposes have been determined 

using the methods described below. Further information regard­

ing the assumptions used to determine fair value is contained in 

the notes specific to the particular asset or liability.

Financial Instruments – Gener al Principles

In accordance with the three-tiered “fair value hierarchy”, a distinc­

tion is made between three measurement categories: 

	 Level 1: At the first level of the fair value hierarchy, fair values 

are determined based on publicly quoted market prices, as obser­

vation of active markets provides the best objective evidence to 

determine the fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability.

	 Level 2: If no active market exists for a financial instrument, 

then a company determines the fair value use with the help of 

valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include use of re­

cent “arm’s length” business transactions between knowledge­

able, willing and independent contractual parties, comparison 

to the current fair value of another financial instrument that is 

substantially the same and use of discounted cash flow analy­

sis methods or option pricing models. The fair value is determined 

based on the result of a valuation technique that makes maxi­

mum use of market data inputs and relies as little as possible on 

company specific data inputs. There are no liquid markets for 

credits and receivables that are measured at amortized costs. For 

086-154 Konzernabschluss komplett (E) (2012-03-07).indd   110 07.03.12   17:11



111Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

current credits and receivables it is assumed that the market 

value corresponds to the carrying amount. For all other credits 

and receivables, the market value is determined by discounting 

expected future cash flows. Here, the interest rates that are used 

for credits and receivables are those that would be applied to 

new credits and receivables with a corresponding risk structure, 

original currency and term.

	 Level 3: The valuation techniques used at this level also use 

parameters that are not based on market observations.

Financial Asse ts and Other Financial Li abil iti es

The fair value of financial assets that are traded on regulated finan­

cial markets is determined by the market price on the balance 

sheet reporting date (closing price). The fair value of financial assets 

for which no regulated market exists is derived from the current 

market price of comparable securities or is calculated based on the 

cash flows expected to derive from the underlying asset. The fair 

value of financial liabilities is calculated using the present value of 

future repayment and interest cash flows which are discounted 

using an interest rate valid at the balance sheet reporting date.

Property ,  Pl ant and Equipment

The fair value for items of property, plant and equipment recog­

nized as a result of a merger is based on market values. The market 

value for real estate is based on the estimated value at which the 

real estate could be sold on the day of measurement under the pre­

sumption that this would represent a business transaction be­

tween a willing buyer and a willing seller under the terms of which 

both parties operate knowledgeably, prudently and without com­

pulsion and the transaction is preceded by adequate marketing ac­

tivities. The market values of plant, equipment, fixtures and fit­

tings are based on quoted prices for similar items.

Intangible Asse ts

The fair value of recipes recognized as a result of a merger is based 

on the discounted estimated royalty payments that were avoided 

as a result of the formula becoming owned or is based on the dis­

counted cash flows that are expected to derive from use of the 

formula. The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the 

discounted cash flows that are expected to derive from the use 

and possible sale of the assets.

4    Segment Information

Descrip tion of Segments Where Reporting 

is Required

For internal reporting purposes, we present our business activities 

in a number of different ways, mainly based on segments and geo­

graphical regions. Based on this reporting information, our Execu­

tive Board, which carries responsibility as the Chief Operating 

Decision Maker (CODM) for the success of the various segments and 

the allocation of resources, assesses the business activities from 

a number of angles. Operational segments are divided into business 

divisions. With the business divisions “Flavor & Nutrition” and 

“Scent & Care”, we have two segments, organized according to our 

products, for which mandatory reporting is required. 

Fl avor & Nutrit ion

In the Flavor & Nutrition segment, Symrise develops, produces and 

sells flavors that are used by customers in the production of food 

products (savory and sweet food products as well as dairy products) 

and beverages. Symrise works with a modular concept which 

allows them to offer customers both individual aroma components 

and complete product solutions for end-consumers.

Scent & Care

In the Scent & Care segment, Symrise develops, produces and 

sells fragrances, cosmetic ingredients, aroma molecules, and mint 

aromas and develops specific application processes for such sub­

stances. The products and application processes that are developed 

by Symrise in the Scent & Care segment are used by customers 

in the manufacture of perfumes, personal care products, cosmetic 

products, dental care products, cleaning products and detergents.

The segment reporting by region is aligned to the location of assets. 

Sales to customers are reported in the geographical region in 

which the customer is located. Countries are grouped together for 

internal managerial accounting and reporting purposes into the 

regions EAME (Europe, Africa, Middle East), North America, Asia/

Pacific and Latin America.
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Me asurement Criteria for the Segments

Internal control and reporting in the Symrise Group is based on the 

accounting principles according to IFRS shown in note 2.

Transactions are only conducted between the two segments to a 

limited extent. These are transacted at market prices and have not 

been separately disclosed for materiality reasons. External sales 

represent the sales of the two segments with third parties and thus 

in their sum are equal to the consolidated sales of the Symrise 

Group. 

The income and expenditure of the Symrise Group’s central units 

and functions are completely included in the two segments “Flavor 

& Nutrition” and “Scent & Care” based on performance-related, or 

utilization-related, criteria. The result-related determining factor for 

the management of the segments is the income from operations 

(EBIT), representing the result before financial income and expenses 

as well as taxes. The depreciation and amortization charges that 

can be directly attributed to each segment are included in the deter­

mination of the segment contribution. The financial result is not 

included as the segments are mainly centrally financed. This is the 

reason why financial income and expenses are disclosed below 

at Group level and combined together in the form of the financial 

result. Taxes are treated in a similar manner so that net income 

after tax is reported combined to give the consolidated earnings. 

The capital investment made by a segment comprises all expendi­

ture incurred during the reporting period for the purpose of 

acquiring property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets.

Segment Asse ts/Liabil iti es

The Executive Board, which is the Chief Operating Decision Maker, 

does not receive all information with respect to segment assets 

and liabilities. The allocation of goodwill to segments is disclosed 

in note 25.

Segment Results

2010 

T€ Fl avor & Nutrition Scent & Care
Segment total  
= Group total

External sales 767,395 804,495 1,571,890

Cost of sales – 423,729 – 466,453 – 890,182

Gross profit 343,666 338,042 681,708

Other operating income 3,648 4,088 7,736

Selling and marketing expenses – 128,941 – 123,833 – 252,774

Research and development expenses – 50,013 – 57,846 – 107,859

Administration expenses – 43,292 – 39,885 – 83,177

Other operating expenses – 599 – 624 – 1,223

Income from operations/EBIT 124,469 119,942 244,411

Financial result   – 66,921

Income before income taxes   177,490

Income taxes   – 43,990

Net income   133,500

    

Other segment information    

Capital investments (including acquisitions)    

 Intangible assets 26,658 7,790 34,448

 Property, plant and equipment 40,860 18,771 59,631

Amortization of intangible assets – 23,828 – 22,507 – 46,335

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 22,026 – 18,293 – 40,319
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Segment Results

2011 

T€ Fl avor & Nutrition Scent & Care
Segment total  
= Group total

External sales 782,219 801,428 1,583,647

Cost of sales – 448,103 – 481,940 – 930,043

Gross profit 334,116 319,488 653,604

Other operating income 7,043 5,871 12,914

Selling and marketing expenses – 131,142 – 114,640 – 245,782

Research and development expenses – 51,960 – 55,633 – 107,593

Administration expenses – 41,480 – 35,369 – 76,849

Other operating expenses – 1,184 – 685 – 1,869

Income from operations/EBIT 115,393 119,032 234,425

Financial result   – 38,544

Income before income taxes   195,881

Income taxes   – 49,346

Net income   146,535

    

Other Segment Information    

Capital Investments    

 Intangible assets 8,368 7,216 15,584

 Property, plant and equipment 26,818 24,897 51,715

Amortization of intangible assets – 20,094 – 22,830 – 42,924

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 23,926 – 16,521 – 40,447

Impairment reversals on property, plant and equipment 1,060 798 1,858

 

There were no customers who accounted for more than 10 % of Group 

sales either in the reporting year or previous year.
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Result by Geogr aphical Region

2010 

T€ EAME1 North America Asia/Pacific L atin America Total

Sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 761,541 281,043 343,014 186,292 1,571,890

 Domestic     201,151

 Foreign     1,370,739

      

Other segment information      

Non-current assets2     1,283,155

 Domestic     666,196

 Foreign     616,959

      

Capital Investments (including acquisitions)      

 Intangible assets 30,171 0 1,558 2,719 34,448

 Property, plant and equipment 31,716 5,612 14,724 7,579 59,631
1 Europe, Africa, Middle East
2 Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. The previous year’s figures were adjusted to aid comparability. See note 2.1.

2011 

T€ EAME1 North America Asia/Pacific L atin America Total

Sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 771,250 270,674 350,832 190,891 1,583,647

 Domestic     204,308

 Foreign     1,379,339

      

Other segment information      

Non-current assets2     1,269,380

 Domestic     672,137

 Foreign     597,243

      

Capital Investments      

 Intangible assets 10,036 179 3,733 1,636 15,584

 Property, plant and equipment 34,558 3,902 8,533 4,722 51,715
1 Europe, Africa, Middle East
2 Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. The previous year’s figures were adjusted to aid comparability. See note 2.1.
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Additi onal Disclosures on the Consolidated  

Income Statement

5    Sales

Sales revenue results primarily from the sale of products. Please 

refer to the segment reporting information that is presented in note 

4 for a presentation of sales by segment and geographical region.

6    Cost of Sales

The cost of sales mainly consists of expenses for raw materials 

as well as production costs. Amortizations for formulas and foreign 

currency effects are also included. Please refer to the segment 

reporting information that is presented in note 4 for a presentation 

of sales by segment and geographical region.

7    Other Operating Income

T€ 2010 2011

Income from the reversal of provisions and other 
liabilities 2,667 5,231

Income from the transfer of exchange differences 
from the currency reserve 0 1,749

Income from service units 1,773 1,539

Income from government subsidies 650 1,129

Miscellaneous other income 2,646 3,266

Total 7,736 12,914

 

Income from the reversal of provisions and other liabilities affect 

such obligations, where utilization is no longer expected or where it 

is certain it will not be utilized. This mainly applies to the reversal 

of provisions for litigation as well as for pension obligations includ­

ing plan amendments.

As a result of the capital reduction in a subsidiary in Singapore, 

a portion of foreign currency differences from the translation of 

foreign operations amounting to € 1.7 million was transferred 

to the consolidated income statement from its previous recognition 

in equity.

Income from service units results from services rendered by 

Group companies and mainly consists of cafeteria income, rental 

and lease income as well as other services for third parties.

Government subsidies are, as in the previous year, granted in 

France and Germany to promote research projects. The previous 

year’s figure was impacted by subsidy repayments.

The overall figure of the remaining other income comprises various 

individually insignificant cases that are not related to the sale of 

products.

8    Personnel Expenses

The following personnel expenses are included in the consolidated 

income statement:

T€ 2010 2011

Wages and salaries – 262,194 – 270,539

Social security expenses – 55,222 – 56,218

Pension expenses (excluding interest expenses) – 8,626 – 10,186

Multi-year performance-based remuneration – 1,267 – 1,941

Total – 327,309 – 338,884

 

Personnel expenses mainly include wages and salaries and other 

forms of remuneration and rewards granted to employees.

Social security expenses include social security contributions that 

the organization is required to make by law. These include defined 

contribution plan benefits of € 11.4 million (2010: € 10.6 million).

Pension expenses mainly consist of employer contributions to 

company supplementary benefit schemes. Interest deriving from 

pension provisions is disclosed as a component of the financial 

result (see note 12).
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The average number of employees employed within the Group was 

5,450 (2010: 5,231).

  2010 2011

Manufacturing and technology 2,057 2,199

Sales and marketing 1,384 1,417

Research and development 1,035 1,069

Administration 427 422

Service units 328 343

Number of employees 5,231 5,450

Apprentices and trainees 109 111

Total 5,340 5,561

 

9    Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses mainly include expenses from the 

period for advertising and customer service as well as distribution 

and storage for finished products. Transport costs and expenses for 

commissions and licenses are also included. The previous year’s 

figures were impacted by high impairments on receivables. Please 

refer to the segment reporting information that is presented in 

note 4 for a presentation of selling and marketing expenses by 

segment and geographical region.

10    Research and Development Expenses

In addition to the costs of Symrise’s own research departments, this 

item also includes costs for external research and development 

services and trialrelated activities. Along with basic research, activ­

ities in this area include the development of products to generate 

sales revenue as well as new or improved processes to reduce the 

cost of sales. Such costs cannot be capitalized.

11    Administration Expenses

Administration expenses are broken down as follows:

T€ 2010 2011

Information technology – 25,796 – 25,705

Finance and controlling – 20,995 – 20,690

Human resources – 10,324 – 10,815

Other administration expenses – 26,062 – 19,639

Total – 83,177 – 76,849

 

The reduction in other administration expenses is due to various 

individual cases, particularly the closure of various administration 

sites during the previous year.

12    Financial Result

T€ 2010 2011

Interest income   

 from bank deposits 474 843

 from derivatives 4,598 0

 Other 471 473

Interest income 5,543 1,316

Change in value of financial assets based on 
measurement at fair value through profit or loss 170 0

Other financial income 679 662

Financial income 6,392 1,978

Interest expenses   

 from bank borrowings – 8,252 – 4,894

 from other borrowings -2,923 – 17,540

 from derivatives – 36,628 0

 Other – 16,462 – 17,970

Interest expenses – 64,265 – 40,404

Foreign currency gains primarily from internal 
Group lending 2,621 1,007

Change in value of financial assets based on 
measurement at fair value through profit or loss – 6,460 0

Other financial expenses – 5,209 – 1,125

Financial expenses – 73,313 – 40,522

Financial result – 66,921 – 38,544

 thereof interest results – 58,722 – 39,088

 thereof other financial results – 8,199 544
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The financial result improved compared to previous years due to 

the new financing structure from the refinancing performed in 

December 2010. While financing showed up to 90 % variable inter­

est before the refinancing, this figure is now down to 23 %. This 

is reflected in interest expenses payable to banks. Interest for lia­

bilities with a fixed interest rate such as the Eurobond or the US 

private placement will be recognized under the interest expenses 

for other borrowings. The item “other interest expenses” mainly 

contains the compounding of pension provisions amounting to € 12.9 

million (2010: 12.4 million) as well as interest on tax arrears. The 

previous year’s result was also impacted by the dissolution of hedge 

accounting and the redemption of interest rate swaps as part of 

the refinancing amounting to a total of € 21.7 million.

13    Income Taxes

Current taxes paid or owed in individual countries and deferred 

taxes are disclosed as income taxes.

T€ 2010 2011

Current tax expense – 66,320 – 39,948

Deferred tax expense/income   

 from losses carried forward – 1,407 – 8,380

 from temporary differences 23,737 – 1,018

Total deferred tax expense/income 22,330 – 9,398

Income taxes – 43,990 – 49,346

 

Income tax expenses in the year under review increased by 

€ 5.4 million to € 49.3 million, which is mainly due to the consoli­

dated earnings before taxes being € 18.4 million higher. The 

tax rate for the year remained at 25 % as in the previous year.

The reduction of current income tax expenses by € 26.4 million to 

€ 39.9 million was mainly the result of the use of commercial tax 

losses carried forward after the accretion of Symrise GmbH & Co. KG 

to Symrise AG. Other positive effects came from the release of for­

eign tax provisions that were no longer necessary and a retroactive 

tax rate reduction in China. The deferred tax assets to be released 

due to the use of losses carried forward are a substantial reason for 

the increase in deferred tax expenses.

Furthermore, current income tax expenses in the previous year 

were influenced by Group internal transactions just as the deferred 

tax income in the previous year was influenced by temporary val­

uation differences from Group internal transactions and valuation 

differences from derivatives and interests.

Derivation of the Effective Ta x R ate

The income taxes disclosed in the year reported, amounting 

to € 49.3 million (2010: € 44.0 million) can be reconciled to an “ex­

pected” income tax expense, which would have arisen if the 

statutory tax rates, giving consideration to different local tax rates, 

had been applied to earnings before tax according to German 

Commercial Code (HGB):

T€ 2010 2011

Consolidated earnings before taxes 177,490 195,881

Expected tax expense at local tax rates – 45,346 – 53,036

Tax effect from previous periods – 2,201 835

Tax effect from tax-free income 7,983 8,463

Tax savings due to the set-off of tax loss  
carry forwards for which no deferred tax asset 
was set up 3,767 0

Tax effect from non-deductible expenses – 5,866 – 1,796

Non-recoverable withholding tax – 2,748 – 3,495

Tax effect from measurement adjustments  
to deferred tax assets – 102 100

Tax effect from change in tax rate – 15 – 170

Other tax effects 538 – 247

Income tax expense – 43,990 – 49,346

 

The tax-free income effect resulted from foreign tax benefits.

The tax effect from non-deductible expenses was influenced by 

impairments on interests in the previous year.

Tax effects from previous years resulted from the conclusion of an 

audit as well as a retroactive tax rate reduction in China.

The proposed dividend for the 2011 fiscal year (note 37) will not 

have any income tax consequences for Symrise. Future income and 

withholding taxes resulting from planned distributions of Group 

companies will be recognized under deferred tax liabilities.
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No deferred tax liabilities were recognized for temporary differences 

from interests in subsidiaries amounting to € 151.1 million in 2011 

and € 236.6 million in 2010 as these gains are either not subject to 

taxation on pay out or are expected to be reinvested for indefinite 

periods of time.

The amount of income tax directly charged or credited to other com­

prehensive income breaks down as follows:

2010 2011

T€
Before 

ta xes Ta xes After ta xes
Before 

ta xes Ta xes After ta xes

Exchange differences resulting from 
the translation of foreign business 
operations 59,607 714 60,321 – 4,565 1,062 – 3,503

Financial assets available for sale – 14 3 – 11 – 25 6 – 19

Cash flow hedge (interest rate hedges) 25,643 – 7,328 18,315 0 0 0

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges) 0 0 0 – 736 202 -534

Tax rate change 0 115 115 0 43 43

Other comprehensive income 85,236 – 6,496 78,740 – 5,326 1,313 – 4,013

Current taxes  282   666  

Deferred taxes  – 6,778   647  

 

14    Amortization and Depreciation

The amounts charged for amortization of intangible assets and 

depreciation of property, plant and equipment are visible in the 

movement summary in notes 25 and 26.

15    Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit 

attributable to the holders of the parent company’s ordinary shares 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year.

No option or conversion rights were issued in 2010 or 2011. As a 

consequence, there is no dilutive effect on the earnings per share. 

The diluted and basic results are therefore identical.

  2010 2011

Earnings per share (€) 1.13 1.24

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
(in thousands) 118,173 118,173
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Additi onal Disclosures on the Consolidated 

Statement of F inancial Positi on

16    Cash and Cash Equivalents

T€ 2010 2011

Cash 104,831 115,566

Cash equivalents 7,384 3,042

Total 112,215 118,608

 

Cash and cash equivalents mainly consist of balances with banks 

whose carrying amounts correspond to their fair values.

17    Trade Receivables

T€ 2010 2011

Trade receivables 268,494 296,967

Allowance for doubtful accounts – 7,018 - 6,696

Total 261,476 290,271

 

Trade receivables due to companies are not secured. The organiza­

tion therefore bears the risk of default on payment of the receiv­

ables. However, the company’s experience in the past was that only 

insignificant cases of default arose with some individual custom­

ers. The carrying amount of the trade receivables represents their 

fair value.

The companies grant credit terms that are normal for the industry 

and the territories in which they operate. 

The due-dates for trade receivables at the reporting date and the 

allowances therefore have developed as follows:

T€

Carrying 
amount 
(gross)

No allo -
wance set 

up and not 
overdue

Full or 
partial 

allo -
wance set 

up

Specific 
allo -

wance 
set up

Over-
due for 

1–30 
days

Overdue 
for 31–
90 days

Overdue 
for 91–

360 days

Overdue 
for 

more 
than 

1 year

Overdue 
but no 

allo -
wance 
set up

Dec. 31, 2010          

Trade receivables 268,494 235,165 33,329 7,018 23,594 5,965 2,165 1,605 0

Dec. 31, 2011          

Trade receivables 296,967 259,673 37,294 6,696 23,667 8,217 2,633 2,777 0
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Allowances for trade receivables during the year under review 

developed as follows:

T€ 2010 2011

As of January 1 3,340 7,018

Translation differences 191 1

Additions to the scope of consolidation 139 0

Allowances set up 4,934 2,255

Utilized in the reporting year – 304 – 201

Reversals – 1,282 – 2,377

As of December 31 7,018 6,696

 

The risk of default for trade receivables is limited due to the large 

number of customers and their widely diversified activities in 

different markets. 

The expenses deriving from the set up of allowances for trade 

receivables and debt write-offs are disclosed under selling and mar­

keting expenses.

18    Inventories

T€ 2010 2011

Raw materials 130,463 125,641

Unfinished products 77,287 81,425

Finished products 111,586 117,350

Impairment losses – 14,305 – 11,405

Total 305,031 313,011

 

Costs of materials amounting to € 696.2 million were recognized 

in the consolidated income statement and are included in the cost 

of sales (2010: € 649.6 million).

19    Current Financial Assets

T€ 2010 2011

Investments (held to maturity) 0 7,982

Receivables from customers and employees 1,719 2,283

Security deposits, guarantees and rental deposits 1,066 1,145

Other financial assets 324 263

Total 3,109 11,673

 

Current financial assets increased mainly through an investment 

which was classified in the category “held to maturity” in accor­

dance with IAS 39 regulations.

The previous year’s figures for financial receivables from custom­

ers and employees, security deposits, guarantees and rental depos­

its as well as other financial assets were reclassified to improve 

comparability. These were recognized under other assets in the 

previous year. See note 20.

20    �Current Prepayments, Other Assets and 
Receivables

T€ 2010 2011

Other taxes 19,972 46,594

Other prepayments 12,814 10,629

Compensation claim   7,500 0

Litigation claims 966 0

Other assets 3,154 1,185

Total 44,406 58,408

 

Other taxes refer mainly to the reclamation of Swiss withholding 

tax and value-added tax in 2011.

Other prepayments contain particularly prepayments for customer 

bonuses and payments made for inclusion on customer supplier 

listings. These will be successively dissolved over the term of the 

contract.
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The prepayments, other assets and receivables are not secured. 

Symrise carries the risk that defaults can occur on receivables up 

to the carrying amount. However, only insignificant cases of 

default have occurred in the past. This item only contains slight 

impairments, which is why the development of the impairment 

account is not presented. 

In the previous year, receivables from customers and employees, 

security deposits, guarantees and rental deposits as well as other 

financial assets were contained in this item, which are recog­

nized under financial assets from 2011 onward. For the sake of com­

parison, items from the previous year have been reclassified. See 

note 19.

21    Assets Held for Sale

As a consequence of the restructuring process carried out in 2009, a 

decision was made to close the “Scent & Care” production site in 

Switzerland and relocate it to Holzminden. The land as well as all 

production and administration buildings were to be sold off and 

were reclassified as “held for sale”. Because the sales activities 

proved unsuccessful, and it is also unclear when a sale will occur, 

the land, buildings and production facilities were reclassified as 

property, plant and equipment. The intention to sell remains 

unchanged.

After the acquisition of Futura Labs Group, state approval was given 

to leave the former Symrise production site in Egypt and transfer 

the operating business to Futura Labs International S.A.E, Egypt, 

and merge the two companies. As a result, it was decided to sell 

the land and technical facilities that are assigned to the Flavor & 

Nutrition segment and classify them as “held for sale”.

T€ 2010 2011 

Property, plant and equipment, Switzerland 1,607 0

Property, plant and equipment, Egypt 0 373

Total 1,607 373

 

22    Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities from temporary differences are 

made up of the following items:

2010 2011

T€ Ta x assets
Ta x 

liabilities
Income/

expenses (–) Ta x assets
Ta x 

liabilities
Income/

expenses (–)

Intangible assets 16,637 81,848 13,165 13,409 75,989 2,631

Property, plant and equipment 6,969 45,261 – 684 7,412 46,035 – 331

Financial assets 106 20 109 106 13 7

Inventories 9,783 249 4,726 8,454 304 – 1,384

Trade receivables, prepayments and other assets 3,076 3,957 2,548 2,333 6,126 – 2,912

Pension provisions 11,688 340 2,279 12,033 257 428

Other provisions and other liabilities 9,445 9,964 1,594 11,319 7,683 3,536

Interests in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 2,993 – 2,993

Losses carried forward 39,513 0 – 1,407 31,134 0 – 8,380

 97,217 141,639 22,330 86,200 139,400 – 9,398

Balancing – 63,082 – 63,082  – 66,379 – 66,379  

Total 34,135 78,557 22,330 19,821 73,021 – 9,398
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Deferred tax expenses amounted to € 9.4 million in 2011 in contrast 

to a deferred tax income of € 22.3 million in 2010. 

This change is mainly due to the fact that the deferred tax income 

in 2010 was influenced by temporary valuation differences from 

Group internal transactions as well as valuation differences from 

derivatives and interests. More tax losses carried forwards were 

available in Germany in 2011.

Tax losses carried forward could be used in Germany, France, Brazil 

and England in 2011. The use of tax deductible depreciations out­

side of Germany led to new taxable losses that can mostly be used 

over the next 5 years. 

Overall, corporation tax losses amounting to € 101.1 million 

(2010: € 99.9 million) existed as of the reporting date. Additionally, 

tax losses carried forward amounting to € 49.3 million (2010: 

114.5 million) from other income tax categories existed, mainly 

from commercial taxes in Germany. Of the corporation tax losses, 

€ 30.0 million are subject to time limits. The other losses are not 

subject to time limits.

The use of tax losses carried forward and therefore the measure­

ment of the corresponding deferred tax assets are substantiated 

through tax planning. As a result, impairment on deferred tax 

assets amounts to only € 0.1 million (2010: € 0.2 million). This cor­

rection only affects Mexico.

The calculation of foreign income taxes is based on the particular 

country’s legal regulations. The tax rates of the individual com­

panies range between 0 % and 42 % without considering financing 

companies. 

Foreign currency translation effects are contained in the deferred 

tax assets and liabilities amounting to € 0.7 million in the year 

under review (2010: € 0.1 million). 

Regarding the change in deferred tax assets from losses carried 

forward, please see note 13 Income Taxes.

23    Other Non-current Assets and Receivables

T€ 2010 2011

Prepayments, customer bonuses 798 3,570

Other loans 225 90

Total 1,023 3,660

 

In the 2011 fiscal year we managed to gain some important cus­

tomer core list positions. The payments made for these inclusions 

will be dissolved over the term of the contract.

In the previous year, this item contained security deposits, guaran­

tees and rental deposits as well as receivables from customers 

and employees which we will classify under non-current financial 

assets from 2011. For the sake of comparison, items from the pre­

vious year have been reclassified. See note 24.

24    Non-current Financial Assets

T€ 2010 2011

Financial assets (available for sale) 2,817 5,077

Security deposits, guarantees and rental deposits 1,388 1,269

Receivables from customers and employees 454 646

Other financial assets 826 194

Total 5,485 7,186

 

Non-current financial assets mainly include shares in investment 

funds that have to be held long-term in compliance with legislative 

requirements for pension obligations in Austria as well as an 

acquired stake amounting to € 1.8 million in 2011. The financial 

assets were classified as available for sale.

The previous year’s figures for security deposits, guarantees and 

rental deposits as well as receivables from customers and employ­

ees were reclassified for the sake of comparability since we will be 

recognizing these under non-current financial assets from 2011 

onwards. See note 23.
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25    Intangible Assets

2010 

T€ Goodwill

Recipes1 
with  

limited  
useful  

lives

Other  
intangible 

assets2 
with  

limited  
useful  

lives

Capitalized 
develop-

ment costs

Advance 
payments  

on develop-
ment costs

Advance 
payments  
on other 

intangible 
assets Total

Cost        

As of January 1, 2010 495,141 585,610 97,881 11,603 3,385 7,404 1,201,024

Additions to the scope of 
consolidation 7,184 3,154 10,968 0 0 0 21,306

Additions from acquisitions 0 0 7,956 0 0 3,266 11,222

Additions through own 
generation 0 0 0 569 1,395 0 1,964

Disposals 0 – 297 – 2,564 – 757 0 – 870 – 4,488

Transfers 0 0 4,315 1,759 – 1,759 – 4,315 0

Currency translation effects 21,321 19,096 4,852 674 0 70 46,013

As of December 31, 2010 523,646 607,563 123,408 13,848 3,021 5,555 1,277,041

        

Cumulative amortization/
impairment        

As of January 1, 2010 – 33,527 – 303,796 – 25,814 – 220 0 0 – 363,357

Additions to the scope of 
consolidation 0 0 – 44 0 0 0 – 44

Scheduled amortization for 
the fiscal year 0 – 32,090 – 12,642 – 1,603 0 0 – 46,335

Impairment 0 0 – 45 0 0 0 – 45

Disposals 0 91 1,606 0 0 0 1,697

Transfers 0 4,589 – 4,589 0 0 0 0

Currency translation effects – 1,300 – 7,879 3,616 0 0 0 – 5,563

As of December 31, 2010 – 34,827 – 339,085 – 37,912 – 1,823 0 0 – 413,647

        

Carrying amounts        

As of January 1, 2010 461,614 281,814 72,067 11,383 3,385 7,404 837,667

As of December 31, 2010 488,819 268,478 85,496 12,025 3,021 5,555 863,394
1 Recipes mainly consist of production recipes that were purchased as part of acquisitions
2 Customer base, software, patents and other rights, trademarks, own IT developments 
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2011 

T€ Goodwill

Recipes1 
with  

limited  
useful  

lives

Other  
intangible 

assets2 
with  

limited  
useful  

lives

Capitalized 
develop-

ment costs

Advance 
payments  

on develop-
ment costs

Advance 
payments  
on other 

intangible 
assets Total

Cost        

As of January 1, 2011 523,646 607,563 123,408 13,848 3,021 5,555 1,277,041

Additions from acquisitions 0 0 7,836 0 0 5,728 13,564

Additions through own 
generation 0 0 0 665 1,355 0 2,020

Disposals 0 0 – 699 – 157 0 0 – 856

Transfers 0 0 3,261 1,138 – 1,186 – 3,213 0

Currency translation effects 7,045 2,594 156 0 0 –112 9,683

As of December 31, 2011 530,691 610,157 133,962 15,494 3,190 7,958 1,301,452

        

Cumulative amortization/
impairment        

As of January 01, 2011 – 34,827 – 339,085 – 37,912 – 1,823 0 0 – 413,647

Scheduled amortization for 
the fiscal year 0 – 28,944 – 11,485 – 2,495 0 0 – 42,924

Disposals 0 0 540 0 0 0 540

Currency translation effects – 2,287 – 4,810 – 4,055 0 0 0 – 11,152

As of December 31, 2011 – 37,114 – 372,839 – 52,912 – 4,318 0 0 – 467,183

        

Carrying amounts        

As of January 1, 2011 488,819 268,478 85,496 12,025 3,021 5,555 863,394

As of December 31, 2011 493,577 237,318 81,050 11,176 3,190 7,958 834,269
1 Recipes mainly consist of production recipes that were purchased as part of acquisitions
2 Customer base, software, patents and other rights, trademarks, own IT developments

Goodwill amounts to € 493.6 million (2010: € 488.8 million), which is 

derived from differing amounts that arose during the capital con­

solidation process. The increase derives from the currency trans­

lation of goodwill recognized by foreign business operations into 

the Group’s reporting currency. 

The main additions in the fiscal year consisted of software (€ 12.4 

million), particularly investments in IT licenses (€ 3.6 million) and 

the global rollout of SAP (€ 2.8 million).

Research and development expenses, which were recorded directly 

as an expense, amounted to € 107.6 million in fiscal year 2011 (2010: 

€ 107.9 million).
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The amortization of recipes and customer base is allocated to pro­

duction and is therefore included in the cost of sales. The amorti­

zation of other intangible assets is generally allocated to the relevant 

functional area in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill According to Segment

T€
December 

31, 2010

of 
which 

addi -
tions  

in 2010
December 

31, 2011

of 
which 

addi -
tions  

in 2011

Segment     

Flavor & Nutrition 328,720 7,184 332,047 0

Scent & Care 160,099 0 161,530 0

Total 488,819 7,184 493,577 0

 

26    Property, Plant and Equipment

2010 

T€
L and and 

buildings
Pl ants and 
machinery Equipment

Assets under 
construction Total

Cost      

As of January 1, 2010 294,756 249,502 111,865 31,026 687,149 

Additions to the scope of consolidation 1,467 1,579 660 207 3,913

Additions 5,716 7,307 7,047 37,265 57,335

Disposals – 4,274 – 3,091 – 3,626 – 377 – 11,368

Transfers 3,103 12,597 5,085 – 20,785 0

Transfers pursuant to IFRS 5 0 – 2,802 – 563 0 – 3,365

Currency translation effects 11,197 8,290 3,653 1,828 24,968

As of December 31, 2010 311,965 273,382 124,121 49,164 758,632

      

Cumulative depreciation/impairments      

As of January 1, 2010 – 79,422 – 146,581 – 75,388 263 – 301,128

Additions to the scope of consolidation – 323 – 877 – 417 0 – 1,617

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 12,377 – 17,518 – 10,424 0 – 40,319

Impairments 0 – 42 0 0 – 42

Disposals 3,790 2,083 2,982 0 8,855

Transfers 0 31 – 31 0 0

Transfers pursuant to IFRS 5 0 2,623 548 0 3,171

Currency translation effects – 2,585 – 4,080 – 2,171 22 – 8,814

As of December 31, 2010 – 90,917 – 164,361 – 84,901 285 – 339,894

      

Carrying amounts      

As of January 1, 2010 215,334 102,921 36,477 31,289 386,021

As of December 31, 2010 221,048 109,021 39,220 49,449 418,738
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2011 

T€
L and and 

buildings
Pl ants and 
machinery Equipment

Assets under 
construction Total

Cost      

As of January 1, 2011 311,965 273,382 124,121 49,164 758,632

Additions 3,119 7,764 6,274 34,558 51,715

Disposals – 26 – 1,173 – 3,675 – 75 – 4,949

Transfers 4,921 21,371 15,493 – 41,785 0

Transfers pursuant to IFRS 5 – 542 – 134 – 59 0 – 735

Reclassifications (IFRS 5) 5,898 3,142 631 0 9,671

Currency translation effects 1,633 757 67 – 848 1,609

As of December 31, 2011 326,968 305,109 142,852 41,014 815,943

      

Cumulative depreciation/impairments      

As of January 1, 2011 – 90,917 – 164,361 – 84,901 285 – 339,894

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 11,607 – 17,849 – 10,991 0 – 40,447

Reversals 590 1,192 76 0 1,858

Disposals 18 1,061 3,527 0 4,606

Transfers 4,035 0 – 4,035 0 0

Transfers pursuant to IFRS 5 195 108 45 0 348

Reclassifications (IFRS 5) – 4,331 – 3,103 – 614 0 – 8,048

Currency translation effects – 1,671 – 813 – 146 – 285 – 2,915

As of December 31, 2011 – 103,688 – 183,765 – 97,039 0 – 384,492

      

Carrying amounts      

As of January 1, 2011 221,048 109,021 39,220 49,449 418,738

As of December 31, 2011 223,280 121,344 45,813 41,014 431,451

 

In 2011, a total of € 51.7 million (2010: € 57.3 million) was invested 

in property, plant and equipment. The most notable of these were 

the expansion of menthol production in Holzminden (€ 10.3 million) 

and the construction of a spray-drying tower in Singapore 

(€ 2.0 million).

The impairments performed in fiscal year 2003 for a Scent & Care 

production facility were reversed during the current fiscal year 

since capacity expansions in production processes will lead to 

greater utilization. The income from this reversal amounting to 

€ 1.7 million is recognized under cost of sales.

27    Trade Payables

Trade payables are due within one year as in the previous year.

For the sake of comparison, items from the previous year have 

been reclassified. See note 29.
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28    Current Borrowings

T€ 2010 2011

Bank borrowings 173,932 133,668

Accrued interest 4,173 4,650

Other current borrowings 45 47

Total 178,150 138,365

 

The differences between the carrying amounts and the nominal 

amounts of bank borrowings, deriving from unamortized trans­

action costs, amounted to € 1.6 million (2010: € 2.1 million).

No security has been provided for current bank borrowings, which 

are made up as follows:

Credit facility 2010 
T€

Maturity  
date Nominal value

Carrying 
amount Nominal interest r ate

Symrise AG      

Revolving credit facility EUR March 2011 125,000 123,499 Euribor + 0.8 % 1.883 %

Revolving credit facility US$ March 2011 49,060 48,461 Libor + 0.8 % 1.1447 %

      

Futura Labs Group, Egypt      

Bank overdrafts January 2011 1,972 1,972  13.5 %

Total  176,032 173,932   

 

Credit facility 2011 
T€

Maturity  
date Nominal value

Carrying 
amount Nominal interest r ate

Symrise AG      

Revolving credit facility EUR January 2012 85,000 83,859 Euribor + 0.8 % 1.997 %

Revolving credit facility US$ March 2012 50,263 49,809 Libor + 0.8 % 1.16856 %

Total  135,263 133,668   

 

Of current bank borrowings from the revolving credit facility, 

€ 135.3 million (2010: € 174.1 million) relate to current loans under 

the terms of a revolving credit facility for € 300.0 million that is 

available to the Group until November 19, 2015. In addition to the 

credit facility mentioned, a bilateral credit line with the Commerz­

bank AG for € 12.5 million exists that is intended to cover short-

term payment requirements. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2011, 

Symrise had unutilized lines of credit available, totaling 

€ 177.2 million (2010: € 145.9 million). 

Current bank borrowings with a nominal value of € 50.3 million 

(2010: € 49.1 million) are designated in US dollars. 

Due to the variable interest rates and the related payment obli­

gations, it can be assumed that the carrying amounts for all 

borrowings correspond to their fair value at the balance sheet 

reporting date.
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29    Other Current Liabilities

T€ 2010 2011

Employee-related liabilities 41,902 34,182

Other taxes 5,146 32,101

Taxes on wages/salaries,  
social security contributions 10,147 12,037

Liabilities to customers 7,320 10,597

Litigation-related liabilities 532 2,122

Purchase price liabilities 3,139 1,782

Insurance premiums 1,394 1,672

Miscellaneous other liabilities 10,991 9,565

Total 80,571 104,058

 

The rise in other taxes resulted from withholding taxes that are 

once again eligible and due shortly in Switzerland due to dividend 

distributions. Employee-related liabilities were lower than the 

previous year mainly due to reduced annual bonuses and other 

bonuses as compared to the previous year. Purchase price lia­

bilities mainly resulted from outstanding purchase price payments 

regarding the acquisition of Futura Labs Group.

Liabilities from litigations present the anticipated expense for 

severance payments in France that will conclude in 2012 after 

proceedings lasting many years. 

Miscellaneous current liabilities mainly derive from diverse ad­

ministration, selling and marketing expenses which arise during 

the normal course of operations.

Outstanding invoices were reclassified in trade payables. For 

the sake of comparison, items from the previous year have been 

reclassified. See note 27.

30    Other Current Provisions

Details of the most significant provisions are listed below:

T€

Perfor-
mance- 

based remu -
ner ation Jubilee

Restruc -
turing  

measures
Sever ance 

payments
Other  

provisions
2011  

Total 2010

January 1 1,928 0 1,559 833 951 5,271 5,862

Utilized – 1,342 0 – 624 – 58 – 334 – 2,358 – 4,038

Reversals – 111 0 – 544 – 751 – 95 – 1,501 – 1,486

Transfers 0 852 0 -25 – 326 501 0

Increases 1,507 0 6 115 87 1,715 4,465

Sub-total 1,982 852 397 114 283 3,628 4,803

Currency translation 
effects – 3 – 2 – 64 5 – 37 – 101 468

December 31 1,979 850 333 119 246 3,527 5,271

 

Performance-based remuneration was approved for the Executive 

Board and select employees.

The provision for restructuring measures exists for the closure of 

the Sorocaba site in Brazil.

Obligations for jubilee were recognized in other liabilities in the 

previous year. Due to the high amount of uncertainty regarding the 

determination and measurement of the obligation, we decided to 

recognize these under provisions in the future.

We expect that the cash outflow for all provisions will take place 

within the next few months and by the end of the year at the very 

latest.
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31    Current Financial Liabilities

This item mainly contains negative market values from forward 

contracts for hedging currency risks amounting to € 1.2 million.

32    Current Tax Liabilities

Liabilities from taxes contain current income taxes for periods 

not yet assessed. Regarding the decline in this item compared to 

the previous year, please see note 13.

33    Non-current Borrowings

Non-current borrowings consist of:

T€ 2010 2011

Bank borrowings 27,419 30,162

Other borrowings 427,913 431,671

Total 455,332 461,833

 

Non-current borrowings contain foreign currencies (US$) amount­

ing to € 135.3 million (2010: € 132.1 million). The differences be­

tween the carrying amounts and the nominal amounts of bank bor­

rowings, deriving from unamortized transaction costs, amounted 

to € 3.7 million (2010: € 4.3 million).

Borrowings 2010 
T€ Maturity  date

Nominal 
value

Carrying 
amount Nominal interest r ate

Symrise AG      

Bond October 2017 300,000 296,219 Fixed 4.125 %

US private placement November 2020 132,085 131,694 Fixed 4.09 %

Promissory note loan April 2013 27,500 27,419 Fixed 5.35 %

Total  459,585 455,332   

 

Borrowings 2011 
T€ Maturity  date

Nominal 
value

Carrying 
amount Nominal interest r ate

Symrise AG      

Bond October 2017 300,000 296,706 Fixed 4.125 %

US private placement November 2020 135,323 134,965 Fixed 4.09 %

Promissory note loan April 2013 27,500 27,452 Fixed 5.35 %

Symrise Rogovo      

Bilateral credit lines September 2013 2,710 2,710
Variable 

MosPrime + 2.5 % 9.83 %

Total  465,533 461,833   
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Securiti es Provided

As part of the revolving credit facility and US private placement 

arrangements, Symrise has entered into an obligation (leverage 

covenant) to keep the relationship between net borrowings and 

EBITDA within defined limits. This ratio is controlled on a quarterly 

basis for compliance.

In addition to the leverage covenant, compliance with a fixed 

upper limit for the ratio between EBITDA and net interest expense 

(interest covenant) is controlled annually in regards to the 

promissory note loan.

34    Other Non-current Liabilities

T€ 2010 2011

Employee-related liabilities 3.383 1.613

Outstanding purchase price payments 0 1.475

Liabilities from severance pay obligations 
and litigation 2.430 707

Liabilities from other taxes 1.700 0

Miscellaneous other liabilities 1.671 2.214

Total 9.184 6.009

 

Employee-related liabilities mainly relate to provisions for phased 

early retirement amounting to € 0.7 million (2010: € 1.9 million) and 

represent post-employment benefit liabilities.

Obligations for jubilee were recognized in other liabilities in the 

previous year. Due to the high amount of uncertainty regarding the 

determination and measurement of the obligation, we decided 

to recognize these under provisions in the future and to adjust the 

previous year’s figures. See also note 35.

Miscellaneous other non-current liabilities mainly derive from 

diverse administration, selling and marketing expenses which 

arise during the normal course of operations.

35    Other Non-current Provisions

Details of the most significant provisions are listed below:

T€ Litigation Jubilee
Restor ation 
obligations

 Perfor-
mance- 

based remu -
ner ation

Other 
provisions

2011  
Total 2010

January 1 1,814 6,223 3,134 93 0 11,264 6,970

Utilized 0 – 366 – 277 0 0 – 643 – 288

Reversals 0 – 6 0 0 0 – 6 0

Increases 0 234 0 545 760 1,539 3,896

Transfers 0 0 38 0 0 38  

Sub-total 1,814 6,085 2,895 638 760 12,192 10,578

Currency translation 
effects – 115 – 26 58 0 0 – 83 326

Interest expenses 1,378 306 14 0 38 1,736 360

December 31 3,077 6,365 2,967 638 798 13,845 11,264

 

Due to years of litigation on income and wage taxes as well as 

social security contributions in Brazil, accruals have already been 

created that were recognized under other liabilities in the past. 

The same is true for obligations for jubilee. The previous year’s 

figures were adjusted accordingly. See also note 34.
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Provisions for obligations exist visàvis respective lessors to restore 

leased objects to their condition before the lease began. The present 

value of restoration obligations are recognized in the period where 

the obligation originated. 

We generally assume that the corresponding cash outflow is due at 

the time of the termination of the respective lease contract, though 

the end of the lease and the amount due are estimated. They are 

normally recognized as non-current items. 

The accumulation of the provision for litigations includes recovery 

effects from previous years.

36    �Provisions for Pensions and Similar Obligations

Individual companies have established pension plans that are ei­

ther financed directly by the Group companies themselves through 

provisions they have set up or by making contributions to exter­

nal investment fund companies outside the Group. The manner in 

which these benefits are provided to employees varies depending 

on the legal regulations and the fiscal and economic environments 

in the respective countries involved. In addition, in some cases, 

the Group has agreed to provide additional post-employment health 

care benefits to its employees. Retirement benefits and health 

care benefits are generally measured based on the wages or salaries 

of the employees and their respective years of service. The obli­

gations relate to both existing retirees and also to entitlements of 

future retirees. With the exception of pension-related interest costs, 

current expenses for the fiscal year are included in the Group’s 

income from operations.

The active participation of employees of the former Haarmann & 

Reimer GmbH, Germany, in the Bayer mutual pension fund was 

terminated with effect from March 31, 2003. The employees of 

Haarmann & Reimer GmbH who had already acquired pension 

rights as of this date automatically became passive members of the 

pension fund from April 1, 2003, onwards. Active members, who 

had unvested rights as of March 31, 2003, had the option to have 

their pension entitlement (excluding employer contributions) paid 

out at this date in the form of a capital sum and from that point in 

time ceased to be members of the Bayer pension fund. For all indi­

viduals in the Bayer pension fund who were active members as of 

March 31, 2003, a benefit scheme was introduced in Germany with 

effect from April 1, 2003, in the form of a direct benefit promise, 

which is financed through a deferred gross compensation arrange­

ment (3 % of the respective maximum income threshold for assess­

ment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension 

Authority West). For those people with components of remuneration 

that exceed the respective threshold for assessment of contri­

butions, employer-financed retirement benefits up to a maximum 

amount are provided based on a benefit scheme. 

At the time that the new benefit scheme was introduced, the former 

Haarmann & Reimer employees were guaranteed that their benefits 

under the company retirement benefit scheme would not worsen as 

a result of the merger. The benefits have to be maintained at the 

same level that existed before the merger took place. This is assured 

under the new benefit scheme. As a consequence of this guarantee, 

the company has also offered those former Haarmann & Reimer 

GmbH employees – whose earnings are regulated by tariff agree­

ment – a further voluntary deferred compensation scheme in the 

form of a direct benefit promise. The employee contribution and the 

employer top-up contribution taken together are limited to a maxi­

mum of 4 % of the respective income limit for the assessment of con­

tributions as defined by the German State Pension Authority West. 

Former Dragoco employees who joined the organization before 

December 31, 1981, are the subject of an employer-financed retire­

ment benefit scheme. The pension payments under this scheme 

are dependent upon the employee’s length of service and their final 

monthly gross remuneration level. 

All non-tariff employees and managers have the possibility to build 

up additional retirement benefit components on a voluntary basis 

in the form of a direct benefit promise involving deferral of remuner­

ation. There is no employer top-up involved in connection with this 

“deferred compensation” arrangement.

All employees who did not belong to a retirement benefit scheme 

as of April 1, 2003, had the opportunity from this date onwards to 

participate in a retirement benefit scheme which was provided in 

the form of a direct benefit promise through deferral of compensa­

tion; this benefit scheme was closed on December 31, 2010. The 

employee contribution and the employer top-up contribution taken 

together were limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective in­

come limit for the assessment of contributions as defined by the 

German State Pension Authority West.

From January 1, 2010, onwards, all new Symrise employees with 

unlimited employment contracts at German locations are obliged 

to join the RPK (“Rheinische Pensionskasse” – an external German 

pension fund) from the seventh month of their employment onwards. 
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Under the terms of this arrangement, the employee pays 2 % of his 

remuneration in the form of deferred gross compensation to the 

RPK (mandatory contribution); the organization tops up the contri­

bution with the same amount. Voluntary contributions are also 

possible and are also topped up with the same amount by the organi­

zation. The employee contribution and the employer top-up contri­

bution taken together are limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respec­

tive income limit for the assessment of contributions as defined by 

the German State Pension Authority West. Effective as of January 1, 

2011, individuals who were already employed in the organization 

but who – unlike the former Haarmann & Reimer employees or em­

ployees of Dragoco who joined before December 31, 1981 – did not 

belong to a benefit scheme, were able to join the RPK scheme on a 

voluntary basis up to September 30, 2010. No pension provision is 

set up for this defined contribution plan with the RPK, which oper­

ates as an external benefit provider.

The amount of the pension obligations (the present value of the en­

titlement or defined benefit obligation) has been determined based 

on actuarial methods by means of an actuarial report made using 

assumptions for the various relevant factors of influence. 

Increases or decreases in the present value of the defined benefit 

obligations can result in actuarial gains or losses, which may derive 

from changes in the calculation parameters used in the computa­

tions and changes in estimates with respect to the development of 

risks related to the pension obligations. The net amount of the 

pension provisions can be derived as follows:

T€ 2010 2011

Defined benefit obligation, unfunded 225,689 260,135

Defined benefit obligation, funded 48,635 57,135

Present value of benefit obligations  
as of December 31 274,324 317,270

Fair value of plan assets – 30,883 – 30,965

Unrecognized gains from plan amendments 5,016 4,415

Unrecognized actuarial losses – 35,040 – 69,102

Unrecognized past service costs – 1,003 0

Liabilities from defined benefit obligations  
as of December 31 212,414 221,618

 

Provisions for pensions amounting to € 221.6 million (2010: 

€ 212.4 million) break down by region as follows: 

T€ 2010 2011

EAME 185,157 193,299

North America 24,443 25,027

Asia/Pacific 353 982

Latin America 2,461 2,310

Total 212,414 221,618

 

The present value of the benefit obligations has developed as 

follows:

T€ 2010 2011

Present value as of January 1 235,548 274,324

Current service costs 10,382 11,731

Interest expenses 12,441 12,887

Recognized losses from plan amendments 264 373

Unrecognized actuarial losses 20,822 30,694

Benefits paid – 10,344 – 10,745

Transfers 0 435

Disposals 0 – 4,671

Translation differences 5,211 2,242

Present value of benefit obligations  
as of December 31 274,324 317,270

 

The disposals resulted from the closure of the Switzerland site.
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Pension obligations have developed as follows:

2010  

T€
Group defined  
benefit pl ans

Post- employment 
healthcare benefits 

Total pension pl ans 
for the Group

Defined benefit obligations as of January 1 185,228 14,220 199,448

Pension expenses 20,964 103 21,067

Employer contributions – 386 – 455 – 841

Benefits paid – 9,407 0 – 9,407

Disposals 37 0 37

Foreign currency differences 950 1,160 2,110

Pension obligations as of December 31 197,386 15,028 212,414

 

2011  

T€
Group defined  
benefit pl ans

Post- employment 
healthcare benefits 

Total pension pl ans 
for the Group

Defined benefit obligations as of January 1 197,386 15,028 212,414

Pension expenses 22,897 176 23,073

Employer contributions – 4,295 0 – 4,295

Benefits paid – 9,804 – 414 – 10,218

Transfers 435 0 435

Disposals – 345 0 – 345

Foreign currency differences – 340 894 554

Pension obligations as of December 31 205,934 15,684 221,618

 

The disposals resulted from the closure of the Switzerland site.
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 The Netherl ands pl an The Swiss pl an The US pl an The Japanese pl an

T€ 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011

Bonds 0 0 3,489 0 8,831 11,929 1,830 1,860

Equity instruments 0 0 265 0 11,455 12,410 2,055 1,968

Real estate 0 0 486 0 0 0 0 0

Other assets 1,478 1,906 177 0 570 587 120 164

Total as of December 31 1,478 1,906 4,417 0 20,856 24,926 4,005 3,992

 

The expenses for pensions and similar benefits break down  

as follows:

2010  

T€
Group defined  
benefit pl ans

Post- employment 
healthcare benefits

Total pension pl ans 
for the Group 

Current service costs 10,162 220 10,382

Past service costs 48 0 48

Interest expenses 11,884 557 12,441

Expected income from plan assets – 1,411 0 – 1,411

Recognized plan amendments for the USA 0 – 674 – 674

Recognized actuarial losses 281 0 281

Expenses for pensions and similar benefits as of December 31 20,964 103 21,067 

    

Actual yield from plan assets 2,444 0 2,444

 

The fair value of the plan assets has developed as follows:

T€ 2010 2011

Fair value of the plan assets as of January 1 25,683 30,883

Employer contributions 387 4,295

Benefits paid – 483 – 527

Expected income from plan assets 1,411 1,605

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) 1,033 – 2,048

Disposals 0 – 4,326

Foreign currency differences 2,852 1,083

Fair value of the plan assets as of December 31 30,883 30,965

 

The disposals resulted from the closure of the Switzerland site.

In 2011, the experience adjustments to plan assets in the USA 

amounted to € 1.8 million (2010: € 1.0 million). In Japan, the 

experience adjustments to plan assets amounted to € 0.6 million 

in 2011 (2010: € 0.1 million). 

 

The fair values of the main groups of plan assets are as stated 

below:
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2011  

T€
Group defined  
benefit pl ans

Post- employment 
healthcare benefits

Total pension pl ans 
for the Group 

Current service costs 11,487 244 11,731

Past service costs 120 0 120

Interest expenses 12,340 547 12,887

Expected income from plan assets – 1,605 0 – 1,605

Recognized plan amendments for the USA 0 – 642 – 642

Gains from disposals -345 0 – 345

Recognized actuarial losses 900 27 927

Expenses for pensions and similar benefits as of December 31 22,897 176 23,073

    

Actual loss from plan assets – 443 0 – 443

 

Pension expenses are included in the consolidated income  

statement as follows:

T€ 2010 2011

Cost of sales 3,237 3,265

Selling and marketing expenses 2,227 3,007

Research and development expenses 1,629 2,031

Administration expenses 1,533 1,883

Total 8,626 10,186

 

Over the past five years, the financing status, derived from the 

present value of all benefit promises and the fair value of plan 

assets, has changed as follows:

T€ 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Present value of defined benefit obligations 200,567 204,449 235,548 274,324 317,270

Fair value of plan assets – 20,613 – 19,593 – 25,683 – 30,883 – 30,965

Financing status as of December 31 179,954 184,856 209,865 243,441 286,305

Experience-based adjustments on plan liabilities – 3,074 4,502 – 1,800 1,213 – 2,652

Experience-based adjustments on plan assets – 217 – 4,771 4,082 1,033 2,048

 

Symrise expects contribution payments of T€ 4,143 in 2012 

(expectation in 2010 for 2011: T€ 2,589) into the funded defined 

benefit plans.

The actuarial assumptions and measurements are based on the 

following parameters, which vary from country to country due to 

their differing economic environments:
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in %
Par ameters 

2010
Par ameters 

2011

Interest rate used for discounting   

Germany 4.70 4.50

USA 5.56 4.47

Other countries vary between 1.57 and 8.35 1.00 and 8.95

Expected yields from plan assets   

USA 7.00 7.00

Other countries vary between 2.00 and 7.50  2.00 and 7.50 

Salary trends   

Germany 2.50 2.50

USA 4.25 4.25

Other countries vary between 1.50 and 10.00  2.00 and 10.00 

Pension trends   

Germany 1.75 1.75

Cost increase factor for  
medical benefits in the US 9.00 9.00

 

The determination of the expected yields on the plan assets is 

mainly based on forecasts for the particular asset class. Overall 

economic expectations, interest rate expectations, inflation rates 

and expectations relating to the development of the stock market 

are all considered in the forecasts.

The salary trends cover expected future rates of salary increase, 

which are estimated annually, and considers inflation rates and 

length of service with the company among other factors. 

A 1 % change in the assumption made for cost trends for healthcare 

benefits would have the following effect:

 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

T€ 2010 2010 2011 2011

Impact on defined benefit obligations 466 418 1,446 1,224

Impact on service costs 48 42 49 43

 

The company in the USA provides healthcare benefits to its 

employees. The costs are determined based on the assumption 

that the cost trend for 2012 and 2013 will be 7 %, while costs 

are expected to increase by 5 % for 2014 and the following years.

37    Equity

Share Capital

The share capital of Symrise AG remained unchanged at 

€ 118,173,300 and is fully paid in. It is divided into 118,173,300 

no-par value bearer shares, each with a calculated nominal 

share value of € 1.00 per share. 

Authorized Capital

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Executive Board on 

May 18, 2011, to increase the share capital in the period up to 

May 17, 2016, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by up to 

€ 23.0 million in one or more issues of new no-par value bearer 

shares for cash and/or assets in kind. 

Existing shareholders are to be granted a subscription right. This 

subscription right can however be denied by the Executive Board in 

the following cases with the consent of the Supervisory Board:
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1.	In the case of capital increases in return for assets in kind to 

grant shares for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of 

companies or share interests in companies. 

2.	For the purpose of issuing a maximum number of 1,000,000 new 

shares to employees of the company and affiliated companies, 

within the constraints imposed by law.

3.	Insofar as this is necessary in order to grant holders of warrants 

and convertible bonds issued by Symrise AG or its subsidiaries 

a right to subscribe for new shares to the extent that they would 

be entitled to such a right when exercising the warrants or 

options or when meeting obligations arising from the warrants 

or options.

4.	To exclude fractional amounts from subscription rights.

5.	In the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, 

if, at the time of the final determination of the issue price by the 

Executive Board, the issue price of the new shares is not sig­

nificantly lower – within the meaning of Sec. 203 (1) and (2) and 

Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(AktG) – than the market price of shares already traded on the 

stock exchange of the same type and with the same attributes 

and the aggregate amount of the new shares for which subscrip­

tion rights are excluded does not exceed 10 % of the share capi­

tal either at the time this authorization comes into force or at the 

time this authorization is exercised. This limitation applies to 

shares that were sold, issued or are to be issued with the exclu­

sion of subscription rights during the term of this correspond­

ing application of Section 186 (3) sentence 4 of the AktG.

Acquisiti on of Tre asury Stock

Following a resolution by the Annual General Meeting held on 

May 11, 2010, the Executive Board is authorized in accordance with 

Sec. 71 (1) no. 8 of the AktG to purchase its own shares up to a 

level of 10 % of the share capital at the time the resolution was made 

up until May 10, 2015. 

The purchase of treasury stock is to be made through the stock 

exchange or by means of a public offer made by the company. 

	 In the case of an acquisition through the stock market, the equiv­

alent paid by the company for each share shall not exceed or 

undercut the opening auction price of the company’s shares on 

Xetra on the trading day by more than 5 %.

	 In the case of acquisition by means of a public offer to purchase, 

the offered purchase price or the margins of the purchase price 

range per share shall not exceed or undercut the average closing 

price quoted by the Xetra trading system for the three stock 

exchange trading days prior to the day of publication of the offer 

by more than 10 %.

	 The authorization was granted for all legally permitted purposes, 

particularly the following: 

–	 For redemption purposes, without the necessity for the 

redemption or its execution to be authorized by a further 

resolution of a general meeting of shareholders. 

–	 For disposal purposes – also in the case of disposal other 

than through the stock exchange or by means of an offer 

to the shareholders – if the shares are disposed of against 

payment in cash at a price that is not significantly less than 

the quoted stock exchange price at the time of disposal for 

shares of the same type. 

–	 For disposal against non-cash benefit, particularly in 

connection with the acquisition of companies.

Capital Reserve and Other Reserves

The capital reserve mainly comprises the share premium that 

arose at the time of the capital increase that was carried out as part 

of the initial public offer and has remained unchanged since 

December 31, 2010. The revaluation reserve results from successive 

past share acquisitions and has changed in comparison to the 

previous year to an insignificant extent as a consequence of tax-

rate amendments. 

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve (Currency Hedges)

Since the start of 2011, Symrise Group has been using forward 

contracts as currency hedges which are classified as cash flow 

hedges. The amount that was transferred during the period from 

equity into the consolidated income statement as part of cash 

flow hedge accounting amounts to T€ 257 (2010: T€ 0) and is recog­

nized under sales.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the cash flow hedge 

reserve for hedging currency risk:

T€ 2010 2011

January 1 0 0

Allocations (effective fair value changes) 0 – 993

Reversals   

 in sales 0 257

Deferred taxes 0 202

December 31 0 – 534

 

Reclassifications of ineffective parts from cash flow hedges into 

the result for the period did not occur in 2011.

Reconciliation of Equit y Components Affected by Other Comprehensive Income

2010 

T€
Revaluation 

reserve
Fair value 

reserve

Cumul ative 
tr ansl ation 
differences

Accumul ated 
deficit

Total other  
compre
hensive 
income

Exchange rate differences that occurred  
during the fiscal year 0 0 62,751 0 62,751

Losses from net investments 0 0 – 2,206 0 – 2,206

Exchange rate differences from non-current assets 
held for sale (IFRS 5) 0 0 – 224 0 – 224

Change in fair value of financial assets  
available for sale 0 – 11 0 0 – 11

Income recorded during the fiscal year for  
cash flow hedges (interest rate hedges) 0 4,214 0 0 4,214

Reclassification of funds for cash flow hedges  
(interest rate hedges) to consolidated income 
statement 0 14,101 0 0 14,101

Tax rate change 47 0 0 68 115

Other comprehensive income 47 18,304 60,321 68 78,740
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2011  

T€
Revaluation 

reserve
Fair value 

reserve

Cashflow  
Hedge  

reserve  
(currency 

hedge)

Cumul ative 
tr ansl ation 
differences

Total other  
compre
hensive 
income

Exchange rate differences from the translation  
of foreign operations that occurred during the  
fiscal year 0 0 0 – 2,958 – 2,958

Losses from net investments 0 0 0 – 2,256 – 2,256

Reclassification of exchange rate differences 
from the translation of foreign operations into the 
consolidated income statement 0 0 0 1,749 1,749

Exchange rate differences from non-current assets 
held for sale (IFRS 5) 0 0 0 -38 -38

Change in fair value of financial assets available  
for sale 0 – 19 0 0 -19

Expenses recorded during the fiscal year for  
cash flow hedges (currency hedges) 0 0 – 751 0 – 751

Reclassification of funds for cash flow hedges  
(currency hedges) to consolidated income statement 0 0 217 0 217

Tax rate change 43 0 0 0 43

Other comprehensive income 43 – 19 – 534 -3,503 – 4,013

 

Other

In accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act, the distri­

butable dividend for shareholders of Symrise AG is to be determined 

with reference to the unappropriated profit calculated in accor­

dance with the rules of German commercial law and presented in 

the annual financial statements of Symrise AG. At the Annual 

General Meeting held on May 18, 2011, a resolution was passed to 

distribute a dividend for the 2010 fiscal year of € 0.60 for each 

ordinary share with a dividend entitlement (2009: € 0.50); the total 

amount of the dividend was T€ 70,904 (2009: T€ 59,087). 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board recommend a 

dividend of € 0.62 per share based on Symrise AG’s unappropriated 

net profit under commercial law as of December 31, 2011. This 

amounts to dividends of T€ 73,267.

38    Disclosures on Capital Management

With an equity ratio (equity in relation to the balance sheet total) of 

43.5 % (2010: 40.9 %), Symrise has a solid equity structure. One 

of Symrise’s fundamental principles is to maintain a strong capital 

base in order to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and 

the market and to be able to drive the future business development 

forward in a sustained manner.

The capital situation is monitored through use of a number of key 

indicators. The relationship between net borrowings (including pen­

sion provisions) to EBITDA and the equity ratio are important key 

indicators for this purpose. The objectives, methods and processes 

in this regard have not changed from the previous year as of the 

reporting date on December 31, 2011. The basis for the calculation 

is provided by the balance sheet equity:

T€ 2010 2011

Share capital 118,173 118,173

Capital reserve 970,911 970,911

Revaluation reserve 2,765 2,808

Fair value reserve 4 – 15

Cash flow hedge reserve 0 – 534

Cumulative translation differences – 1,838 – 5,341

Accumulated deficit – 247,898 – 172,267

Total equity 842,117 913,735
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The objective is to maintain a balance between more favorably 

weighted average capital costs (WACC) resulting from additional 

borrowings and the advantages and security provided by a solid 

equity base. Additionally, the Executive Board monitors the divi­

dends in order to offer shareholders an attractive dividend yield. 

Furthermore, it should be ensured that solid financing options 

exist for acquisition opportunities. 

The average interest expense on liabilities (including pension pro­

visions) was 4.4 % (2010: 4.6 %) and the ratio of net debt – including 

pension provisions – to EBITDA was 2.2 (2010: 2.2). There was no 

change in the Group’s approach to capital management compared 

to the previous year. 

Neither the company itself nor its subsidiaries are subject to exter­

nally imposed capital requirements.

39    �Additional Disclosures on the Cash Flow 
Statement

In accordance with IAS 7, the consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the reporting year 2011 and the previous year show the develop­

ment of cash flows separated into cash inflows and outflows 

deriving from operating, investing and financing activities. Cash 

flows are calculated using the indirect method.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes cash balances, 

checks and balances on hand with banks with a term to maturity 

of up to three months, as was the case in the previous year; the 

amount disclosed is equivalent to the reporting item “Cash and cash 

equivalents”. 

During 2011, the Group made non-cash investments in intangible 

assets and property, plant and equipment amounting to T€ 10,074 

which are not reflected in the statement of cash flows.
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40    Additional Disclosures on Financial Instruments

Information on Financial Instruments According to Category

Value recognized under IAS 39

2010  

T€

Measurement 
category 
under IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

as of  
Dec. 31, 2010

Amortized 
cost

Fair value 
in equity

Fair value 
in profit  

or loss

Fair value 
as of  

Dec. 31, 2010

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 112,215 112,215 — — 112,215

Trade receivables LaR 261,476 261,476 — — 261,476

Financial assets (current and non-current) Reporting items 8,594 — — — —

of which:       

 Other financial assets LaR 5,777 5,777 — — 5,777

 Financial assets available for sale AfS 2,817 — 2,817 – 2,817

       

Liabilities and equity       

Trade payables FLAC 121,048 121,048 — — 121,048

Borrowings (current and non-current) FLAC 633,482 633,482 — — 622,631

       

Of which aggregated into measurement 
categories in accordance with IAS 39:       

 Loans and receivables LaR 379,468 379,468 — — 379,468

 Available for sale financial assets AfS 2,817 — 2,817 – 2,817

 Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost FLAC 754,530 754,530 — — 743,679
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Value recognized under IAS 39

2011 

T€

Measurement 
category 
under IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

as of  
Dec. 31, 

2011
Amortized 

cost
Fair value 

in equity

Fair value 
in profit  

or loss

Fair value 
as of  

Dec. 31, 2011

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 118,608 118,608 — — 118,608

Trade receivables LaR 290,271 290,271 — — 290,271

Financial assets (current and non-current) Reporting items 18,859 — — — —

of which:

 Other financial assets LaR 5,800 5,800 — — 5,800

 Financial assets available for sale AfS 5,077 — 5,077 — 5,077

 Financial assets held to maturity HtM 7,982 7,982 — — 7,982

       

Liabilities and equity       

Trade payables FLAC 118,237 118,237 — — 118,237

Borrowings (current and non-current) FLAC 600,198 600,198 — — 609,923

Financial liabilities (current) Reporting items 2,018 — — — —

of which:       

 Other financial liabilities FLAC 827 827 — — 827

 Derivative financial instruments       

  with hedge relationship n.a. 740 — 740 — 740

  without hedge relationship HfT 451 — — 451 451

       

Of which aggregated into measurement 
categories in accordance with IAS 39:       

 Loans and receivables LaR 414,679 414,679 — — 414,679

 Available for sale financial assets AfS 5,077 — 5,077 — 5,077

 Held to maturity HtM 7,982 7,982 — — 7,982

 Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost FLAC 719,262 719,262 — — 728,987

 Financial liabilities held for trading HfT 451 — — 451 451

 

Due to the fact that most of the financial instruments are short-

term in nature, the carrying amounts for the classifications are only 

insignificantly different from their fair values. 

The fair values of bank borrowings and liabilities deriving from 

promissory note loans are determined as the present values of 

payments relating to the liabilities based on the corresponding 

valid interest rate curve structure adjusted by a credit spread.
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Fair Value According to Valuation Category  

( IFRS 7.27)

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are explained in note 3.

2010 2011

T€ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets         

Financial assets available for sale� AfS 2,817 — — 2,817 3,242 1,835 — 5,077

         

Liabilities and equity         

Derivative financial instruments  
without hedge relationship� HfT — — — — — 451 — 451

Derivative financial instruments  
with hedge relationship� n.a. — — — — — 740 — 740

 

T€ 2010 2011 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (held for trading) – 1,974 27

Loan and receivables (impairments) – 3,678 – 128

Total net gains and losses – 5,652 – 101

 

The results presented do not include expenses and income deriv­

ing from interest and dividends. The previous year’s result was char­

acterized by high allowances to trade receivables and fair value 

changes to interest rate swaps.

41    �Disclosures Relating to Financial Instrument 
Risk Management

Fluctuations in currency and interest rates can result in significant 

risks to earnings and cash flows. For this reason, Symrise moni­

tors these risks centrally and manages them proactively and occa­

sionally with derivative financial instruments.

The management of risk is based on Group-wide guidelines in which 

objectives, principles, responsibilities and competencies are de­

fined. These are monitored on a regular basis and adjusted to cur­

rent market and product developments. With the exception of the 

currency derivatives used in 2011, risk management has remained 

unchanged from previous years.

Interest Ri sk

Interest rate fluctuation risk exists due to potential changes to 

the market interest rate and can lead to a change in the fair value 

of fixed-rate financial instruments and fluctuations in interest 

payments for variable interest rate financial instruments. Since the 

overwhelming portion of financial instruments valued at amor­

tized cost have fixed rates, there is no notable risk if interest rates 

change.

An increase to all relevant interest rates of one percentage point 

would have resulted in T€ 1,345 less earnings as of December 31, 

2011 (Dec. 31, 2010: T€ 1,740). The sensitivity of equity towards 

interest rate changes is minimal.
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2010 Nominal 
of which 

fixed
of which 
variable

of which 
unhedged

1 %  
increase

1 %  
decrease

T€ 452,500 327,500 125,000 125,000 1,250 – 1,250

TUS$ 240,000 175,000 65,000 65,000 650 – 650

 

2011 Nominal 
of which 

fixed
of which 
variable

of which 
unhedged

1 %  
increase

1 %  
decrease

T€ 415,258 327,500 87,758 87,758 878 – 878

TUS$ 240,000 175,000 65,000 65,000 650 – 650

 

Currency Risk

Due to its global activities, Symrise is exposed to two types of 

currency risk. The transaction risk arises in the individual finan­

cial statements of companies through changes in the amounts of 

future payments denoted in foreign currencies due to fluctuations 

in currency exchange rates. 

The Symrise Group’s global positioning results in supply and pay­

ment flows in foreign currencies. These currency risks are sys­

tematically registered and reported to the Group’s headquarters. 

Since 2011, we have been using forward contracts to hedge cur­

rency risk resulting from original financial instruments and from 

planned transactions in US dollars.

Translation risk describes the risk of changes in reporting items in 

the statement of financial position and the income statement of a 

subsidiary due to currency fluctuations when translating the sepa­

rate local financial statements into the Group reporting currency. 

Changes deriving from translation of items reported in the statement 

of financial position of these companies that are caused by cur­

rency fluctuations are disclosed in Group equity. The resulting risks 

were not normally hedged. 

The presentation of the existing currency risk as of the reporting 

date is done in accordance with IFRS 7 using a sensitivity analysis. 

The foreign currency sensitivity is determined from the aggrega­

tion of all financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in a 

currency that is not the functional currency of the respective re­

porting company. The net foreign currency risk determined by this 

analysis is valued at the reporting date rate and at a sensitivity 

rate that represents a 10 % appreciation/depreciation of the Group’s 

reporting currency as compared to the foreign currency. The dif­

ference between this hypothetical valuation represents the effect 

on earnings before taxes and on equity.

In the sensitivity analysis for 2011, currency risk from internal 

monetary items were included for the first time as far as translation 

gains or losses result which are not eliminated as part of consoli­

dation. For the sake of comparison, items from the previous year 

have been reclassified.

Effects from the currency translation of subsidiaries whose func­

tional currency is not the same as that of the Symrise Group do 

not affect the cash flows in the local currency and are therefore not 

included in the sensitivity analysis.

A significant currency risk for the Symrise Group resulted only in 

relation to the US dollar, both for this fiscal year and the previous 

year. This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that all 

variables other than a change in the foreign currency exchange 

rate remain constant.

T€ 2010 2011 

Impacts on profit or loss from a 10 % value 
increase/decrease in the euro as compared 
to the US$ +/– 3,427 +/– 3,220

Impacts on OCI from a 10 % value increase/
decrease in the euro as compared to the US$ 0 –/+ 1,504

Total +/– 3,427 +/– 1,716
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The hypothetical effects of a value increase or decrease of the euro 

and therefore the effects from the volatility of the US dollar are 

considerably lower in 2011 than in the previous year due to the use 

of forward contracts.

As of the reporting date, the following forward contracts were used 

to reduce exposure to currency risk from trade receivables exist­

ing on the reporting date and select expected trade receivables in 

US dollar:

Fair Values Maturity  date

2011

Nominal 
volumes

 
TUS$

Financial 
assets

 
T€

Financial 
liabilities

 
T€

Up to 
1 month

 
T€

Over 1 to 
3 months

 
T€

Over 3 to 
6 months

 
T€

Over 6 to 
9 months

 
T€

Forward contracts        

 with hedge relationship 19,500 0 740 0 270 438 32

 without hedge relationship (HfT) 10,000 0 451 225 226 0 0

Total 29,500 0 1,191 225 496 438 32

 

As of the reporting date, there are forward contracts with a nominal 

volume of US$ 22 million for hedging EUR /US$ as well as forward 

contracts with a nominal volume of US$ 7.5 million for hedging 

SGD /US$.

The forward contracts usually have terms of about six months.

Liquidity  Ri sk

The liquidity risk – i.e. the risk that Symrise is unable to meet its 

financial obligations – is limited by creating the necessary financial 

flexibility within the existing financing arrangements and through 

effective cash management. Symrise manages the liquidity risk 

through use of a 12 month rolling financial plan. This makes it 

possible to finance forecast deficits under normal market conditions 

at normal market terms. Based on current liquidity information, 

no liquidity risks can be foreseen at the moment.

The following summary shows the contractually agreed current 

and non-current redemption payments for financial liabilities, 

including estimated interest payments (3 %) for variable interest, 

as the loans deriving from revolving credit lines are available 

to us on a long-term basis.

2010
Carrying 

amount
Expected 
payments Terms for expected payments

T€   1 to 3 months
Over 3 months  

to 1 year
Over 1 year  

to 5 years
More than  

5 years

Financial liability 633,482 800,989 2,200 21,936 295,518 481,335

 

2011
Carrying 

amount
Expected 
payments Terms for expected payments

T€   1 to 3 months
Over 3 months 

to 1 year
Over 1 year  

to 5 years
More than  

5 years

Financial liability 600,198 738,639 670 21,585 248,609 467,775
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Default and Credit worthiness Risk 

A credit risk is the unexpected loss of cash or income. This occurs 

when a customer is not able to meet his obligations as they become 

due. Receivables management, which employs guidelines that are 

globally valid, coupled with regular analysis of the aging structure 

of trade receivables, ensures that the risks are permanently moni­

tored and limited; in this way, cases of default on receivables are 

minimized. Due to Symrise Group’s wide-ranging business struc­

ture, there is no particular concentration of credit risks either in 

relation to customers or in relation to individual countries.

We only enter into financial contracts for cash investments with 

banks which we have carefully chosen and which are permanently 

monitored. The Symrise Group is exposed to credits risks related 

to derivative financial instruments, which would arise from the con­

tractual partner not fulfilling his obligations. This risk is mini­

mized in that transactions are only entered into with contract part­

ners who have a high credit rating. The carrying amounts of the 

financial assets represent the maximum credit risk. 

42    �Contingent Liabilities and Other Financial 
Obligations

Contingent liabilities relate to potential future events, which, upon 

occurring, would result in an obligation. As of the reporting date, 

the following contingent liabilities are seen as unlikely, but cannot 

be completely ruled out. 

Contingent Li abil iti es

Symrise is confronted with diverse law suits and legal proceedings 

as a result of its normal business activities, which generally relate 

to the areas of labor law, product liability, warranty claims, tax 

law and intellectual property. We create provisions for such cases 

where we see a realistic possibility of it resulting in an obligation 

due to a past event, and which can be reliably estimated and whose 

fulfillment will likely result in the outflow of resources with eco­

nomic value. For all currently pending legal proceedings, we have 

a provision of € 3.0 million. We are currently of the opinion that 

all of the suits and proceedings brought against us, both individu­

ally and as a whole, will have no notable negative influence on 

our business operations, financial situation, results or cash flow. 

The arranged provisions are therefore neither individually nor 

collectively essential. The results of current and future proceedings 

are not predictable, meaning that legal or official decisions or 

settlement agreements could lead to expenses that are not or not 

completely covered by our insurance services and could therefore 

have substantial effects on our business and its results. Many of our 

processes are covered by insurance benefits relating to our product 

liability insurance. 

As of December 31, 2011, Symrise had the following financial 

obligations:

Oper ating Le ases

Payment obligations exist for operating lease agreements, which 

have terms ranging from less than 1 year to 15 years and mainly 

relate to vehicles and buildings. These leases cannot be cancelled 

before the term is finished. Some of the agreements contain renewal 

options or price escalation clauses but do not include purchase 

options. The aggregate net future cash outflows are phased as 

follows:

Net cash outflow

T€ 2010 2011 

During the fiscal year 14,547 14,483

   

Due in one year 9,345 10,137

Due in two years 7,167 7,097

Due in three years 3,961 4,922

Due in four years 3,092 1,835

Due in five years 1,377 1,424

Due in six years or more 9,803 9,803

Total 34,745 35,218

 

Other Obligations

As of December 31, 2011, the Group had obligations to purchase 

property, plant and equipment amounting to € 7.3 million (2010: 

€ 6.0 million). This mainly relates to production facilities, the 

construction of offices, hardware and office equipment. Most are 

due during the course of 2012. Other obligations amounting to 

€ 91.9 million (2010: € 50.8 million) exist from not yet fulfilled non-

current obligations for the purchase of goods.

Symrise AG signed a service contract, effective February 1, 2006, 

for outsourcing internal IT with a term of ten years with Atos 

Origin GmbH. The remaining total obligations towards Atos amount 

to € 65.8 million (2010: € 81.7 million).
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Contracts for consulting, cooperations and other services also exist 

with terms reaching to 2014 at the latest. Total obligations from 

these contracts amount to € 1.6 million (2010: € 2.4 million).

43    �Share-based Remuneration – Long Term 
Incentive Plans

Long Term Incentive Pl ans 2009,  2010 and 2011

The Supervisory Board initially adopted the concept of a Long Term 

Incentive Plan (LTIP) in 2007. The original concept provides the 

basis for the three-year performance periods of 2009 to 2011 and 

2010 to 2012. Only the performance criteria were adjusted on 

an annual basis. The concept includes two performance criteria: the 

increase of the absolute share price and the “Symrise Added Value” 

during the performance period.

Using the average quoted price of the company’s shares on the ten 

trading days before the appointed date of January 1 and the ten 

trading days after this appointed date as a basis, a comparison of 

the share price is made at the end of the performance period. The 

expectation is that the share price will increase by at least 20 %; 

furthermore, provision is made for a maximum share-price (a “cap”). 

The calculation of the probability of reaching these objectives is 

made on the basis of estimated assumptions. A dividend yield is not 

factored into the required performance of the share component.

Payment in respect of the “Symrise Value Added” is only made if 

the capitalized earnings value – based on earnings from ordinary 

business activities less a yield on the capital employed in the per­

formance period – achieves a target amount set by the Supervisory 

Board which is aligned to Symrise’s strategic plan.

The LTIP is designed as a “performance cash bonus”; this means 

that the participating managers receive a variable cash bonus 

after the end of the three year performance period, which is depen­

dent on the increase in the share price and the achievement of 

the “Symrise Value Added” target. The Supervisory Board decides 

whether the set targets have been achieved at the end of the per­

formance period.

Participants in the LTIP for the periods of 2009 to 2011 and 2010 to 

2012 are the Executive Board members serving in office during 

those periods and one additional manager, due to his position and 

importance across the company. 70 % of the performance cash 

bonus is based on the development of the share price while 30 % is 

based on the “Symrise Value Added”. 

Based on the average share price of € 9.88, the LTIP for the per­

formance period of 2009 to 2011 was compared with the share 

price at the end of 2011 and valued with an actual payout value of 

T€ 1,500.8.

The corresponding initial share price for the LTIP 2010 to 2012 

is € 15.81 and, based on the “Black-Scholes” formula, is valued 

at T€ 356.7 with a share price of € 19.34 and an expected volatility 

of 43.5 %.

The existing concept has been revised and adjusted for the per­

formance period 2011 to 2013: The new LTIP concept that will debut 

for the performance period 2011 to 2013 replaces the share price 

development as a key indicator for the LTIP with a performance 

index. This index is composed of listed companies in the fragrance 

and flavor industry as well as supplier companies in the food and 

cosmetics industry (peer group). The key indicator for measuring 

performance in contrast with the peer group is the share price 

development plus dividends or other payments. The development 

of Symrise compared to the other companies in the index will be 

presented in the form of a percentile ranking and is therefore not 

to be classified as a share-based payment. 

Str ategic Share Bonus 2010

At the beginning of 2010, the Executive Board placed eight stra­

tegically important employees in a newly created share-based 

bonus program for the period from January 2010 to December 2011. 

24,700 virtual shares were “distributed” based on a share price of 

€ 14.17. 

The payment of the cash amount occurred at the end of the two-year 

period based on the average share price of the previous 20 trading 

days.

In order to protect the value of the bonus in the case of a drop in 

the share price, a virtual hedge was set at 50 % of the bonus-relevant 

share price. To ensure that non-performance related share price ef­

fects were limited, a maximum price of 200 % of the bonus-relevant 

share price was also agreed to.
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No other employees were added to the program in 2011. Currently, 

there are no plans to continue the program.

Based on the share price as of the reporting date of € 19.34, the fair 

value of the program in 2011 amounted to T€ 477.7.

44    �Transactions with Associated Companies and 
Related Parties

Associated Companies

A small amount of goods were purchased from associated companies 

in the 2011 fiscal year. 

Rel ated Parties

Related and associated companies, Executive Board members and 

former managers as well as Supervisory Board members and 

former shareholder representatives and their close relatives are 

considered related parties. 

The sales and purchases from related companies were completed 

under the same terms and conditions as though they had been 

transacted with third parties. 

Contribution payments were made to the Rheinische Pensionskasse 

(RPK) amounting to T€ 624. These were allocated to their corre­

sponding function according to their assignment. There were no 

receivables or liabilities resulting from these transactions with 

the RPK as of the reporting date. For additional information, see 

note 36.

The members of the Executive Board received cash-based remu­

neration of T€ 3,186 (2010: T€ 3,796) including fringe benefits and 

variable remuneration components in 2011. The allocations to 

provisions for non-current services amounted to T€ 1,365 (2010: 

T€ 94), of which T€ 1,084 was share-based.

The service cost for pensions in the fiscal year amounted to T€ 151 

(2010: T€ 191).

The former Executive Board member Mr. Horst-Otto Gerberding re­

ceived pension payments of T€ 289.6 during 2011 (2010: T€ 281.7).

Provisions for current pensions and pension entitlements for 

former members of the Executive Board and managers amounting 

to € 6.8 million were recognized as of December 31, 2011 (2010: 

€ 6.5 million).

Total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board 

amounted to T€ 797 during the reporting period (2010: T€ 769).

The individualized remuneration of members of the Executive 

Board and Supervisory Board is disclosed in the corporate gover­

nance report.

The following table summarizes the stock transactions reported 

to the company pursuant to Sec. 15a of the WpHG (“Wertpapierhan­

delsgesetz” – German Securities Trading Act): 

Name and position
T ype of 
tr ansaction T ype of security

Date,  
where tr aded

Number  
of shares

Price per 
share (€)

Total  
volume (€)

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram  
(Chief Executive Officer) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share March 15, 2011 Xetra 2,700 18.79 50,733.00

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram  
(Chief Executive Officer) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share Aug. 10, 2011 Xetra 3,000 17.74 53,220.00

Bernd Hirsch  
(Executive Board member) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share Aug. 10, 2011 Xetra 4,000 17.70 70,800.00

Bernd Hirsch  
(Executive Board member) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share Aug. 10, 2011 Xetra 500 17.70 8,850.00

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram  
(Chief Executive Officer) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share Aug. 11, 2011 Xetra 3,000 17.23 51,690.00

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram  
(Chief Executive Officer) Purchase Symrise no-par-value share Aug. 11, 2011 Xetra 3,000 17.06 51,180.00
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45    �Long-term Objectives and Methods for Managing 
Financial Risk

Please see the risk report, which is a component of our Group 

management report. 

46    �Audit of Financial Statements

The Annual General Meeting of Symrise AG, held on May 18, 2011, 

appointed KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft as auditor for 

the fiscal year 2011.

The following table provides an overview of the fees paid to the 

auditors:

T€ 2010 2011

Audit of financial statements 892 914

Other audit assurance services 116 17

Tax advisory services 756 408

Other services 78 33

Total 1,842 1,372

 

47    �List of Companies Included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Fully consolidated companies as of December 31, 

2011:

Name and Registered Office of the Company Share

Germany  

Symrise Beteiligungs GmbH, Holzminden 100 %

DrinkStar GmbH, Rosenheim 100 %

Schimmel & Co. Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, 
Holzminden 100 %

Kaden Biochemicals GmbH, Hamburg 100 %

Tesium GmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Symotion GmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Busiris Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Symrise US-Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 100 %

Symrise IP-Verwaltungs GmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Symrise IP-Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden 100 %

Haarmann & Reimer Unterstützungskasse Gesellschaft mit 
beschränkter Haftung, Holzminden 100 %

Name and Registered Office of the Company Share

Rest of Europe  

Aromatics S.A.S., France 100 %

OOO Symrise Rogovo, Russia 100 %

Steng Ingredients Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise SA, Switzerland 100 %

Symrise Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise Holding Limited, UK 100 %

Flavours Direct Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise B.V., Netherlands 100 %

Symrise Iberica S.L., Spain 100 %

Symrise S.A.S, France 100 %

Symrise S.r.l., Italy 100 %

Symrise Vertriebs GmbH, Austria 100 %

Symrise Kimya Sanayi Ticaret Ltd. Sirketi, Turkey 100 %

Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxembourg 100 %

WWS Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise Group Finance Holding 1 BVBA, Belgium  100 %

Symrise Group Finance Holding 2 CV, Belgium 100 %

  

North America  

Symrise Inc., USA 100 %

Symrise Holding, Inc., USA 100 %

  

Latin America  

Symrise Aromas e Fragracias Ltda., Brazil 100 %

Symrise S.R.L., Argentina 100 %

Symrise S.A., Chile 100 %

Symrise Ltda., Columbia 100 %

Symrise C.A., Venezuela 100 %

Symrise S. de R.L. de CV., Mexico 100 %

  

Asia and Pacific  

Symrise Pty. Ltd., Australia 100 %

Symrise Limited, China 100 %

Symrise Shanghai Limited, China 100 %

Symrise SDN. BHD, Malaysia 100 %

Symrise Holding Pte. Limited, Singapore 100 %

Symrise Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise Limited, South Korea 100 %

Symrise Ltd., Thailand 100 %

Thamasarb Company Limited, Thailand 100 %

P.T. Symrise, Indonesia 100 %

Symrise, Inc., Philippines 100 %

Symrise Private Limited, India 100 %

Symrise K.K., Japan 100 %
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Name and Registered Office of the Company Share

Africa and the Middle East  

Aroma Labs For Flavours S.A.E., Egypt 100 %

Futura Labs International S.A.E., Egypt 100 %

Symrise Middle East Limited, Dubai 100 %

Symrise (Pty) Ltd., South Africa 100 %

Symrise Mauritius Limited, Mauritius 100 %

Symrise S.A.E., Egypt 100 %

Symrise S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100 %

Origines S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100 %

 

Associated Companies as of December 31,  2011

Name and Registered Office of the Company Share

Therapeutic Peptides Inc., USA 20 %

 

48    �Shareholdings in Symrise AG pursuant to 
Sec. 160 (1) no. 8 of the AktG

As of the balance sheet reporting date, Symrise AG had received 

the following notifications from company shareholders pursuant 

to the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG):

Company
Registered 
Office

Notifica -
tion 
received

Dated 
effective 
as of

% threshold 
exceeded  

or fallen 
below

% share-
holding 

after-
wards

Voting 
rights

Gerberding Vermögensverwaltung GmbH4 Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006

10.00 %

 

5.86 %

 

Herr Horst-Otto Gerberding4 Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006 6,928,087

Gerberding Vermögensverwaltung  
GmbH & Co. KG4 Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006  

Sun Life Financial Corp.1 Ontario, Canada Aug. 2, 2007 June 29, 2007 3.00 % 3.03 % 3,577,909

Bank of New York Mellon Corporation1

New York, 
NY, USA Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 30, 2008 5.00 % 4.98 % 5,888,136

M & G Investment Funds2 London, UK March 25, 2008 March 18, 2008 5.00 % 5.055 % 5,974,017

Massachusetts Financial Services Company 
(MFS)2 Boston, MA, USA Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada –  
US Operations Holdings Inc.1

Wellesley Hills,  
MA, USA Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life Financial (U.S.) Holding Inc.1
Wellesley Hills,  
MA, USA Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life Financial (U.S.) Investments LLC1

Wellesley Hills,  
MA, USA Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life Financial Inc.1
Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life Global Investments Inc. 
(previously Sun Life Financial Corp.)1

Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun Life of Canada (U.S.) 
Financial Services Holdings Inc.1 Boston, MA, USA Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc.1 New York, NY, USA Dec. 1, 2009 Nov. 26, 2009 3.00 % 3.02 % 3,570,582

Schroder International Selection Fund
Sennigerberg, 
Luxembourg June 2, 2010 April 29, 2010 3.00 % 2.91 % 3,441,370

Capital Income Builder, Inc. Los Angeles, CA, USA June 7, 2010 June 2, 2010 3.00 % 2.99 % 3,538,936

Capital Research and Management Company2 Los Angeles, CA, USA June 14, 2010 June 10, 2010 3.00 % 2.38 % 2,807,585

FMR LLC1 Boston, MA, USA June 22, 2010 June 16, 2010 3.00 % 2.9 % 3,429,477

Fidelity Management & Research Company2 Boston, MA, USA June 22, 2010 June 16, 2010 3.00 % 2.82 % 3,335,977
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Company
Registered 
Office

Notifica -
tion 
received

Dated 
effective 
as of

% threshold 
exceeded  

or fallen 
below

% share-
holding 

after-
wards

Voting 
rights

JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited2,5 London, UK Nov. 8, 2010 Nov. 3, 2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc.2,5 New York, NY, USA Nov. 8, 2010 Nov. 3, 2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

JPMorgan Asset Management (Taiwan) 
Limited2,5 Taipei, Taiwan Nov. 8, 2010 Nov. 3, 2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

Standard Life Investment Limited2 Edinburgh, UK Nov. 15, 2010 Nov. 10, 2010 3.00 % 3.073 % 3,631,647

MG Investment Management Limited1 London, UK Feb. 4, 2011 Feb. 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.02 % 11,843,270

M & G Limited1 London, UK Feb. 4, 2011 Feb. 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.02 % 11,843,270

M & G Group Limited1 London, UK Feb. 4, 2011 Feb. 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.02 % 11,843,270

Prudential plc1 London, UK Feb. 4, 2011 Feb. 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.02 % 11,843,270

M & G Securities Limited2 London, UK Feb. 9, 2011 Feb. 7, 2011 10.00 % 10.01 % 11,833,646

Ameriprise Financial Inc.3,4 Minneapolis, MN, USA Feb. 15, 2011 Feb. 10, 2011 3.00 % 3.07 % 3,623,754

Schroders plc1 London, UK March 10, 2011 March 9, 2011 3.00 % 3.099 % 3,661,854

Schroder Administration Limited1 London, UK March 10, 2011 March 9, 2011 3.00 % 3.099 % 3,661,854

Schroder Investment Management Limited2 London, UK March 10, 2011 March 9, 2011 3.00 % 3.08 % 3,639,244

Mondrian Investment Partners Limited2 London, UK July 25, 2011 July 22, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,727,760

MIPL Holdings Limited1 London, UK July 27, 2011 July 22, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,727,760

MIPL Group Limited1 London, UK July 27, 2011 July 22, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,727,760

Atlantic Value General Partner Limited1 London, UK July 27, 2011 July 22, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,727,760

Altantic Value Investment Partnership LP1 Wilmington, DE, USA July 27, 2011 July 22, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,727,760

BlackRock Inc.1 New York, NY, USA Aug. 31, 2011 Aug. 25, 2011 3.00 % 3.15 % 3,722,939

BlackRock Financial Management Inc.1 New York, NY, USA Aug. 31, 2011 Aug. 25, 2011 3.00 % 3.14 % 3,715,465

BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc.1 Wilmington, DE, USA Aug. 31, 2011 Aug. 25, 2011 3.00 % 3.14 % 3,715,465

FIL Limited2 Hamilton, Bermuda Sep. 15, 2011 Sep. 13, 2011 3.00 % 2.990 % 3,534,523

FIL Investments International2 Kent, UK Sep. 15, 2011 Sep. 13, 2011 3.00 % 2.990 % 3,534,523

FIL Holdings Limited1 Kent, UK Sep. 15, 2011 Sep. 13, 2011 3.00 % 2.990 % 3,534,523

Jahr GmbH4 Hamburg, Germany Jan. 30, 2012 Jan. 27, 2012 3.00 % 3.050 % 3,600,000

Jahr Holding GmbH & Co. KG4 Hamburg, Germany Jan. 30, 2012 Jan. 27, 2012 3.00 % 3.050 % 3,600,000

Jahr Assetmanagement GmbH4 Hamburg, Germany Jan. 30, 2012 Jan. 27, 2012 3.00 % 3.050 % 3,600,001

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited2 London, UK Feb. 10, 2012 Feb. 7, 2012 3.00 % 2.996 % 3,540,276

Threadneedle Asset Management Holdings 
Limited1 London, UK Feb. 10, 2012 Feb. 7, 2012 3.00 % 2.996 % 3,540,276

Treadneedle Asset Management Holdings 
SARL1

Luxembourg, 
Luxembourg Feb. 10, 2012 Feb. 7, 2012 3.00 % 2.990 % 3,535,299

1 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) p. 1 no. 6 of the WpHG as well as Sec. 22 (1) p. 2
2 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) p. 1 no. 6 of the WpHG
3 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) p. 1 no. 6 as well as p. 2 and 3 of the WpHG
4 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) p. 1 no. 1 of the WpHG
5 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec. 22 (2) of the WpHG
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49    �Exemption from the Obligation to Prepare Annual 
Financial Statements Pursuant to Sec. 264 (3) of 
the HGB

DrinkStar GmbH, Tesium GmbH and Symotion GmbH are included 

in the consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG in accor­

dance with the provisions applicable for corporate entities and have 

taken advantage of the exemption provisions covering the prepa­

ration, audit and publication of separate annual financial statements 

pursuant to Sec. 264 (3) of the HGB. 

50    Corporate Governance

The Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 of the AktG has 

been submitted for 2011 and has been made permanently available 

to shareholders on our website www.symrise.com

Holzminden, February 16, 2012

Symrise AG 

The Executive Board

 

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 	 Achim Daub

 

Hans Holger Gliewe 	 Bernd Hirsch
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Statement of the Executive Board

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 

reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give 

a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and the re­

sults of operations of the Group, and the Group management report 

includes a fair review of the development and performance of the 

business and the position of the Group, together with a description 

of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the 

expected development of the Group.

Holzminden, February 16, 2012

Symrise AG 

The Executive Board

 

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram	 Achim Daub

 

Hans Holger Gliewe	 Bernd Hirsch
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Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 

the Symrise AG, Holzminden, comprising the consolidated income 

statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consol­

idated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of 

cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group 

management report for the business year from January 1 to Decem­

ber 31, 2011. The preparation of the consolidated financial state­

ments and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs, 

as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German 

commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch 

“German Commercial Code”] are the responsibility of the parent 

companỳ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the consolidated financial statements and on the group manage­

ment report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German generally accepted 

standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 

Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presen­

tation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations 

in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 

applicable financial reporting framework and in the group manage­

ment report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge 

of the business activities and the economic and legal environment 

of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are 

taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The ef­

fectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report are examined pri­

marily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 

includes assessing the annual financial statements of those enti­

ties included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be in­

cluded in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation princi­

ples used and significant estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan­

cial statements and group management report. We believe that our 

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli­

dated financial statements comply with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, 

the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant 

to Sec. 315a (1) HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, 

financial position and results of operations of the Group in accor­

dance with these requirements. The group management report is 

consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a 

whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably 

presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Hanover, February 22, 2012

KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr. Bartels-Hetzler	 Dr. Thümler 

Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Corporate Governance Report

C o r p o r at e  G o v e r n a n c e  R e p o r t

recommendation issued by the Government Commission on the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, paragraph 

5 of the Code’s current version of May 26, 2010 published in the of-

ficial section of the electronic Federal Gazette by the German Feder-

al Ministry of Justice on July 2, 2010. The Executive Board and the 

Supervisory Board are of the opinion that, should a member of the 

Executive Board voluntarily commit him/herself to the company for 

the statutory maximum period of five years, the remuneration 

should be suitably guaranteed for such period of time so that it is ad-

equate in case of a specifically defined change of control in case of 

an acquisition. Thus, the company guarantees that the realization of 

the company’s approved long-term strategy is ensured by a compo

sition of the Executive Board that is optimized for the situation.”

In the past, we have followed internationally and nationally acknowl-

edged standards of good and responsible corporate governance 

and will continue to do so in the future. In the 2011 fiscal year, the 

Executive and Supervisory Boards dealt intensively with all corpo-

rate governance issues on numerous occasions across all areas.

Conflicts of Interest

As in the previous year, conflicts of interest of members of the Exec-

utive Board, which have to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board 

without delay, did not occur in 2011. The only consultant or service 

agreements or other exchange contracts in fiscal year 2011 be-

tween members of the Supervisory Board and the company involved 

Mr. Horst-Otto Gerberding, as in the previous year:

In connection with the retirement of Mr. Gerberding as managing 

director of the former Symrise Holding GmbH, the Company and 

Mr. Gerberding entered into an “Amended and Restated Service 

Agreement” on September 4, 2003. Under the terms of this agree-

ment, Mr. Gerberding is entitled to an annual retirement pension of 

€ 100,000 until his death. This amount increases by € 7,500 for 

each year that Mr. Gerberding remains in the service of the Com-

pany after the conclusion of the agreement. Mr. Gerberding is also 

entitled to a pension from Symrise AG through an employment and 

supply contract dated July 29, 1983. The total sum is € 24,358 per 

month.

Introduction

Corporate Governance at Symrise is based on the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code, which has established itself as guideline and 

standard for good corporate governance in Germany. Today, we are 

convinced more than ever before that good corporate governance is 

a prerequisite and indispensable basis for a company’s success. 

This success depends especially on the trust of our business part-

ners, financial markets, investors, employees and the public. Con

firming and further strengthening this trust is a prioritized objec-

tive at Symrise. Achieving this objective calls for responsible leader-

ship along with corporate management and control that focuses 

on creating sustainable value.

Corporate governance at Symrise is based on the recommendations 

and suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code. The 

Executive and Supervisory Boards of Symrise AG issued a new dec-

laration of compliance on December 7, 2011, pursuant to Sec. 161 

of the German Stock Corporation Act. The declaration is worded as 

follows: “In accordance with Sec.161 of the German Stock Corpora

tion Act, the Executive and Supervisory Boards of Symrise AG state 

that: Symrise has fully complied – without exception – with all rec-

ommendations made by the Government Commission on the German 

Corporate Governance Code (version: May 26, 2010) published by 

the German Federal Ministry of Justice on July 2, 2010, in the offi-

cial part of the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and 

will continue to do so in the future up until October 31, 2012. Regard-

ing the employment contract of the Chief Executive Officer and ef-

fective from November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2014, the Company will 

deviate from the 23rd recommendation issued by the Government 

Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code contained in 

no. 4.2.3, paragraph 5 of the Code’s current version from May 26, 

2010, published in the official section of the electronic Federal 

Gazette by the German Federal Ministry of Justice on July 2, 2010 as 

follows: The commitments for payments in case of an early termina-

tion of an Executive Board position resulting from a change of con-

trol may exceed 150 % of the severance payment cap and amount to 

up to 250 % of the severance payment cap for the Chief Executive 

Officer between November 1, 2012 and October 31, 2014. Effective as 

of November 1, 2014, the company will again comply with the 23rd 
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Objectives of the Supervisory Board  

in Rel ation to its Composition

In its session on December 14, 2010, pursuant to no. 5.4.1 sentence 

2 of the German Corporate Governance Code in its current version of 

May 26, 2010, the Supervisory Board set itself concrete goals 

which, in keeping with the Company’s specific situation, take ac-

count of (i) the Company’s international activity, (ii) potential con-

flicts of interest, (iii) an age limit for Supervisory Board members to 

be defined, and (iv) diversity. One of its main goals is ensuring an 

appropriate participation of women.

The current Supervisory Board at Symrise AG has a total of twelve 

members, including seven independent members and three women: 

Prof. Dr. Pfeifer, Ms. Jarke and Ms. Hufnagel. The Supervisory 

Board seeks to ensure that in its future composition too, at least one 

sixth of its members will be female. The Supervisory Board consid-

ers this to be an appropriate share of women based on the proportion 

of women among the Group’s managerial staff, which also amount-

ed to one sixth at the end of the last fiscal year. Generally, at least 

seven independent members should be represented in the Supervi-

sory Board in future, too. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board strives 

to ensure that the share of Supervisory Board members from other 

nations does not fall below one sixth. The term of office for a Super-

visory Board member must end at the conclusion of the Annual 

General Meeting following the member’s 70th birthday. All of these 

targets are currently being met. Concerning future nominations, it 

will be ensured that the targets defined by the Supervisory Board 

continue to be fulfilled.

Tr ansparency

Pursuant to Sec. 15a of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG - 

Wertpapierhandelsgesetz), the members of the Executive and Su

pervisory Boards of Symrise AG as well as certain employees with 

management duties and persons with whom they have a close rela-

tionship must disclose the purchase or sale of Symrise stock and re-

lated financial instruments. This duty of disclosure applies if the 

value of the transactions undertaken by one of the aforementioned 

persons reaches or exceeds a total of € 5,000.

All of the reports received by Symrise AG as of December 31, 

2011, are published on our website at: www.symrise.com > en > 

investor-relations > corporate-governance > directors-dealings. 

This includes all such reports since the IPO in December 2006, 

including any persons who have meanwhile left the Executive or 

Supervisory Board.

The direct or indirect total holding of shares in Symrise AG by all 

members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as of December 

31, 2011, was more than 1 %. Of the 6.157 % of shares in Symrise AG 

held by members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards, 6.01 % 

is held by members of the Supervisory Board while 0.147 % is held 

by members of the Executive Board.

A summary of the respective mandates of the members of the 

Executive Board and the Supervisory Board outside of the Symrise 

Group can be found on pages 162 /163 of this Annual Report.

A report on the relationships to associated companies and related 

parties can be found on pages 144 /145 of this Annual Report.

E XECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY  

BOARD REMUNERATION *

REMUNER ATION OF THE E XECUTIVE BOARD

Members of the Executive Board are remunerated in line with Sec. 

87 of the German Stock Corporation Act, pursuant to which the Su-

pervisory Board sets the remuneration. Remuneration consists of 

fixed and variable components, as well as fringe benefits. The ap-

propriateness of the remuneration depends upon the responsibilities 

and personal achievements of the individual Executive Board mem-

ber as well as the economic situation and market environment of the 

Company as a whole. In its session on March 2, 2011, the Personnel 

Committee dealt with the goals achieved by the Executive Board 

members in 2010 and defined corresponding variable components. 

In its meetings held on July 7, 2011 and August 3, 2011, the com-

mittee examined the salaries of Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, Bernd 

Hirsch and Hans Holger Gliewe and adjusted them by a decision of 

the Supervisory Board on December 7, 2011. 

All Executive Board members receive their contractually specified 

fixed remuneration paid as a salary in equal monthly payments. The 

variable component of the total remuneration in 2011 consisted of 

an annual bonus based on the achievement of Company targets. To 

determine the remuneration payment, the EBIT for the Symrise 

Group and its business divisions was used as a key performance in-

dicator for the Group. The variable portion of total remuneration is 

based on targets specified by the Supervisory Board and agreed 

upon in target agreements with the individual members of the 

Executive Board at the start of 2011, which in turn are based on the 

agreed company targets. The annual bonus will be paid out in the 

following year (2012) on the basis of the approved annual financial 

statements for 2011.

* This remuneration report is also a component of the Management Report.

155-167 Corporate Governance (E) (2011-02-29)(2).indd   156 07.03.12   17:12



157Company Group Management Report Consolidated Financial Statements Notes corporate governance

Corporate Governance Report

In addition to the basic remuneration and the annual bonus, a Long 

Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) exists for the Executive Board, which was 

offered to all of the former members of the Executive Board from 

January 2009 until December 2011. Beyond this, the Supervisory 

Board offered the members of the Executive Board additional LTIPs 

for the periods from 2010 to 2012 and 2011 to 2013. All of these plans 

are arranged as performance cash plans. The performance compo-

nents for the plans from the years 2009 and 2010 are based on the 

absolute share price and the medium-term development of the Com-

pany. Both plans, including their performance criteria, were dis-

cussed and determined by the Supervisory Board and its committees.

As reported last year, the Supervisory Board adopted a new LTIP con-

cept at its meeting on December 4, 2010 and initially offered it to all 

Executive Board members for the performance period 2011 to 2013.

The new LTIP concept replaces the share price development as a 

performance benchmark for the LTIP with a share-based index. 

This index is composed of listed companies in the fragrance and 

flavor industry as well as supplier companies in the food and cos-

metics industry. The key indicator for measuring performance is 

the share price development plus dividends or other payments. 

Symrise’s development compared to the companies in the index is 

represented in the form of a percentile ranking. No bonus is paid if 

the Company is below the 40th percentile ranking. The maximum 

achievable bonus value – the bonus cap – corresponds to double the 

bonus value if 100 % of the targets are reached. In this case, a cap 

of 200 % would be reached. With 100 % of targets reached, the 

LTIP bonus amounts to € 560,000 for Dr. Bertram. For Mr. Daub the 

LTIP bonus amounts to € 343,000, for Mr. Gliewe € 300,000 and 

Mr. Hirsch € 325,000. These payments are not share-based. The task 

is considered completed with the fulfillment of all conditions with 

the expiration of the LTIP at the end of 2013.

As of the reporting date, provisions were formed for Dr. Bertram 

and Mr. Daub amounting to € 930,344 (previous year: € 268,144) 

(2011 expense: € 662,200), and € 693,712 (previous year: € 204,385) 

(2011 expense: € 489,327) respectively for the LTIPs for 2009–2011, 

2010–2012 and 2011–2013.

As of the reporting date, provisions were formed for Mr. Gliewe and 

Mr. Hirsch amounting to € 126,745 (previous year: € 18,763) (2011 

expense: € 107,982), and € 121,082 (previous year: € 16,073) (2011 

expense: € 105,009) respectively for the LTIPs for 2010–2012 and 

2011–2013.

The full amounts are presented individually in the following over-

view:

Ex ecutive Board Remuner ation 2011

in € SAL ARY
REMUNER ATION 

IN KIND*
VARIABLE RE -

MUNER ATION**

TOTAL  
REMUNER ATION 

PAID  

FAIR VALUE  
OF RESPECTIVE 

LTIP AT TIME  
OF PAYMENT

TOTAL REMU -
NER ATION IN 

ACCORDANCE 
WITH  

SEC. 314 (1) 
NO. 6A HGB 

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 560,000 8,370 465,500 1,033,870 0 1,033,870

 2010 530,834 8,471 628,192 1,167,497 129,059 1,296,556

Achim Daub 400,000 6,833 380,000 786,833 0 786,833

 2010 400,000 6,762 506,400 913,162 98,372 1,011,534

Hans Holger Gliewe 350,000 5,363 330,050 685,413 0 685,413

 2010 350,000 0 471,800 821,800 86,039 907,839

Bernd Hirsch 350,000 10,050 320,125 680,175 0 680,175

 2010 308,334 9,155 385,204 702,693 73,707 776,400

*Fringe benefits include non-monetary benefits, for example, from the use of a company car and payments for group insurance.

**��Variable remuneration includes bonus provisions for the current year and bonus payments from the previous year to the extent that they differ from the amount of the previous year.
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E X TENSION OF E XECUTIVE BOARD CONTRA CTS

The current Executive Board contracts for Dr. Heinz-Jürgen 

Bertram, Hans Holger Gliewe and Bernd Hirsch will expire at vari-

ous points during the fourth quarter of 2012. The Supervisory 

Board therefore resolved in its meeting on December 7, 2011 to offer 

Dr. Bertram a five-year renewal contract as CEO as well as three-

year renewal contracts for Mr. Gliewe and Mr. Hirsch in their 

respective positions. The Executive Board contracts were signed 

as offered.

The general contract terms are identical for all Executive Board 

members and correspond to the current standard with the excep

tion of the so-called change of control clause, which is explained 

below.

PENSIONS

All members of the Executive Board have the possibility of accu-

mulating deferred compensation benefits by converting their 

salaries. In 2011, Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, Hans Holger Gliewe 

and Bernd Hirsch built up their pensions by converting their 

salaries. In 2011 there were allocations to provisions from converted 

salaries as well as interest expenses for Dr. Bertram amounting 

to € 80,002 (previous year: € 96,725) as well as € 80,781 (previous 

year: € 61,567) for Mr. Gliewe and € 57,416 (previous year: 

€ 51,037) for Mr. Hirsch.

A pension commitment exists solely for Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 

and Hans Holger Gliewe due to their prior employment contract. 

This pension commitment was also offered to all other employees of 

the former Haarmann & Reimer GmbH. Due to actuarial parameters, 

€ 38,791 was added to the provisions for these benefit obligations for 

Dr. Bertram and € 45,499 for Mr. Gliewe.

The pension provisions made for individual Board members are 

presented in the following table.

Pension provisions 2011

in € 

ADDITIONS TO  
PENSION PROVISIONS  
FROM PENSION FUND

THEREOF EMPLOYEE  
CONTRIBUTION FROM  
SAL ARY CONVERSION

CASH VALUE OF  
PENSION PROVISION TOTAL 

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 118,793 46,750 715,874

 2010 145,961 46,750 597,081

Achim Daub 0 0 0

 2010 0 0 0

Hans Holger Gliewe 64,713 6,750 475,319

 2010 83,938 6,750 410,606

Bernd Hirsch 57,416 36,750 108,489

 2010 51,073 36,750 51,073
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CHANGE OF CONTROL

The employment contracts that form the basis for all of the current 

Executive Board appointments include a special right of termina-

tion for the Executive Board member in the case of a change of con-

trol, which is to be exercised within six months. Executive Board 

members that make use of this right will have the remaining term 

of their contracts paid out. The overall limit of payments to be 

made is set at 150 % of the severance cap according to the provisions 

of the German Corporate Governance Code of May 26, 2010 – in 

other words a maximum of three year’s remuneration including sup-

plementary payments.

In its meeting on December 7, 2011, the Supervisory Board deter-

mined an expanded change of control provision for the newly com-

pleted employment contracts for Symrise Executive Board members.

This stipulates that, in the case of a change of control and an early 

recall of the Executive Board members Hans Holger Gliewe or 

Bernd Hirsch by the Supervisory Board, they would receive compen-

sation for the remaining term of their contracts with severance of 

at least three year’s pay due to their three-year contract terms. To-

gether, compensation and severance cannot exceed the three 

year’s worth of severance suggested by the German Corporate 

Governance Code.

For Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, the remaining term of his contract 

(five years) would be paid out, with severance amounting to at 

least three year’s worth of pay. A limitation of compensation and 

severance to a maximum of three years is not included. Because 

of this, the payment can amount to up to five year’s worth of pay 

depending on when the change of control would come into effect.

Additionally, the Long Term Incentive Plans for 2010 and 2011 con-

tain a specific provision for a possible change of control. In such a 

case, a payment based on 100 % of the targets reached is provided 

if a change of control takes place and a member of the Executive 

Board is dismissed from his post as a result. This means that the 

Long Term Incentive Plans that are still in effect up to this point are 

paid out on the basis of 100 % of the targets being reached.

EARLY  TERMINATION AND E XPIRATION  OF  

EMPLOYMENT CONTRA CTS

Apart from the special provisions in the case of a change of control 

described above, the employment contracts of the Executive Board 

members contain no special remuneration clause for the premature 

cancellation of the appointment of an Executive Board member. In 

such cases, the Executive Board member in question is only entitled 

to continued payment of his or her fixed salary for the duration of 

the employment contract. An entitlement to bonus payments for the 

fiscal year concerned does not exist. 

Due to his employment with the Company since August 1, 1980, 

Hans Holger Gliewe has the exclusive agreement that, in the case of 

a termination of his Executive Board contract due to reasons that 

he is not responsible for, his previous employment contract with the 

Company would be renewed.

A post-employment prohibition of competition clause of twelve 

months was agreed upon with the Executive Board members. By way 

of compensation, the member concerned shall receive 50 % of the 

contractually agreed basic salary. 

The members of the Executive Board do not receive any special 

remuneration upon expiration of their contracts and do not receive 

any severance pay. 

SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION  STRUCTURE

In addition to their base compensation, the Supervisory Board’s 

remuneration also includes a variable component that adequately 

reflects the company’s earnings per share. The base compensation 

for each member of the Supervisory Board is € 20,000. As long as 

the Company’s earnings per share amount to at least € 0.15, each 

member of the Supervisory Board receives € 200 for every € 0.01 of 

company earnings per share. The Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board receives twice this amount in both base compensation and 

variable remuneration. The Vice Chairman receives 1.5 times 

these two remuneration components. The variable remuneration 

component has an upper limit. For simple members of the Super

visory Board, this limit is € 40,000, for the Vice Chairman it is 

€ 60,000 and for the Chairman it is € 80,000.
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While observing all legal requirements, Symrise AG took out a pro-

fessional indemnity insurance (D&O insurance) for the members of 

the Executive Board with an appropriate deductible pursuant to Sec. 

93 (2) sentence 3 of the German Stock Corporation Act. In conform

Committee chairpersons receive an additional, fixed, annual 

remuneration of € 10,000. Vice committee chairpersons receive an 

additional € 5,000 annually while simple committee members 

receive an additional € 2,500 annually. All members of the Super

visory Board receive a stipend of € 1,000 per committee meeting 

ity with the German Corporate Governance Code, a professional in-

demnity insurance (D&O insurance) with an appropriate deducti-

ble was also taken out for the members of the Supervisory Board.

or per meeting of the Supervisory Board, though the maximum 

stipend is € 1,500 per calendar day.

A breakdown of the total remuneration for each Supervisory Board 

member is shown in the following table:

in € 

BASIC REMU -
NER ATION AS 

OF DEC. 31

REMUNERA-
TION FOR 

EARNINGS 
PER  

SHARE AS  
OF DEC. 31

COMMIT TEE 
REMUNER A-

TION AS  
OF DEC. 31 STIPENDS

PAYMENT 
DUE AS  

OF DEC. 31, 
2011

PAYMENT 
DUE AS  

OF DEC. 31, 
2010

Andreas Schmid� Chairman (until May 18, 2011) 15,222.00 18,876.00 12,368.00 5,500.00 51,966.00 131,200.00

Dr. Thomas Rabe� Chairman (from May 18, 2011) 32,389.00 40,162.00 23,938.00 14,000.00 110,489.00 63,100.00

Horst-Otto Gerberding 20,000.00 24,800.00 5,000.00 12,500.00 62,300.00 58,600.00

Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae� (until May 18, 2011) 7,611.00 9,438.00 2,854.00 4,000.00 23,903.00 61,100.00

Dr. Michael Becker� (from May 18, 2011) 12,389.00 15,362.00 6,194.00 5,500.00 39,445.00 0.00

Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer� (from May 18, 2011) 12,389.00 15,362.00 1,549.00 4,000.00 33,300.00 0.00

Dr. Peter Grafoner 20,000.00 24,800.00 4,569.00 13,500.00 62,869.00 56,600.00

Dr. Hans-Heinrich Gürtler 20,000.00 24,800.00 2,070.00 10,500.00 57,370.00 50,600.00

Dr. Helmut Frieden� (until May 18, 2011) 7,611.00 9,438.00 0.00 2,000.00 19,049.00 50,600.00

Christiane Jarke� (from May 18, 2011) 12,389.00 15,362.00 1,549.00 5,500.00 34,800.00 0.00

Karl-Heinz Huchthausen� Vice Chairman 30,000.00 37,200.00 6,549.00 10,000.00 83,749.00 79,900.00

Regina Hufnagel 20,000.00 24,800.00 5,000.00 8,500.00 58,300.00 58,600.00

Helmut Tacke 20,000.00 24,800.00 0.00 6,000.00 50,800.00 50,600.00

Peter Winkelmann� (until May 18, 2011) 7,611.00 9,438.00 951.00 5,000.00 23,000.00 57,600.00

Gerd Lösing� (from May 18, 2011) 12,389.00 15,362.00 0.00 4,000.00 31,751.00 0.00

Francesco Grioli 20,000.00 24,800.00 1,549.00 7,500.00 53,849.00 50,600.00

 270,000.00 334,800.00 74,140.00 118,000.00 796,940.00 769,100.00

�Earnings per share: € 1.24
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SHAREHOLDERS AND ANNUAL GENERAL  MEETIN G

Symrise AG shareholders exercise their co-determination and con-

trol rights at the General Meeting, which takes place at least once 

each year. The Meeting makes decisions on all statutory matters 

that are binding for all shareholders and the Company. For every 

decision, each share is entitled to one vote. All shareholders that 

register within the specified period are entitled to participate in 

the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders who are not able to at-

tend the Meeting in person are entitled to have their voting rights 

exercised by a bank, a shareholders association, a voting proxy of 

Symrise AG who is bound by its instruments or another proxy of 

their own choosing. Shareholders also have the possibility of voting 

per internet in the run-up to the Annual General Meeting or au-

thorizing the voting proxy provided by the Company on the web. In-

structions on how voting rights are to be exercised may be given to 

a voting proxy before and during the Annual General Meeting on 

May 15, 2012, up until the end of the general debate. It is possible 

to transfer the voting rights to a voting proxy electronically up until 

6:00 p.m. on the evening of May 14, 2012. The invitation to the An-

nual General Meeting and the reports and information required for 

the decisions are published according to stock corporation law 

and made available on Symrise AG’s website in German and English.

It is our intention to provide our shareholders with quick, com

prehensive and effective information before and during the Annual 

General Meeting and to make it easy for them to exercise their 

rights. The Annual Report and the invitation to the Annual General 

Meeting, both of which are also available on the Symrise AG web-

site, provide shareholders with comprehensive information on the 

past fiscal year and the individual agenda items for the upcoming 

Annual General Meeting. All documents and information pertaining 

to the Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report are avail

able on our website.

The registration and identification process for the Annual General 

Meeting is simple and the 21st day before the Annual General 

Meeting is the cutoff date. The 21st day before the Meeting is there-

fore the applicable cutoff date for the identification of the share-

holders.

After the Annual General Meeting, we publish the attendance fig-

ures and voting results on our website.

INFORMATION SERVICE FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Corporate communication is undertaken with the objective of guar-

anteeing the greatest possible transparency and equality of oppor-

tunities by providing timely and equal information to all target 

groups. All major press and capital market releases by Symrise AG 

are also published on the Company’s website in German and Eng-

lish. The articles of incorporation, rules of procedure for the Execu-

tive and Supervisory Boards, the annual and consolidated financial 

statements and quarterly results can also be found on our website 

along with the annual and half-yearly financial reports.

We regularly notify our shareholders, analysts, shareholder associ-

ations and the public of all important recurring dates through a fi-

nancial calendar published in the Annual Report, quarterly reports 

and on the Company website. Regular meetings with analysts and 

institutional investors are part of our investor relations activities. 

This includes an annual analysts’ conference as well as conference 

calls for analysts and investors coinciding with the publishing of our 

quarterly and half-yearly figures.

The most important presentations prepared for these and other 

events, such as the Annual General Meeting, roadshows and investor 

conferences, can also be viewed on our website. The location and 

dates for road shows and investor conferences can also be found on 

our website at: www.symrise.com > en > investor-relations  

> presentations.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibly dealing with risks of all kinds is key to the success of 

a company. For this reason, a comprehensive risk management sys-

tem is a mandatory element of suitable corporate governance. The 

Executive Board ensures appropriate risk management and risk con-

trolling throughout the Group. The risk management system is 

constantly developed and adapted to changing conditions. Up until 

now potential risks were analyzed and classified throughout the 

Group twice a year. Starting in 2012, the analysis and classification 

of possible risks will be performed constantly using electronic sys-

tems across the entire Group. This ensures that the Company’s risk 

situation is always available and up to date.
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The risk management system at Symrise AG, including its security 

mechanisms, internal guidelines and monitoring instruments, are 

checked by the internal Group auditors without prior notice. Risks 

identified in this manner are immediately reported to the Executive 

Board. 

The early recognition system for risk in accordance with Sec. 91 (2) 

of the German Stock Corporation Act is monitored by auditors in 

Germany and abroad.

Along with the audit of annual accounts and monitoring of account-

ing procedures, the Auditing Committee set up by the Supervisory 

Board also undertakes regular auditing and monitoring of the ef-

fectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems. 

This includes, for example, regular reporting by Internal Auditing 

and compliance officers at Symrise.

This overlapping mechanism allows risks to be identified and as-

sessed at an early stage. The Executive Board regularly informs the 

Supervisory Board and Auditing Committee of existing risks and 

their development. Specific measures are proposed and implemented 

right from this early stage to mitigate the identified risks. Internal 

Auditing also checks on the implementation of these new measures 

and a critical assessment is made of the results. The risk profile is 

thereby constantly monitored and measures necessary to mitigate 

risks are introduced. Specific staff members are assigned respon

sibility for this and held accountable in their performance review.

OUR AUDITORS:  KPMG

With regard to the consolidated financial statements and the inter-

im reports at Symrise, our accounting in fiscal year 2011 was 

again based on the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) as they are applied in the European Union. The legally 

prescribed individual accounts of Symrise AG that are decisive for 

the payment of dividends have been prepared in accordance with 

the regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB - Handelsge-

setzbuch). As in 2010, the annual financial statements of Symrise 

AG as well as the management report and the consolidated annual 

financial statements of Symrise AG as well as the group manage-

ment report were again audited in 2011 by our auditors KPMG AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hanover. An agreement is in 

place with the auditors to promptly notify the chairman of the Au-

diting Committee of any grounds for disqualification or prejudice 

that are identified during the audit, insofar as such circumstances 

cannot immediately be rectified. The auditors are instructed to re-

port without delay all findings and incidents of significance for the 

duties of the Supervisory Board that are identified during the audit 

to the Executive and Supervisory Boards. Moreover, the auditors are 

required to notify the Supervisory Board and make a note in the 

audit report if circumstances are identified during the audit that are 

incompatible with the declaration of compliance issued by the Ex-

ecutive Board and Supervisory Board in accordance with Sec. 161 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act.
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Report of the Supervisory 
Board of Symrise AG

Dear Shareholders,

After a strong first quarter, the momentum of the economic recov-

ery gradually slowed over the course of 2011. The political unrest 

in North Africa and the Middle East and the sovereign debt crisis 

in the eurozone contributed to this development as did the natural 

disaster in Japan. At the same time, raw material prices rose con-

siderably over the course of the year. The sovereign debt crisis of 

various euro nations and the resulting austerity measures in the 

affected countries led to a reduction in the expected growth rates 

for the years 2012 and 2013. For Symrise, the main challenge in 

2011 was strengthening our margins through cost-consciousness 

and efficiency increases. This was necessary due to the increas

ingly restrained order behavior of important customers and higher 

raw material costs.

In this report I would like to inform you about the key activities 

of the Supervisory Board in this challenging environment. In 2011, 

the Supervisory Board again fulfilled its responsibilities under the 

law and according to the articles of incorporation with great care. 

In the sessions of the Supervisory Board and its committees, we 

again discussed and reached agreements on a number of matters 

and business transactions subject to our approval.

We regularly provided consultation to the Executive Board and su-

pervised the management of the company. We are satisfied that 

the company was managed in a way that complied with all legal and 

regulatory requirements. The Supervisory Board was directly and 

deeply involved in all decisions of fundamental significance to the 

company. The Executive Board comprehensively discussed and 

coordinated the strategic planning and orientation of the company 

with us. As in the previous two fiscal years, the Supervisory and 

Executive Board held a separate meeting in 2011 to examine and 

evaluate the company’s strategy.

Based on information received from the Executive Board, we thor-

oughly discussed and advised on all business transactions of sig-

nificance to the company in our full Supervisory Board meetings. 

The Executive Board provided us with regular, current and com

prehensive reports in written and oral form on all aspects important 

to the company for this purpose. This includes above all informa-

tion on the development of the business and financial situation, the 

employment situation, ongoing and planned investments, basic 

corporate strategy and planning issues as well as the risk situation, 

risk management and the compliance program. The Executive 

Board informed us at an early stage of matters that, according to 

legal requirements and/or the articles of incorporation, are sub-

ject to our approval and allowed us the necessary time to make a 

decision. Wherever required by law or by the articles of incorpo

ration, we submitted our vote on the reports and proposed resolu-

tions of the Executive Board after thorough analysis and discus-

sion. In urgent special cases, decisions were made in consultation 

with the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, either by telephone 

or in writing.

The Executive Board provided us with a monthly report on all of the 

key financial figures. When there were deviations in the course 

of business from the set plans and objectives, we received detailed 

explanations in written and oral form, enabling us to discuss the 

reasons for the deviations and targeted correction measures with 

the Executive Board.

R e p o r t  o f  t h e  S u p e r v i s o r y  B o a r d  o f  S y mr  i s e  A G

Dr. Thomas Rabe , Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG
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Additionally, during the periods between the sessions of the Super-

visory Board and its committees, the Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board and the Chairman of the Auditing Committee in particular 

were in close and continuous contact with the Executive Board. 

The global economic slowdown and its consequences for current and 

future business development as well as the status of essential proj-

ects and key business transactions in both Group divisions were re-

peatedly a subject of our discussions with the Executive Board.

As in the previous year, conflicts of interest of members of the Ex-

ecutive and Supervisory Boards, which must be disclosed to the 

Supervisory Board without delay and which must be reported to 

the Annual General Meeting, did not occur in 2011.

THE SUPERVISORY BOARD’S WORK IN COMMITTEES

As in the past, the Supervisory Board formed a total of four com-

mittees to fulfill its responsibilities more efficiently. These commit-

tees draft the Supervisory Board’s resolutions and prepare the 

agenda items to be addressed in the full sessions. To the extent that 

it was legally admissible, the Supervisory Board delegated decision 

making to its committees in individual cases. This practice of dele-

gation has proved successful in our experience. The Supervisory 

Board established an Auditing Committee, an Arbitration Commit-

tee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Co-determination Act (MitbestG), 

a Personnel Committee and a Nominations Committee as permanent 

committees. The task of the latter is to recommend suitable candi-

dates to represent the shareholders when new Supervisory Board 

elections are coming up. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

chairs all of the committees with the exception of the Auditing Com-

mittee. In the Supervisory Board sessions, the chairmen of the 

committees report regularly and extensively on the content and re-

sults of the committee meetings. As a result, the Supervisory 

Board always has a comprehensive basis of information for its con-

sultations.

The Personnel Committee is responsible for matters pertaining to 

the Executive Board. These matters include making resolution rec-

ommendations at the full Supervisory Board meetings regarding 

the appointment of Executive Board members or regarding compo-

nents of Executive Board members’ employment contracts. This 

committee is also responsible for succession planning at the Exec-

utive Board level and it deals with the development of the Execu-

tive Board remuneration system, specifies the amount of remuner

ation and makes corresponding recommendations at the full 

Supervisory Board meetings. The Personnel Committee additionally 

resolved to incorporate the criterion of diversity when appointing 

future Executive Board members, striving in particular to give ap-

propriate consideration to women. The Personnel Committee cur-

rently has six members of which three members are shareholders’ 

representatives and three are employee representatives on the 

Supervisory Board. The members are: Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman), 

Regina Hufnagel, Christiane Jarke, Horst-Otto Gerberding, Dr. Hans-

Heinrich Gürtler and Karl-Heinz Huchthausen. The Personnel 

Committee convened three times in the 2011 fiscal year. All of the 

members attended every meeting. The deliberations regarding 

the contracts for Executive Board members Dr. Bertram, Gliewe and 

Hirsch, which end in 2012, were the main focus of the committee 

work in the 2011 fiscal year.

The Auditing Committee deals with the annual financial statements 

and consolidated financial statements. In addition, it monitors the 

accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal controlling sys-

tem, the risk management system, the internal auditing system 

and the audit of annual accounts. It also monitors the independence 

and qualifications of the auditor as well as additional services 

provided by the auditor. Furthermore, the Auditing Committee dis-

cussed the interim reports in detail and approved them before they 

were published. The Auditing Committee prepares the Supervisory 

Board’s decision on the approval of the annual financial statements 

and its approval of the consolidated financial statements. To this end, 

it is responsible for preauditing the annual financial statements, 

the consolidated financial statements, the management report and 

the proposal regarding appropriation of earnings. Among the reg

ular agenda items are also the receipt of the reports from Internal 

Auditing and the Compliance office as well as the risk report. At 

least one member of the Auditing Committee must be independent 

and possess expertise in accounting or auditing. The Auditing 

Committee currently has five members. Three members are share-

holders’ representatives on the Supervisory Board and two em

ployee representatives on the Supervisory Board. The members are: 

Dr. Michael Becker (Chairman), Dr. Peter Grafoner, Francesco 

Grioli, Karl-Heinz Huchthausen and Dr. Thomas Rabe. The Auditing 

Committee convened five times in the 2011 fiscal year. One mem-

ber of the Auditing Committee was unable to attend one meeting. 

One other member was unable to attend two meetings. The CFO 

regularly attends the meetings of the Auditing Committee while the 

auditor, CEO and other guests are present for individual agenda 

items when needed. The committee’s work focused on the auditor’s 

reports as well as the refinement of the risk management system 

and the compliance program. The auditor reported in detail on all 

findings and incidents of significance to the duties of the Super

visory Board that were identified during the audit and reviews of 

the interim financial statements.
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The Auditing Committee prepared the Supervisory Board’s pro

posal to the Annual General Meeting to again nominate KPMG AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Hanover as the auditor. Fur-

thermore, the Auditing Committee solicited a statement of indepen-

dence from the auditor. It commissioned the auditor to conduct an 

audit with a risk-oriented approach, established the main focuses 

of the audit and determined the auditing fees.

Shareholders and employees are equally represented on the Arbitra-

tion Committee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Co-determination 

Act (MitbestG). Currently, its four members are Dr. Thomas Rabe 

(Chairman), Regina Hufnagel, Dr. Peter Grafoner and Karl-Heinz 

Huchthausen. Once again, it was not necessary to convene the Arbi-

tration Committee during the 2011 fiscal year.

The Nominations Committee consists exclusively of shareholder rep-

resentatives from the Supervisory Board in accordance with the 

German Corporate Governance Codex. Its task is to recommend 

shareholder representatives to the Annual General Meeting who 

would be suitable Supervisory Board members for upcoming Super-

visory Board elections. The current three members are: Dr. Thomas 

Rabe (Chairman), Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer and Horst-Otto Gerberding. 

The nominations committee convened four times during the 2011 

fiscal year.

TOPICS OF THE FULL SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETIN GS

The effects of the political revolutions in North Africa, high raw 

material costs and the euro debt crisis on Symrise represented the 

main focus of our work and were the topics of regular discussions 

within the Supervisory Board, as were the measures that the Exec-

utive Board enacted in response to these situations and those 

planned for the future. Regular deliberations within the Supervi

sory Board also covered the development of sales, earnings and 

employment at Symrise and its two corporate divisions in the indi-

vidual regions and the economic conditions present there. It also 

discussed the company’s financial and liquidity situation as well 

as important investment projects and their development as mea-

sured against the planned objectives. In the 2011 fiscal year, the 

Supervisory Board held six ordinary sessions, two of which fo-

cused on specific topics. The first meeting on a specific topic cen-

tered around the company’s strategy, its monitoring in view of 

the changing economic environment and the state of its implemen-

tation, while the second such meeting focused on the annual plan-

ning for 2012. No member of the Supervisory Board was present at 

less than half of the meetings.

In our session on March 3, 2011, we consulted and coordinated 

with the Executive Board on the approval of the annual financial 

statements and the consolidated financial statements for 2010. 

We also discussed the preparations for the Annual General Meet-

ing 2011 regarding the establishment of new authorized capital 

and the selection of shareholder representatives for the Supervisory 

Board, the Corporate Governance Statement, the Corporate Gover-

nance report and various M&A projects. All members of the Super-

visory Board and the auditor attended this session.

In our session on May 17, 2011, the Executive Board report on the 

company’s performance during the first quarter of 2011 and its out-

look for the rest of the year represented the main focus of the meet-

ing as did the impending Annual General Meeting. All Supervisory 

Board members attended this session.

The session on May 18, 2011 was a constituent assembly after all 

12 members of the Supervisory Board had been newly elected and 

the service terms of the previous members had ended. The topics 

covered were elections and committee appointments. All Supervi-

sory Board members attended this session.

In the fourth session on August 3, 2011, the Supervisory Board fo-

cused on the report from the Executive Board on the company’s 

performance during the second quarter and first half year of 2011 

and its update to the outlook for the rest of the 2011 fiscal year as 

well as the risk report and the Auditing Committee’s report. All Su-

pervisory Board members attended this session.

In the session on September 29, 2011, the Executive Board explained 

the corporate strategy and discussed it with the Supervisory 

Board. In view of the changing economic conditions, we discussed 

the necessity of an adjustment to the strategy and the state of its 

implementation in detail with the Executive Board. All Supervisory 

Board members attended this session.

The sixth session on December 7, 2011 was devoted to the corporate 

planning for the upcoming 2012 fiscal year. The Supervisory Board 

approved the corporate planning for the 2012 fiscal year in this ses-

sion. All Supervisory Board members attended this session.

ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011

The auditor KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Hanover, 

audited the annual financial statements for the fiscal year from 

January 1, 2011, to December 31, 2011, which were prepared by the 

Executive Board according to HGB (German Commercial Code) 
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standards, as well as the Symrise AG management report. The Au-

diting Committee issued the order for the audit in accordance with 

the May 18, 2011, resolution of the Annual General Meeting. The 

auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion.

The Symrise AG consolidated financial statements were prepared 

in accordance with Sec. 315a HGB on the basis of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in the European 

Union. The auditor also gave the consolidated financial statements 

and the Group management report an unqualified audit opinion.

The auditor’s report on these financial statements as well as addi-

tional auditing reports and documentation were delivered to all 

members of the Supervisory Board in a timely manner. They were 

discussed thoroughly in the sessions of the Auditing Committee 

of February 14 and March 7, 2012, and in the session of the Super-

visory Board of March 7, 2012. The auditors participated in the 

discussion of the annual financial statements and consolidated fi-

nancial statements in both bodies, where they reported on the 

key audit results and were available to the Supervisory Board to 

answer any questions and provide additional information.

Following our own review of the annual financial statements, the 

consolidated financial statements, the management report and the 

Group management report, we accepted the findings of the auditor. 

In our session of March 7, 2012, we approved the annual financial 

statements and the consolidated financial statements upon the rec-

ommendation of the Auditing Committee. The annual financial 

statements are thereby approved. After examining it, we endorsed 

the proposal of the Executive Board for the use of the net income 

for the year. The Supervisory Board considers the proposal regard-

ing the use of profits to be appropriate.

Corpor ate Governance

Pursuant to no. 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

in the Corporate Governance Report, which can be found in this 

annual report on pages 155 to 162, the Executive Board reports on 

corporate governance at Symrise AG also on behalf of the Super-

visory Board. The same section of the annual report also contains 

the remuneration report. The Corporate Governance Statement 

pursuant to Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is now 

publicly available on Symrise AG’s website at: www.symrise.com/

en/investor-relations/corporate-governance/corporate-gover-

nance-statement. The Supervisory Board discussed implementa-

tion of the code in depth during its meeting on December 7, 2011. 

In 2011, we observed the refinement of corporate governance stan-

dards in Germany and abroad and will continue to do so in the fu-

ture. On December 7, 2011, the Executive Board and the Supervi-

sory Board submitted an updated Declaration of Compliance 

according to Sec. 161 AktG and made this permanently available to 

the shareholders on the company’s website. It is also included in the 

Corporate Governance Statement. Symrise has fully complied with 

all recommendations made by the Government Commission on the 

German Corporate Governance Code (version: May 26, 2010) pub-

lished by the German Federal Ministry of Justice on July 2, 2010, 

in the official part of the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzei-

ger) without exception and will continue to do so in the future up 

until October 31, 2012. 

Regarding the employment contract of the Chief Executive Officer 

and effective from November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2014, the 

company will deviate from the 23rd recommendation issued by the 

Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance 

Code contained in no. 4.2.3, paragraph 5 of the code’s current ver-

sion of May 26, 2010, published in the official section of the elec-

tronic Federal Gazette by the German Federal Ministry of Justice 

on July 2, 2010 as follows: 

The commitments for payments in case of an early termination of 

the Executive Board position resulting from a change of control may 

exceed 150 % of the severance payment cap and amount to up to 

250 % of the severance payment cap for the Chief Executive Officer 

between November 1, 2012 and October 31, 2014. Effective as of 

November 1, 2014, the company will again comply with the 23rd 

recommendation issued by the Government Commission on the 

German Corporate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, para-

graph 5 of the code’s current version of May 26, 2010 published in 

the official section of the electronic Federal Gazette by the German 

Federal Ministry of Justice on July 2, 2010. 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are of the opinion 

that, should a member of the Executive Board voluntarily commit 

him /herself to the company for the statutory maximum period 

of five years, the remuneration should be suitably guaranteed for 

such period of time so that it is adequate in case of a specifically 

defined change of control in the case of an acquisition. Thus, the 

company guarantees that the realization of the company’s ap-

proved long-term strategy is ensured by a composition of the Exec

utive Board that is optimized for the situation.
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CHANGES IN THE E XECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY 

BOARD

There were no personnel changes in the Executive Board during 

the reporting year.

In 2011, new members were elected to Symrise AG’s Supervisory 

Board in line with the regular schedule. Newly elected to the Su-

pervisory Board were Dr. Michael Becker, Christiane Jarke, Gerd 

Lösing and Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer. Those re-elected to the Board 

were Karl-Heinz Huchthausen, Horst-Otto Gerberding, Dr. Peter 

Grafoner, Francesco Grioli, Dr. Hans-Heinrich Gürtler, Regina Huf-

nagel, Dr. Thomas Rabe and Helmut Tacke. Stepping down from 

the Supervisory Board are Andreas Schmid, Dr. Helmut Frieden, 

Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae and Peter Winkelmann.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of the members of 

the Executive Board, the employees of all Group companies in 

Germany and abroad as well as all employee representatives for 

their commitment and accomplishments in the 2011 fiscal year. 

You contributed to another successful business year for Symrise.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board,

 

 

 

Dr. Thomas Rabe 

Chairman 

Holzminden, March 7, 2012
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E XECUTIVE BOARD

The Executive Board of Symrise AG consists of the following members:

Dr . Heinz- Jürgen Bertr am

CEO
	 Rockwool A/S, Hedehusene, Denmark

(from May 1, 2011)  
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Indevex AB, Storebro, Sweden 

(from January 25, 2012)  
Member of the Supervisory Board

Achim Daub

Executive Board member  

responsible for Scent & Care

Bernd Hirsch

CFO

Hans Holger Glie we

Executive Board member  

responsible for Flavor & Nutrition

SUPERVISORY BOARD

The following have been elected as members of the Symrise AG Supervisory Board:

Dr . Thomas R abe*  (from May 18, 2011)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG, Chief Executive Officer of Bertelsmann AG

	 Arvato AG, Gütersloh, Germany
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

	 BMG RM Germany GmbH, 
Berlin, Germany	
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

	 Druck- und Verlagshaus 
Gruner + Jahr AG, Hamburg, Germany
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

	 Springer Science + Business Media, 
Strassen, Luxembourg
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Bertelsmann Capital 
Investments S.A., Luxembourg	
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Bertelsmann Digital Media 
Investments S.A., Luxembourg	
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Bertelsmann Inc., Wilmington, USA
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

	 Edmond Israel Foundation, 
Luxembourg	
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 RTL Group S.A., Luxembourg
Member of the Supervisory Board

Andre as Schmid*  (until May 18, 2011)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG
	 Oettinger Imex AG, Basel, Switzerland

President and Delegate of the  
Board of Directors

	 gategroup AG, Zurich, Switzerland
President of the Board of Directors

	 Flughafen Zürich AG, Zurich, 
Switzerland	
President of the Board of Directors

	 Barry Callebaut AG, Zurich, Switzerland
Vice President of the Board of Directors

	 Karl Steiner AG, Zurich, Switzerland
Member of the Board of Directors

	 Badrutt’s Palace Hotel AG, 
St. Moritz, Switzerland	
Member of the Board of Directors

	 Wirz Partner Holding AG, 
Zurich, Switzerland	
Member of the Board of Directors

K arl- heinz huchthausen

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG, Chairman 

of the works council and general works council of Symrise AG

DR . MICHAEL BECKER*  (from May 18, 2011)

Retired; Managing Partner at Merck KGaA  

until Dec. 31, 2011
	 Stadtwerke GmbH, Holzminden, Germany

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

	 Bâloise Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland
Member of the Board of Directors

Bodies and Mandates
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* Shareholder representative

Dr . Helmut Frieden (until May 18, 2011)

Corporate Vice President Corporate Compliance at Symrise AG

Horst- Ot to Gerberding*

Managing Director of Drago Invest GmbH & Co. KG

Dr . Pe ter Gr afoner*

Freelance Consultant

Fr ancesco Grioli

Executive Secretary for Tariff Policy and Finance at IG BCE
	� SKF AB, Gothenburg, Sweden

Member of the Supervisory Board
	 SCANIA Switzerland AG, Kloten, Switzerland

President of the Board of Directors

Dr . Hans - Heinrich Gürtler*

Managing Director of Vermil Capital GmbH

Regina Hufnagel

Vice Chairperson of the works council and general works council 

of Symrise AG

CHRISTIANE JARKE  (from May 18, 2011)

Director F&N Strategic Regulatory Affairs EAME at Symrise AG

Gerd Lösing  (from May 18, 2011)

Vice President Quality Control EAME at Symrise AG

Prof.  Dr .  Andre a Pfeifer*  (from May 18, 2011)

Chief Executive Officer at AC Immune S.A., Lausanne, Switzerland
	 Bio MedInvest AG, Basel, Switzerland

Chairperson of the Board of Directors

	 SYGNIS Pharma AG, Heidelberg, Germany
Member of the Supervisory Board

Sanna Suvanto - Harsa ae*  (until May 18, 2011)

Freelance Consultant
	 �Sunset Boulevard AS, Arhus, Denmark

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
	 Babysam AS, Frederikshavn, Denmark

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
	 BTX AS, Brande, Denmark

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
	 Marketing Clinic AS, 

Copenhagen, Denmark	
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

	 Duni AB, Malmö, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Jetpak AB, Stockholm, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Paulig OY/AB, Helsinki, Finland
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Candyking AB, Solna, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 SATS AB, Stockholm, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Clas Ohlson AB, Insjön, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

	 Upplands Motor AB, Uppsala, Sweden
Member of the Supervisory Board

Helmut Tacke

Member of the works council of Symrise AG

Pe ter Winkelmann  (until May 18, 2011)

Head of the Alfeld region for IG BCE

	 �Sappi Deutschland Holding GmbH, Alfeld, Germany
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Glossary

AFF

Aroma Molecules, Flavors & Fragrances

Anthocyanins

Water-soluble coloring agent derived from plants

Antioxidants

They prevent the oxidation of other molecules in food,  

medicine and synthetics

Aroma

A flavor and/or fragrance often based on an aromatic  

compound, which can be an aromatic itself

 

B iofunctionalit y

The ability of a substance or product to bring about  

a predictable function in interaction with an organism 	

without causing undesirable effects

Bl ack- Scholes

A financial market model for measuring financial options

Briefing

Product tender for a customer company

 

Cash Flow from Oper ating Activities

Cash generated from the operations of a company. The cash  

flow from operations is an important indicator of a company’s 

profitability

Cash Gener ating Unit

The smallest group of assets that independently generates  

cash flow

CODM

Chief Operating Decision Maker

Core List

List of key suppliers; a position on the core list is often the  

prerequisite for being invited by customers to make a product 

tender

Corpor ate Governance

A framework for the management and supervision of the company

Covenants

Conditions or duties contained in loan agreements under  

the normal market conditions

CSR

Corporate Social Responsibility

 

DIN  EN 16001

A standard that formally describes the requirements for an  

energy management system

Discounted Cash Flow Me thod

A mathematical method for determining value by discounting  

cash flows

 

E AME

Europe, Africa and the Middle East

EBIT

Earnings before interest and taxes

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization  

on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

EFFA

European Flavour Association

EFSA

European Food Safety Authority

ESOMAR

European Society for Opinion and Market Research

 

F  & F

Flavors & Fragrances

Fair Value

The estimated value of an asset or liability

Free Float

Share capital of a public company available for trading  

on the stock market
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Glosary

GDP

Gross Domestic Product: A statistic used to measure the  

economic strength (goods and services) of a country

GHS

Globally Harmonized System used in classifying and  

labeling chemicals

 

He alth Cl aims

Claims stating that products have special health benefits

 

IAL

An industrial and market research consultancy

IAS/IFRS

International Accounting Standards/International Financial 

Reporting Standards

IASB

International Accounting Standards Board; an independent 

committee that developed the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and continually revises them

IFRIC

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee; 

a committee that publishes the interpretations of IFRS and IAS

IKS

Internal Controlling System

Incoterms

International Commercial Terms

IOFI

International Organization of the Flavor Industry

ISO 31000

A standard that defines the framework for a risk management 

system

 

L ipid

Group of fats or fat-like substances (lipoids) that are not easily 

soluble or not at all soluble in water

LTIP

Long Term Incentive Plan, a remuneration plan for staff,  

especially for managerial staff

OCI

Other Comprehensive Income

 

Projected Unit Credit Me thod

Actuarial assessment method for obligations from  

company pensions

 

RE ACH

The regulation of the European Union for the Registration,  

Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals

Re volving Credit Facilit y

Variable line of credit available within a one-year interest period

Roll- Out

Market launch or introduction of new software

 

SRMS

Symrise Manufacturing System

Supply Chain

The organizational flow from the supplier to the manufacturer 

(procurement, production, sale) to the end customer

SVA

Symrise Value Added, a statistic indicating Symrise’s increase  

in value

Swap

A derivative concerning future payment flow exchange,  

frequently used as a financial tool to control financial risks

 

US - Private Pl acement

Direct sale of non-registered securities (registered bonds) through 

a company to one or more highly-qualified institutional investors, 

particularly insurers

 

Working Capital

Financial indicator derived by subtracting current operating  

liabilities from current operating assets

WACC

Weighted Average Cost of Capital
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Among the customer industries of our fragrances and flavors are the perfume, cosmetics and food indus-
tries, as well as household products’ suppliers. We are continually growing our activities in the nutrition and 
body-care sectors on the basis of biofunctional and bioactive ingredients.

  Beverages

  Savory

  Sweet

  Consumer Health

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or 
paste form to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct 
tastes. We provide individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from 
the actual aroma, can contain additional functional raw materials, colorants or 
microencapsulated components. With functional natural ingredients, the new 
Consumer Health application area caters to the functional food supplement and 
pharmaceutical preparation markets.

  Fine Fragrances

  Personal Care

  Household

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) 
by combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s 
perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products 
(hair care products, washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household 
products (washing and cleaning products).

Oral Care Symrise offers the entire range of mint flavors and intermediate 
products for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

  Cosmetic Ingredients

  Active Ingredients

  Functionals

  Botanicals

  UV-Filter

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in 
skin care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, 
shower gels, washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. The 
unique feature of Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional 
body care products and plant-based bioactive ingredients.

  Sensates (Menthols)

  �Special Fragrance &

Flavor Ingredients

  Fine Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, 
are used in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care 
products, chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemi-
cals (intermediate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils 
and sells them to customers who use them in their perfume oils.
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Group Sales 2011 according to regions ( in %)

48.7 % 	 Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

Asia/Pacific	 22.1 %

Latin America	 12.1 %

North America	 17.1 %

K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u p

€ million 2010 2011
change in % 

 
change in % 

at local currency

Sales� 1,571.9 1,583.6 0.7 2.0

EBITDA� 331.2 315.9 -5 -4

EBITDA margin� in % 21.1 20.0   

EBIT� 244.4 234.4 -4 -3 

EBIT margin� in % 15.5 14.8   

Net income�  133.5 146.5  10  

Earnings per share� in € 1.13 1.24 10  

Dividend per share� in € 0.60 0.622 3  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31)� 2,059.0 2,098.2 2  

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 40.9 43.5   

Investments� 70.5 67.3   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/  
EBITDA (as of December 31)� ratio 2.2 2.2   

Operating cash flow� 235.1 200.9 -15  

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1 5,288 5,434 3  

     

Scent & Care�     

Sales� 804.5 801.4 -0.4 1.0

EBITDA � 160.8 157.6 -2 -1 

EBITDA margin� in % 20.0 19.7   

     

Flavor & Nutrition�     

Sales�  767.4  782.2  1.9 3.1

EBITDA�  170.4  158.3  -7  -6

EBITDA margin� in %  22.2  20.2   
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

€ million 2007 2008  2009 2010 2011  

Group – Results of operations      

Sales� 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9 1,583.6

Share of sales in emerging markets� in % 39 40 41 46 46

EBITDA� 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2 315.9 

EBITDA margin� in % 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1 20.0

Net income� 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5 146.5

Earnings per share� in € 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13 1.24

Dividends paid� 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.9 73.32

Dividend per share� in € 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.622

      

Group – Financial position/net assets�      

Operating cash flow� 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1 200.9

Investments�  40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5 67.3 

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0 2,098.2 

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9 43.5

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 
(as of December 31)� 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7 703.2

       

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1) 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288 5,434

      

Scent & Care�      

Sales�  671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5 801.4

EBITDA�  134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8 157.6

EBITDA margin� in %  20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0 19.7

      

Flavor & Nutrition�      

Sales� 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4 782.2

EBITDA�  137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4 158.3

EBITDA margin� in %  22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2 20.2
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal
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September 1 Symrise fully converts to 
nature-identical bisabolol in its production of 
the skin-soothing substance. This reduces 
exploitative deforestation in the Brazilian rain 
forest, where the natural substance is har-
vested from the rare candeia tree.

September 14 Symrise founds a Scientific 
Advisory Board for the Fragrances and Oral 
Care application areas. The Scientific Advisory 
Board consists of an internationally renowned 
team of scientists and supports Symrise in 
applying cutting edge advancements towards 
innovative fragrances and oral care products.

October 20 Symrise expands its online portal 
SymSelect® to include a platform for its Life 
Essentials products. With the new database, 
customers can research the cosmetic ingre-
dients offered by Symrise via the internet.

12
December 2 Topping-out ceremony for the 
new research center in Holzminden. Symrise 
brings its research activities at the site toge-
ther under one roof, expands its research 
capabilities and creates new synergies in 
research and development.  

December 6 At the ESOMAR Qualitative 
2011 Conference in Vienna, Symrise receives 
the prize for the best presentation on consu-
mer research.  

02

 
February 23 With the opening of a new plant 
for producing flavors and the market launch  
of the EVODRY™ encapsulation technology, 
Symrise completes the third stage of expansi-
on at its Singapore site. This investment under- 
scores Symrise’s long-term commitment to 
Singapore and Asia.

04

 
April 5 Symrise celebrates the 100-year 
anniversary of its Braunschweig site, where 
basic materials for the beverage industry are 
manufactured, and plans further investments 
to expand the site.

April 13 With Actiplants®, the newly created 
umbrella brand for functional botanical 
extracts, Symrise further expands its experti-
se in the area of Health & Nutrition. Bioactive 
ingredients help strengthen the cardiovascu-
lar and immune systems, for instance. 

05

May 11 The American Society of Perfumers 
recognizes Symrise with five Perfumers’ Choice 
Awards, including Best Women’s Classic Fine 
Fragrance and Best Bath & Body Fragrance.

06
June 14 Symrise receives two of the highly 
coveted BSB Awards, which are bestowed by 
an international panel of judges selected from 
among the cosmetics industry. SymFinity®

1298 received first prize for its impressive 
anti-aging properties. A second prize went to 
SymPeptide®226EL for its lengthening effect 
on eyelashes.

June 29 In Rogovo, Russia near Moscow, 
Symrise opens a new production site and 
therefore becomes the first global fragrance 
and flavor manufacturer that produces locally 
for this expanding market. 
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Among the customer industries of our fragrances and flavors are the perfume, cosmetics and food indus-
tries, as well as household products’ suppliers. We are continually growing our activities in the nutrition and 
body-care sectors on the basis of biofunctional and bioactive ingredients.

  Beverages

  Savory

  Sweet

  Consumer Health

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or 
paste form to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct 
tastes. We provide individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from 
the actual aroma, can contain additional functional raw materials, colorants or 
microencapsulated components. With functional natural ingredients, the new 
Consumer Health application area caters to the functional food supplement and 
pharmaceutical preparation markets.

  Fine Fragrances

  Personal Care

  Household

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) 
by combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s 
perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products 
(hair care products, washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household 
products (washing and cleaning products).

Oral Care Symrise offers the entire range of mint flavors and intermediate 
products for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

  Cosmetic Ingredients

  Active Ingredients

  Functionals

  Botanicals

  UV-Filter

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in 
skin care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, 
shower gels, washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. The 
unique feature of Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional 
body care products and plant-based bioactive ingredients.

  Sensates (Menthols)

  �Special Fragrance &

Flavor Ingredients

  Fine Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, 
are used in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care 
products, chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemi-
cals (intermediate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils 
and sells them to customers who use them in their perfume oils.
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Group Sales 2011 according to regions ( in %)

48.7 % 	 Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

Asia/Pacific	 22.1 %

Latin America	 12.1 %

North America	 17.1 %

K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u p

€ million 2010 2011
change in % 

 
change in % 

at local currency

Sales� 1,571.9 1,583.6 0.7 2.0

EBITDA� 331.2 315.9 -5 -4

EBITDA margin� in % 21.1 20.0   

EBIT� 244.4 234.4 -4 -3 

EBIT margin� in % 15.5 14.8   

Net income�  133.5 146.5  10  

Earnings per share� in € 1.13 1.24 10  

Dividend per share� in € 0.60 0.622 3  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31)� 2,059.0 2,098.2 2  

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 40.9 43.5   

Investments� 70.5 67.3   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/  
EBITDA (as of December 31)� ratio 2.2 2.2   

Operating cash flow� 235.1 200.9 -15  

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1 5,288 5,434 3  

     

Scent & Care�     

Sales� 804.5 801.4 -0.4 1.0

EBITDA � 160.8 157.6 -2 -1 

EBITDA margin� in % 20.0 19.7   

     

Flavor & Nutrition�     

Sales�  767.4  782.2  1.9 3.1

EBITDA�  170.4  158.3  -7  -6

EBITDA margin� in %  22.2  20.2   
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

€ million 2007 2008  2009 2010 2011  

Group – Results of operations      

Sales� 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9 1,583.6

Share of sales in emerging markets� in % 39 40 41 46 46

EBITDA� 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2 315.9 

EBITDA margin� in % 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1 20.0

Net income� 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5 146.5

Earnings per share� in € 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13 1.24

Dividends paid� 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.9 73.32

Dividend per share� in € 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.622

      

Group – Financial position/net assets�      

Operating cash flow� 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1 200.9

Investments�  40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5 67.3 

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0 2,098.2 

Capital ratio (as of December 31)� in % 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9 43.5

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 
(as of December 31)� 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7 703.2

       

Employees (as of December 31)� FTE1) 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288 5,434

      

Scent & Care�      

Sales�  671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5 801.4

EBITDA�  134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8 157.6

EBITDA margin� in %  20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0 19.7

      

Flavor & Nutrition�      

Sales� 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4 782.2

EBITDA�  137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4 158.3

EBITDA margin� in %  22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2 20.2
1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal
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September 1 Symrise fully converts to 
nature-identical bisabolol in its production of 
the skin-soothing substance. This reduces 
exploitative deforestation in the Brazilian rain 
forest, where the natural substance is har-
vested from the rare candeia tree.

September 14 Symrise founds a Scientific 
Advisory Board for the Fragrances and Oral 
Care application areas. The Scientific Advisory 
Board consists of an internationally renowned 
team of scientists and supports Symrise in 
applying cutting edge advancements towards 
innovative fragrances and oral care products.

October 20 Symrise expands its online portal 
SymSelect® to include a platform for its Life 
Essentials products. With the new database, 
customers can research the cosmetic ingre-
dients offered by Symrise via the internet.

12
December 2 Topping-out ceremony for the 
new research center in Holzminden. Symrise 
brings its research activities at the site toge-
ther under one roof, expands its research 
capabilities and creates new synergies in 
research and development.  

December 6 At the ESOMAR Qualitative 
2011 Conference in Vienna, Symrise receives 
the prize for the best presentation on consu-
mer research.  

02

 
February 23 With the opening of a new plant 
for producing flavors and the market launch  
of the EVODRY™ encapsulation technology, 
Symrise completes the third stage of expansi-
on at its Singapore site. This investment under- 
scores Symrise’s long-term commitment to 
Singapore and Asia.

04

 
April 5 Symrise celebrates the 100-year 
anniversary of its Braunschweig site, where 
basic materials for the beverage industry are 
manufactured, and plans further investments 
to expand the site.

April 13 With Actiplants®, the newly created 
umbrella brand for functional botanical 
extracts, Symrise further expands its experti-
se in the area of Health & Nutrition. Bioactive 
ingredients help strengthen the cardiovascu-
lar and immune systems, for instance. 

05

May 11 The American Society of Perfumers 
recognizes Symrise with five Perfumers’ Choice 
Awards, including Best Women’s Classic Fine 
Fragrance and Best Bath & Body Fragrance.

06
June 14 Symrise receives two of the highly 
coveted BSB Awards, which are bestowed by 
an international panel of judges selected from 
among the cosmetics industry. SymFinity®

1298 received first prize for its impressive 
anti-aging properties. A second prize went to 
SymPeptide®226EL for its lengthening effect 
on eyelashes.

June 29 In Rogovo, Russia near Moscow, 
Symrise opens a new production site and 
therefore becomes the first global fragrance 
and flavor manufacturer that produces locally 
for this expanding market. 
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Global needs  – Those who wish to take advantage of developments on the international markets must 
recognize demographic change, global trends and local customer wishes early on and always be there to  
offer innovative products where new markets are emerging. No matter where they are in the world, anticipa-
ting our customers‘ needs is both our daily challenge and our goal. You can find out more on this topic star-
ting on page 4.
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